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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the "Directors”) of Geotech Holdings
Ltd. (the “Company’, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”, “we”, “our” or “us”), |
present the audited annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Looking back on the year, the fierce competition within slope works industry posed
challenges to the construction and engineering business of the Group while the
development of property-related services of the Group kept growing steadily. In order to
diversify the Group's business and broaden the Group's source of revenue to mitigate the
challenging operating environment, the Group has developed sales of luxury products
business to capture the opportunities of the market growth of luxury products.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's revenue decreased by 52.2% from
approximately HK$281.5 million in 2022 to approximately HK$134.6 million in 2023. During
the year, most of the Group's revenue were still contributed from the construction and
engineering services, while the decrease in revenue was mainly due to the completion of
certain major slope works projects while newly awarded major projects were still at the
beginning stage during the year. For the Group's property-related services, the revenue
remained steadily growing and increased by 4.0% from approximately HK$8.1 million in
2022 to approximately HK$8.4 million in 2023. In addition, the Group developed a new
business segment for the sales of luxury products in the fourth quarter of 2023, which
contributed revenue and gross profit of approximately HK$3.4 million and HK$1.0 million
during the year respectively. Further details of business performances of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the section headed "MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS" in this annual report.

Going forward, the prospect of Group's construction and engineering services and
property-related services is expected to be challenging in the coming years. The Group will
continue to review its existing operations and businesses to formulate long-term business
strategies (especially for site formation works and ground investigation field works) and
focus on improving the Group's profitability. The Group will adopt a diligent and thoughtful
business approach while formulating tailored strategies to effectively drive the sales
growth of luxury products.

In addition, the Group will continue to optimise and diversify our business operations, and
continue to explore or seek other appropriate business opportunities to strengthen and
consolidate the Group's revenue base.

I strongly believe that the Group will be able to share the benefits of its continuous growth
with our shareholders and deliver a greater shareholders’ value in the very near future. Last
but not least, | would like to express my deep gratitude to the Board and the employees of
the Group for their hard work, professionalism and valuable contributions. | would also like
to express my sincere gratitude to our customers, suppliers and other business partners for
their trust and continued support.

Chen Zhi

Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group was principally engaged in the provision of (i) construction and engineering
services; (ii) property-related services; and (jii) sales of luxury products for the year ended 31
December 2023.

Construction and Engineering Services

Geotech Engineering Limited ("Geotech Engineering”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, is principally engaged in construction and engineering services
and a leading slope works contractor in Hong Kong with over 20 years of experience in the
civil engineering industry. It is an approved specialist contractor included in the List of
Approved Specialist Contractors for Public Works maintained by the Development Bureau
(the “DB") under the categories of “Landslip preventive/remedial works to slopes/retaining
walls” (the “LPM") (confirmed status) and “Ground investigation field work” (Group | status)
and also an approved contractor included in the List of Approved Contractors for Public
Works under the category of “Site formation” (Group B probationary status). In addition,
Geotech Engineering is also registered as a specialist contractor in the categories of site

formation works and ground investigation field works with the Building Authority.

Between January 2022 and March 2022, certain registrations/licences of Geotech
Engineering were suspended as a result of the fatal accident which occurred in March 2020
as disclosed in note 17 to the condensed consolidated interim financial statements in the
interim results announcement published by the Company on 25 August 2020. Geotech
Engineering was under regulatory actions from (i) the Construction Industry Council to
suspend its registration as a registered subcontractor under the category of general civil
works with specialty in geotechnical works for a period of six months with effect from 6
July 2021; and (i) the DB to voluntarily refrain from tendering for public works contracts
under the LPM category for a period of eight months with effect from 4 August 2021
(together the “Suspension”). Further details of the Suspension were disclosed in the
announcements published by the Company on 5 July 2021 and 30 July 2021. The
Suspension from the above authorities were released in January 2022 and April 2022
respectively.

Total revenue of construction and engineering services for the year ended 31 December
2023 amounted to approximately HK$122.8 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 55.1% as compared with total revenue of approximately HK$273.4 million
last year. Such decrease in revenue was mainly due to the completion of certain major
slope works projects while newly awarded major projects were still at the beginning stage
during the year. Revenue in this segment continued to be deriving principally from slope
works, ground investigation field works and road and drainage works, with public sector
projects including those from the Landslip Prevention and Mitigation Programme (the
“Programme’) commissioned by the Civil Engineering and Development Department,
other government departments and statutory bodies, which amounted to approximately
87.5% of total revenue in this segment (2022: approximately 92.7%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EHEES RS (8)

During the year, Geotech Engineering has continued its strategy for construction and
engineering services in Hong Kong through a variety of operational initiatives:

in response to keen market competition, although securing new contracts had
been difficult during the year, the Group has continued to submit tenders but is
cautious about the pricing so as to maintain a reasonable gross profit margin while
at the same time remaining competitive. The strategy to maintain a reasonable
gross profit might have contributed to some tenders not having been awarded to
the Group;

in order to undertake more construction projects given Geotech Engineering’s
capacity, it has continued to focus on project management role and our
collaboration with subcontractors by subcontracting a substantial part of works
required; and

other than slope works, the Group has continued to seek opportunities to diversify
into other types of civil engineering works by tendering projects jointly with
partners for contracts which involve various work categories (especially for site
formation works and ground investigation field works). The Directors consider that
this strategy is beneficial to the Group's diversification in construction and
engineering services in Hong Kong.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 48 construction contracts on hand, including
contracts in progress and contracts yet to commence (31 December 2022: 43 contracts)
with a total outstanding contract sum of approximately HK$179.1 million (31 December
2022: approximately HK$66.0 million) and in which approximately HK$75.8 million out of
these contracts are expected to be completed in 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Property-related Services

The market environment for the property-related services in Hong Kong was still
challenging for the year given the uncertainties in the economic and business environment
of Hong Kong. During the year, the Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$8.4
million (2022: approximately HK$8.0 million) and HKS nil (2022: approximately HKS$0.1
million) for the provision of property management consultancy services and property
leasing agency services respectively. Of which, approximately HK$4.6 million of property
management consultancy services (2022: approximately HK$4.5 million) and HKS nil of
property leasing agency services (2022: approximately HK$0.1 million) respectively were
generated from continuing connected transactions. Details of the continuing connected
transactions are set out in note 28 in the consolidated financial statements and section
headed "CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS” in this annual report. The Group has
renewed the property management consultancy services agreements with all existing
independent client during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Sales of luxury products

In order to diversify the Group’s business and broaden its source of revenue, the Group has
been proactively exploring new opportunities to support its long-term development. As
part of its strategic business expansion, the Group commenced the business for the sales

of luxury products in the fourth quarter of 2023.

Following the ease of COVID-19 pandemic and subsequent reopening of borders in early
2023, Hong Kong has experienced a resurgence in general mobility and business activities.
Leveraging its established competitive advantages as a regional hub for high-end luxury
products, the luxury product market in Hong Kong is expected to create prospective
opportunities in the long term.

During its initial operational stage, the Group aims to capture business potentials while
maintaining an optimal risk profile. As such, the Group has strategically focused on the
luxury watches segment, which is a sub-segment of the luxury products. The Group's
target customers comprises mid-to-high-end customers, and commits to provide

customers with high-quality products and services.

While the Group targets to expand its market presence by actively widening its customer
base and collaborating with various suppliers to diversify its product offerings, it will adhere
to its prudent business approach and devise appropriate business strategies based on
market demand and development. The Group will continuously optimise its operations to
improve profitability.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EHEES RS (8)

OUTLOOK

Apart from focusing on construction and engineering services and property-related
services in Hong Kong, the Group has expanded into the sales of luxury products in the
fourth quarter of 2023. the Group will continue to explore other business expansion in
order to enhance the future development and strengthen the revenue bases of the Group.
The Board believes that the Group's strategy to diversify its business could provide a better
return to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders").

In line with the Board's strategy as stated above, the Group is taking a cautious approach
for future development:

the dilemma between winning tenders at extremely thin gross profit margin and
submitting tenders at a reasonable gross profit margin exists in every tender
opportunity. The Group strives to strike a delicate balance between winning
contracts for the business and making profits for its shareholders;

having considered the industry conditions of the construction and engineering
services in Hong Kong, the Group will closely monitor the market and respond to
changes in market conditions. Going forward, in order to broaden the types of
works in the construction and engineering sector other than slope works, Geotech
Engineering strives to partner with potential partner(s) for tendering projects in
various types of civil engineering works (especially for site formation works and
ground investigation field works);

taking into consideration the market circumstances in Cambodia, the Group will
take a cautious approach in the development of our construction and decoration
business in Cambodia;

although our property-related services are expected to remain challenging in the
coming years given the uncertainties in the economic and business environment
of Hong Kong, by leveraging our management experiences and knowledge gained
in the industry, the Group will strive to seek various opportunities in property-
related services;

due to the uncertainties in the economic and business environment of Hong Kong,
the Group will continue to adopt a prudent approach regarding its inventory
management of luxury products in order to lower costs. The Group will also actively
explore potential partnership with new suppliers and expand customer base to

diversity business risks; and

in addition to the above, the Group may also seek to diversify and explore other

investment opportunities in the future.
The Group will continue to monitor the situation and assess the market risks and

uncertainties during the economic recovery cycle and strive to take strict measures to
mitigate any potential adverse impact on the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's total revenue decreased by approximately HK$146.9 million or approximately

52.2% from approximately HK$281.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to

approximately HK$134.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The Group's total

revenue for the year was contributed by the construction and engineering services,

property-related services and sales of luxury products.

(a)

(b)

()

Construction and Engineering Services

The Group'’s revenue generated from the construction and engineering services
decreased by approximately HK$150.6 million or approximately 55.1% from
approximately HK$273.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately HK$122.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. Such
decrease in revenue was mainly due to the completion of certain major slope works
projects while newly awarded major projects were still at the beginning stage

during the year.
Property-related Services

The Group's revenue from property-related services remained stable for the year
ended 31 December 2023 as compared with the year ended 31 December 2022
which included continuing connected transactions amounting to approximately
HK$4.6 million (2022: approximately HK$4.6 million) and the details of which are set
out in note 28 in the consolidated financial statements and the section headed
"CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS" in this annual report.

Sales of luxury products

The Group expanded into the sales of luxury products in the fourth quarter of 2023
and recorded revenue of approximately HK$3.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, which accounted for approximately 2.5% of the Group’s total
revenue for the same year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

B E R RS (8)

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The Group's total gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to
approximately HK$3.6 million, representing a decrease of 5.1% as compared with
approximately HK$3.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The Group's gross
profit margin for the year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately 2.7%, as compared
with approximately 1.3% for the year ended 31 December 2022.

(@) Construction and Engineering Services

The gross profit from construction and engineering services for the year ended 31
December 2023 amounted to approximately HK$0.2 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 68% as compared with approximately HK$0.8 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022. The gross profit margin from construction and
engineering services for the year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately
0.2%, as compared with approximately 0.3% for the year ended 31 December 2022.
The gross profit margin remained stable for the year ended 31 December 2023 as
compared with the year ended 31 December 2022, while the decrease in gross
profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 was in line with the decrease in

revenue from construction and engineering services as mentioned above.
(b) Property-related Services

The gross profit from property-related services for the year ended 31 December
2023 amounted to approximately HK$2.4 million representing a decrease of
approximately HK$0.6 million as compared with approximately HK$3 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022. The gross profit margin for the year ended 31
December 2023 was approximately 28.2%, as compared with approximately 37.3%
for the year ended 31 December 2022. The decrease in gross profit margin was
mainly due to additional manpower in providing property-related services.

(c) Sales of luxury products

The gross profit and gross profit margin from the sales of luxury products amounted
to approximately HK$1 million and 28.6%, respectively.

Other Income

Other income mainly included bank interest income, material charges income and sundry
income. For the year ended 31 December 2023, other income amounted to approximately
HK$4.9 million (2022: approximately HK$5.9 million). The decrease in other income was
mainly due to absence in government grant of approximately HK$1.8 million received in
relation to the Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund launched by
the Government of HKSAR during the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses primarily comprise staff costs, depreciation and legal and
professional fees. The administrative expenses of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 amounted to approximately HK$25.0 million, representing an increase of
approximately 6.5% as compared with approximately HK$23.5 million (as restated) for the
year ended 31 December 2022. The increase in administrative expenses was mainly due to
the increases in (1) staff cost resulting from the additional management staff recruited
during the economic recovery cycle; and (2) legal and professional fees in relation to

certain legal proceedings of the Group.

Reversal of Impairment/(Impairment) under Expected Credit
Loss Allowance on Trade and Other Receivables, net

In accordance with HKFRS 9, the Group makes allowances on items subject to expected
credit losses ("ECL") (including trade and other receivables) based on assumptions about
risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation. An ECL assessment is
performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience and external indicators, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors and the economic environment. The Group also performs ECL assessment
on whether a financial instrument’s credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition.

An impairment under ECL allowance on trade and other receivables (including material
costs, subcontracting charges and expenses paid on behalf of joint operators) of
approximately HK$18.3 million was recognised during the year ended 31 December 2022
mainly due to the significant increase in credit risk arising from one of our joint operators
and a subcontractor which had financial difficulties. The Group holds on-going discussions
with the said joint operator and subcontractor, and may pursue legal action (if necessary)
for recovery of payment.

Further details of the impairment under ECL allowance are set out in notes 2.7 (accounting
policies), 17 (movements and staging) and 31.4 (credit risk) to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.

Finance Costs
Finance costs represent finance charge on lease liabilities and net interest expense on long

service payment obligations. Finance costs remained stable for the year ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EHEES RS (8)

Income Tax (Expense)/Credit

Income tax expense of approximately HK$17,000 was recognised for the year ended 31
December 2023 as compared with an income tax credit of approximately HK$114,000 (as
restated) for the year ended 31 December 2022. The increase in income tax expense was
mainly due to the additional income tax expense arising from the sale of luxury products
during the year.

Net Loss

Net loss for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to approximately HK$16.4
million, as compared to the net loss of approximately HK$32.2 million (as restated) for the
year ended 31 December 2022. The decrease in net loss was mainly due to the decrease in
the recognition of impairment under ECL allowance on trade and other receivables
(including material costs, subcontracting charges and expenses paid on behalf of joint
operators) for the year while impairment under ECL allowance of approximately HK$16.4
million related to one of our joint operators which had financial difficulties was recognised
for the year ended 31 December 2022. The Group's net loss margin for the year ended 31
December 2023 was approximately 12.2%, as compared to approximately 11.4% for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

Final Dividend

The Board did not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: nil).

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2023, the Company's issued share capital was HK$16.8 million and the
number of issued ordinary shares of the Company (the “Shares”) was 1,680 million with
par value of HK$0.01 each. There has been no change in the capital structure of the Group
since the listing of the Company’s shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 12
October 2017 (the “Listing").

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had total cash and bank balances of approximately
HKS$137.2 million (31 December 2022: approximately HK$167.2 million). The Group had no
bank borrowing as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: nil). Other borrowings of the
Group as at 31 December 2023 were lease liabilities of approximately HK$1.4 million (31
December 2022: approximately HK$0.5 million). Details of lease liabilities are set out in note
21 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report. All borrowings were
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The interest rates on lease liabilities were charged at
fixed rates with effective rates ranging from 4.23% to 5.29% for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: 4.23% to 5.29%). The Group did not carry out any interest rate
hedging policy.

Treasury Policy
The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach towards its treasury
policy. The Board closely monitors the Group's liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity

structure of the Group's assets, liabilities, and other commitments can meet its funding
requirements all the time.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Gearing ratio

Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing total borrowings by total equity as at the year- end
date and multiplied by 100%. As at 31 December 2023, the total borrowings of the Group
were the lease liabilities of approximately HKS$1.4 million (31 December 2022:
approximately HK$0.5 million). The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2023 was
approximately 0.8% (31 December 2022: approximately 0.3%). The increase in gearing ratio
was mainly due to increase in total indebtedness level from leases entered into during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2023, no asset of the Group was pledged. As at 31 December 2022, the
carrying amounts of the Group's motor vehicles of approximately HK$62,000 were pledged
under leases.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong. Most of the operating transactions and revenue
are settled in Hong Kong dollars and the assets and liabilities are primarily denominated in
HKS. The Group's exposures to foreign exchange mainly arise from its cash and bank
deposits denominated in United States Dollars (“US$") amounting to approximately
HK$37.1 million as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: approximately HK$36.5
million). Most of the operating transactions from the Group’s operation in Cambodia are
settled in USS.

However, HKS is pegged to USS under the Linked Exchange Rate System, the Group is not
exposed to any significant foreign exchange risk against US$ and therefore has not entered
into any derivatives agreement nor committed to any financial instrument to hedge its
foreign exchange exposure during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

Significant Investments Held, Material Acquisitions and
Disposals of Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and Associated
Companies

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant
investments held, material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associated companies.

Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets
Save as disclosed under the section headed “Use of Net Proceeds from the listing of the

Shares on 12 October 2017" in this annual report, the Group did not have other future plans

for material investments or capital assets as at 31 December 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EHEES RS (8)

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 December 2023, employees who were on the Group’s payroll included 65 full-time
employees (31 December 2022: 62 full-time employees). For the year ended 31 December
2023, total staff costs (including Directors’ remuneration) amounted to approximately
HK$30.6 million (2022: approximately HK$28.7 million as restated). Total staff costs
comprised salaries, Directors’ fee, wages and allowances, discretionary bonuses and
retirement scheme contributions. In order to attract and retain high quality staff and to
enable smooth operation within the Group, the remuneration policy of the Group's
employees are being reviewed periodically to ensure that the salary and benefit levels of
employees of the Group are competitive (with reference to market conditions and
individual qualifications, position, performance and experience). The Group continues to
provide adequate job training to the employees to equip them with practical knowledge
and skills. Apart from the defined contribution retirement plan in Hong Kong and
Cambodia and job training programs, salary increments and discretionary bonuses are
being awarded to employees according to the assessment of individual performance and
market situation. For remuneration policies of the Directors and senior management and
share option schemes, please refer to sections headed "REMUNERATION COMMITTEE" and
“SHARE OPTION SCHEME" in this annual report respectively.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no capital commitments (31 December 2022: nil).

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group has been involved in a number of claims,
litigations and potential claims against the Group regarding the employees’ compensation
and common law personal injury. Based on the information available, the Board considered
that the Group has sufficient insurance coverage on any liability arising from those claims,
litigations and potential claims.

As at 31 December 2022, Geotech Engineering Limited, an indirectly wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, has been a defendant in four legal proceedings commenced
by two subcontractors. Pursuant to the court orders obtained by Geotech Engineering,
those two subcontractors have discontinued their actions against Geotech Engineering.

As such, the Board is of the view that such claims, litigations and potential claims would

not cause any material adverse impact on the operation and financial position of the Group
and no provision is required to be made in the consolidated financial statements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Use of Net Proceeds from the listing of shares of the Company
on 12 October 2017

Net proceeds from the Listing ("Net Proceeds”) amounted to approximately HK$72.8
million. As at 31 December 2023, a total amount of approximately HK$67.5 million out of
the Net Proceeds had been used by the Group and approximately HK$5.3 million remained
unused.

As at 31 December 2023, the unused amount of Net Proceeds was placed in interest-
bearing deposits with licensed banks in Hong Kong. The Group will gradually apply the
remaining Net Proceeds for the acquisition of site facilities and equipment (being
consistent with the purposes as set out in prospectus of the Company dated 28 September
2017 (the "Prospectus”)) in accordance with actual business needs and expects to use up
the remaining Net Proceeds within one year (i.e. on or before the end of year 2024). Details
are as follows:

Planned use of
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEREREHTE

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Zhi (BR & 5% 4 ), aged 36, was appointed as an executive Director in December
2018. He is the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”), controlling shareholder of the
Company, the chairman of the nomination committee of the Board (the “Nomination
Committee’) and a member of the remuneration committee of the Board (the
“Remuneration Committee’). Mr. Chen is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Chen holds a bachelor’s degree of Business Administration from the National
University of Management, Cambodia. Currently, he is one of the founders, the director and
the chairman of Prince Real Estate (Cambodia) Group Co., Ltd., the holding company for a
group of companies principally engaged in property related industry which includes the
provision of the development and leasing of commercial and residential properties in
Cambodia (the “Prince Group”). Mr. Chen has over ten years of experience in the areas of
property agency and development. In addition, Mr. Chen has over six years of experience in
internet industry, and is a director of certain companies which are principally engaged in
the provision of information technology solutions and internet services (such as web
hosting, enterprise network and broadband internet services) in Cambodia and Singapore.

Mr. Qiu Dong ( BB 3 5t 4 ), aged 36, was appointed as an executive Director in January
2019. Mr. Qiu is also a director of a subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Qiu has over eight years
of experience in the sales of construction stones and building decoration. Mr. Qiu is a chief
executive officer of a group company principally engaged in providing real estate
construction and decoration projects of the Prince Group. He is also a general manager of a
company engaged in stone sales and interior decoration in China.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Tsang Mo (Ff 3Z & 5t 4 ), aged 39, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in January 2019. He is the chairman of the audit committee of the Board
("Audit Committee”) and a member of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. Mr. Chan has over 10 years of finance, accounting and treasury experience. Mr.
Chan assumed various positions in professional accounting and financial firms including as
a senior auditor (mainly responsible for accounting, auditing and taxation assignments) of
RSM Nelson Wheeler (principally engaged in the provision of accounting services) from
December 2009 to January 2011, as a supervisor in the corporate services division (mainly
responsible for accounting, payroll, treasury and audit assignments) of Intertrust Resources
Management Limited (principally engaged in the provision of legal and financial
administrative services) from June 2011 to June 2013, and as an accounting manager
(mainly responsible for the management and supervision of tax and financial matters) of
Reignwood International Investment (Group) Co., Ltd. (principally engaged in investment
services) from October 2013 to April 2016.

Mr. Chan was an executive director of Ares Asia Limited (stock code: 645), the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from June 2014 to March 2016.
From May 2016 to October 2017, he worked as a financial controller in Wan Cheng Metal
Packaging Company Limited (stock code: 8291), the shares of which are listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange and was responsible for overseeing the consolidated accounts and
preparing financial information, forecast memorandum, notes to the consolidated financial
statements and checklists for the listing application of the company. Mr. Chan served as the
company secretary of Century Energy International Holdings Limited (formerly known as
China Oil Gangran Energy Group Holdings Limited) (stock code: 8132), the shares of which
are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, from April 2020 to August 2021. From September
2022 to July 2023, Mr. Chan served as an independent non-executive director of Hong Wei
(Asia) Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 8191), the shares of which are listed on the
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

GEM of the Stock Exchange. Since August 2017, he has been a director of Morton
Professional Services Limited and is responsible for advising on company formation,
business establishments and legal compliance related matters. Since February 2018, Mr.
Chan was appointed as the company secretary of China International Development
Corporation Limited (formerly known as Ascent International Holdings Limited) (stock
code: 264), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr.
Chan was appointed as the company secretary of Yues International Holdings Group
Limited (stock code: 1529), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, with effect from June 2022. Since 1 April 2023, Mr. Chan served as an
independent non-executive director of Sing Lee Software (Group) Limited (stock code:
8076), the shares of which are listed on the GEM Board of the Stock Exchange. Since 31
August 2023, Mr. Chan served as an independent non-executive director of Speedy Global
Holdings Limited (stock code: 540), the shares of which are listed on Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chan has been admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in January 2010 and is currently a practicing member of the Accounting and
Financial Reporting Council. Mr. Chan graduated from the City University of Hong Kong
with a Bachelor of Business Administration degree in Accountancy in November 2006.

Mr. Shen Zejing (3 )2 8 % 4 ), aged 66, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in January 2019. Mr. Shen is a member of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. Mr. Shen is currently the
partner of Hylands Law Firm. Mr. Shen holds a bachelor’s degree in law from China
University of Political Science and Law and is a practicing lawyer in China. Mr. Shen has over
30 years of experience in the fields of corporate, securities law business, foreign- related
legal business and litigation business. He has provided legal services to a number of well-
known conglomerates and institutions, acting as their legal counsels to advise and
represent those conglomerates and institutions in both the litigation and non-litigation
matters related to financial, real estate, corporate and other aspects.

Ms. Yip Wai Ching (¥ £ g & 1), aged 41, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in December 2023. Ms. Yip is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee. Ms.
Yip is currently a director of a professional accounting firm. Ms. Yip graduated from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University and obtained a Master's degree in Corporate
Governance in September 2017 and a Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy in November 2004.
She is also a member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountant. Ms. Yip has nearly 20 years of experience in
the accounting industry.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ip Ying Hang (£ BR 18 % 4 ), aged 38, is the financial controller (the “Financial
Controller’) of the Company. He has been the Financial Controller since June 2016 and
was also the Company Secretary for the period from June 2016 to July 2020 and from
November 2021 to June 2022. He graduated from Hong Kong Baptist University in
November 2009 with a bachelor's degree in Commerce in Accountancy. Mr. Ip has been a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since March 2015 with
over 10 years of experience in auditing, accounting, financial management and company
secretarial matters in Hong Kong. He first joined the Group in December 2015 as the
financial controller and company secretary of our principal operating subsidiary. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Ip had worked at SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited from July 2011 to
November 2014 at which his last position was assistant manager and then worked at KPMG
from November 2014 to December 2015 at which his last position was manager. He is also
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
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EEREREREREHFR(E)

Mr. Lam Chi Wai (# & {& % 4 ), age 37, is the company secretary (the “Company
Secretary’) of the Company. He has been the Company Secretary since June 2022. He was
awarded a bachelor's degree of business administration in accountancy by Lingnan
University in 2008, and a master's degree of corporate governance by The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in 2017. Mr. Lam is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since 2012 and a chartered accountant of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales since 2021. Mr. Lam is also a chartered secretary, a
chartered governance professional and an associate member of both The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries) and The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators). Mr. Lam has over 14 years of work experience
mainly in accounting, auditing, treasury, financial controlling and corporate governance.
Mr. Lam joined the Group in May 2022 and currently acts as an assistant financial controller
of a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as well as a director of a subsidiary of the
Company. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Lam had worked for two international accounting
firms and as financial manager, deputy financial controller and assistant company secretary
and director of corporate finance for several listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Lam was
appointed as the non-executive director of Leadway Technology Investment Group
Limited (stock code: 2086), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, with effect from February 2024.

Dr. Ng Kwok Hei (2 Bl % 8 £) (‘Dr. Ng"), aged 73, is the director of Geotech
Engineering. He is responsible for the day-to-day operations, overall project management
and administrative matters of Geotech Engineering. Dr. Ng obtained Bachelor of Science in
Civil Engineering from Far East College in 1975, Master of Science in Geotechnical
Engineering from American Coastline University in 1999, Bachelor of Science in Geology
from China University of Geo-Sciences in 2001 and Honorary Doctorate of Philosophy from
Morrison University in 2004. Dr. Ng is currently the Certified Professional Geologist of
American Institute of Professional Geologists, Registered Environmentalist of Hong Kong
Institute of Environmentalists, Registered European Geologist of European Federation of
Geologists, Registered Technical Specialist (Civil/Geotechnical) of The Ontario Association
of Certified Engineering Technicians and Technologists, fellow member of Geological
Society of London, corporate member of Society of Environmental Engineers, and
Chartered Building Engineer of Chartered Association of Building Engineers. Dr. Ng is also
Registered Professional/Technical Director/Authorized Signatory of Registered Specialist
Contractors (Ground Investigation Field Works, Site Formation & Foundation) and
Registered General Building Contractor in Building Department of HKSAR respectively since
1998 respectively.

Dr. Ng had over 45 years of experience in construction & management fields. Before joining
our Group in November 2022, Dr. Ng had been the Technical Director and Authorised
Signatory of China Geo-Engineering corporation.

Dr. Ng was the committee member of Contractors Registration Committee Panel under
Building Department between 2009 and 2012, the committee member of Minor Works
Contractors Registered Committee Panel under Building Department between 2012 and
2013, and the committee member of Contractor's Authorised Signatory Association
between 2009 and 2014. Dr. Ng has been the committee honorary chairman of Registered
Minor Works Contractors Signatory Association and committee chairman of Registered
Contractor's Disciplinary Board Panel under Planning and Lands Branch Development
Bureau since 2012 and 2020 respectively.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance. The Company believes that an effective corporate governance practice is
fundamental to enhancing Shareholders value and safeguarding the interests of
Shareholders and other stakeholders. The Board sets appropriate policies and implements
corporate governance practices appropriate to the conduct and growth of the Group's
business. The code provisions applicable for the year ended 31 December 2023 and as set
out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code") contained in Part 2 of Appendix C1
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) have been adopted as the Company’s corporate governance practices. The Board
will continue to review and enhance the corporate governance practices to ensure
compliance with the CG Code and align with the latest developments.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
Compliance with the Corporate Governance Code

The Company has adopted and complied with the applicable code provisions (the “Code
Provision(s)") as set out in the CG Code contained in Part 2 of Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules during the year ended 31 December 2023. The Directors will periodically review the
Company's corporate governance policies and will propose any amendment, if necessary,
to ensure compliance with the CG Code from time to time.

Compliance with the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as a code
of conduct of the Company for Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific
enquiries with the Directors, all of the Directors have confirmed that they have complied
with the requirements of the Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2023.

VISION, MISSION AND CORPORATE CULTURE

Our Group's vision is to pursue diversifying business strategies, and to provide our
stakeholders with sustainable and outstanding returns from operations through strategic
planning and collaboration and leverage of professionals.

Our corporate culture is moulded by the abovementioned vision and mission. We value
the growth of the Company as well as our employees and communication with our
shareholders. We strive to optimize our operations and enhance our technical expertise
with an aim to provide excellent service to our clients. We support our employees by
creating a harmonious and safe working environment. We will provide multiple channels
for stakeholders to maintain effective communication, allowing us to continuously seek
feedback from our stakeholders to evaluate our business performance and goals.

In order to promptly respond to market needs and to attain long-term sustainability of the
Group, the Board is committed to regularly reviewing and adjusting its business strategies

based on the market circumstances from time to time.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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THE BOARD
Role and function

The Board is primarily responsible for directing and supervising the affairs of the Group,
including but not limited to overall business development, all significant financial,
operational and strategic decisions, internal controls and risk management assessment,
review of corporate governance policies and practices and other functions reserved to the
Board under the amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles”). The management is responsible for the day-to-day operations of
the Group. To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has established
Board committees including the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee (together, the “Board Committees”). The Board has delegated
to the Board Committees responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.
Further details of these committees are set out in the sections headed “AUDIT COMMITTEE",
“NOMINATION COMMITTEE"” and “REMUNERATION COMMITTEE" below.

Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board is chaired by Mr. Chen Zhi and comprised
five members, consisting of two executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. The list of Directors is set out in the section headed "“DIRECTORS’ REPORT" in this
annual report. Biographical details of Directors are set out in the section headed
"BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT" in this

annual report.
Board Diversity Policy and Workforce

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) which
sets out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to enhance
the effectiveness of the Board. The Company will continue to review and enhance the
Board Diversity Policy to ensure compliance with the CG Code and align with the latest
developments.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the consideration of a number of

factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and education background,
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

An analysis of the Board's composition as at 31 December 2023 is set out in the following

chart:
Number of
Directors
EEAH
5
Female
ik
(20%)
4

INED
B IITEER
(60%)

2
1
0
Gender Designation
gzl 4
Remarks: PfieE
ED - Executive Director HITES
INED - Independent non-executive Director B IFMITES

The Board sets measurable objectives to implement the Board Diversity Policy and reviews
such objectives from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the
progress made towards achieving those objectives. During the year ended 31 December
2023, the Nomination Committee has considered a number of factors including but not
limited to the age, education background and experience when reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board.

The Nomination Committee reviewed the Board Diversity Policy during the year, and
consider the said policy as appropriate and effective. Such review will be performed
annually, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the said policy form time to time.

During the year, the Board was not aware of any mitigating factors or circumstances which
make achieving gender diversity across the workforce (including senior management)
more challenging or less relevant.
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EEELRRE (8)

The Board places emphasis on diversity (including gender diversity) across all levels of the
Group. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 65 full-time employees in total, comprising
47 males and 18 females (that is, a male to female ratio of approximately 2.6:1). The Group
when hiring employees considers a number of factors, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and education background, qualification, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service, and the Group will make sure achieving gender
diversity across the workforce.

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”), which
establishes written guidelines to the Nomination Committee to identify individuals suitably
qualified to become Board members and make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships with reference to the formulated
criteria. The Board is ultimately responsible for selection and appointment of new Directors.
The Board, through the delegation of its authority to the Nomination Committee, has used
its best efforts to ensure the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. Collectively, they
have competencies in areas which are relevant and valuable to the Group.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy in deciding whether to propose a dividend
and in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into account, among other
things, the following factors:

(i) the general financial condition of the Group;

(if) capital and debt level of the Group;

(iii) future cash requirements and availability for business operations, business
strategies and future development needs;

(iv) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the Group’s
lenders;

(v) the general market conditions; and

(vi) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The recommendation of the payment of dividend is subject to the determination of the
Board, and any declaration of final dividend for the year will be subject to the approval of

the Shareholders. The payment of dividend is also subject to any restrictions under the
Companies Act of the Cayman Islands and any other applicable laws, rules and the Articles.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive
officer should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. In
compliance with the CG Code, the position of the chairman and the chief executive officer

of the Company are held by separate individuals.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Chen Zhi serves as the Chairman of the Board and is
responsible for overall business development, financial and strategic planning of the
Group. No chief executive officer has been appointed by the Company after resignation of
Mr. Kung Ho Man on 30 November 2022. The overall construction projects management
and the daily operation of the construction and engineering services of the Group are
delegated to the other executive Directors and the management of the Company. The
Board is of the view that the current management structure can effectively facilitate the
Group's operation and business development.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has three independent non-executive
Directors representing more than one-third of the Board in compliance with Rule 3.10(1)
and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. Among the three independent non-executive Directors, Mr.
Chan Tsang Mo and Ms. Yip Wai Ching have the appropriate professional qualifications in
accounting or related financial management expertise in compliance with Rule 3.10(2) of

the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors are considered by the Board to be independent
of the management and free of any relationship that could materially interfere with the
exercise of their independent judgments. The Board considered that each of the
independent non-executive Directors brings his own relevant expertise to the Board and
its deliberations. None of the independent non-executive Directors has any business or

financial interests with the Group nor has any relationship with other Directors.

The Company has received annual confirmation from each independent non-executive
Director of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all independent non-executive Directors to be independent in accordance with
the independence guidelines as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

APPOINTMENTS AND RE-ELECTIONS OF DIRECTORS

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company for an initial term of one year and thereafter shall continue year to year
subject to termination provisions therein, provisions on retirement by rotation and re-

election of Directors as set out in the Articles.
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In accordance with Article 108(a) of the Articles, at each annual general meeting, one- third
of the Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three,
then the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible

for re-election.

In accordance with Article 112 of the Articles, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the Company after
his appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting. Any Director appointed by
the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re- election. Any
Director appointed under this Article 112 shall not be taken into account in determining
the Directors or the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation at an annual general

meeting.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

It is the responsibility of the Board to determine the appropriate corporate governance
practices applicable to the Company’s circumstances and to ensure processes and
procedures are in place to achieve the Company's corporate governance objectives.

The duties of the Board in performing its corporate governance functions under the CG
Code include:

to develop and review the Company'’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations to the Board;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of

Directors and senior management of the Company;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual
applicable to employees and Directors; and

to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions set out in the
Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. As at the date of this annual report, the Board has
reviewed and monitored (i) the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices; (ii)
training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior management;
(iii) the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; (iv) the Company’s code of conduct; and (v) the Company’s compliance with
the CG Code disclosure requirements.

DIRECTORS’ INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage for all Directors in relation to
the discharge of their responsibilities.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to the CG Code, every newly appointed Director is provided with a
comprehensive induction and information to ensure that he has a proper understanding of
the Company's operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities under the relevant

statutes, laws, rules and regulations.

Development and training of Directors is an ongoing process so that they can perform
their duties appropriately. During the year ended 31 December 2023, all Directors are
provided with regular updates on the Company’s performance, position and prospects to
enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties. In addition, all
Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that they continue to make
contribution to the Board in an informed and relevant manner. The Company updates
Directors on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements from time to time, to ensure compliance and enhance their

awareness of gOOd corporate governance pracﬂces

The Directors are required to provide the Company with details of the training records.
Based on those training records, the Directors received the following training during the
year ended 31 December 2023:
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TEMRER  WHBREEE THARAZ2E REHIU
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BE - NEE_ZT_=F+_"A=1+-HLFE A7
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ﬁﬂ'Lxﬁﬁi’;%ﬁf&&%iﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁ°¢tﬁ7\\'$
AGIETVES: %%5/,\%% XBR URAREFRS
ZHB R M ERESEEHEESERMBERIE
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L)\Tiuﬁ“'

Type of training
e bl

Reading and/or Seminars and/or

on-line training workshops
BER =1
Name of Director EEHE RAERIEI I
Executive Directors #iT
Mr. Chen Zhi PR SEAE v -
Mr. Qiu Dong ERER oA v/ -
Independent non utive Directors BUFHITEE
Mr. Chan Tsang Mo RRIG I % & 4 -
Mr. Shen Zejing LR RS A v -
Mr. So Wai Man (resigned on 1 December 2023) 1&&5’6%(7‘7;: =FEFZHA—HEHE) 4 -
Ms. Yip Wai Ching (appointed on 1 December 2023) % EART (R=ZFZ=F1+=A—HEZF) v/ -
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EEELRRE (8)

Board Meetings

Regular Board meetings are scheduled at least four times per year. Additional meetings
would be arranged if and when required. Directors may participate either in person or
through electronic means of communications. Minutes of the Board and committee
meetings are prepared and kept by the Company Secretary, and are open for inspection by
Directors upon request. All Directors have access to the advice and services of the

Company Secretary, and are allowed to seek external professional advice if needed.

The management is committed to provide the Board with appropriate and sufficient
explanation and information of the Group's affairs through financial reports and business
and operational reports in a timely manner, to enable them to make informed decisions.
The Directors are also provided with access to the Group’s management and the Company
Secretary at all times to obtain relevant information for carrying out their duties as
Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, five Board meetings and one general meeting

EEgg;

SEHHBRAEONATHEES RS - WESH BT
NG -EETRSIRNEBETANIR L ERE -

T RZEe R IRBEEATNERARTE  EE
EESRANEH FAESHAESAANENE R RR
% YEAEEHIRINELES -

EREBBYBREAREBREERS BIMNEES
RAREEBERSHRERERTINHAREN  #Kih
FEWBEEHABRTE - EF A PREMEE R AL B E R
EBRARMERBBEEL  ABRITE(EREENRE -

RBZE-B-=#+-A=t—AILFE ARFYE]T

were held. The attendance records of each member of the Board is set out below: IREZEERER —ABRRAG EFEEZHNENHFERL
BEIIMT

Number of general Number of Board

meetings attended/ meetings attended/

Number of Number of

general meetings Board meetings

during the year during the year

HERR HEESS

RERE/ FR BHEAEER

Name of Director EEpE BREAERE ETEgRLY

Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Chen Zhi RELE /1 5/5

Mr. Qiu Dong RELE 1/1 5/5
Independent non-executive Directors BUKHITESE

Mr. Chan Tsang Mo PBRIGE S & 1/1 5/5

Mr. Shen Zejing P20 1/1 5/5

Mr. So Wai Man (resigned on 1 December 2023) BERAE(R=ZF-=F+=-HA—HHIL) 1/1 4/5

Ms. Yip Wai Ching (appointed on 1 December 2023) BEANT(R=F=—=F+=-A—HEZHF) N/A 3 B N/A i B
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has delegated specific functions to three Board Committees, namely, the Audit

Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee, for overseeing

particular aspects of the Company's affairs.

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EEEGHmE (B)

EXZEE
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Details of the membership of each of the three committees during the year and up to the FAREEAFTHAHY —EAZESERKEMNFBNT
date of this annual report are as follows:
Audit  Remuneration Nomination
Committee Committee Committee
EREES FMZEES REZEE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Chen Zhi &L - M C
Mr. Qiu Dong BREE - - -
Independent non-executive Directors BUFHITES
Mr. Chan Tsang Mo PRIZ R S A C M M
Mr. Shen Zejing TOIRRR S M M M
Mr. So Wai Man (resigned on 1 December 2023) “féE SE(RZFE=Z=F+=A—HFT) M C M
Ms. Yip Wai Ching (appointed on 1 December 2023) BERT(R=ZF=Z=F+=-HA—HEZF) M C M

Notes:

C: Chairman of the relevant Board Committees
M: Member of the relevant Board Committees

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee on 21 September 2017 in accordance with
Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules with terms of reference aligned with the provision of the CG
Code. As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee comprised three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Tsang Mo (chairman), Mr. Shen

Zejing and Ms. Yip Wai Ching.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include monitoring the integrity of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group, reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control (including the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff
of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function, and their training programmes
and budget) and risk management as delegated by the Board, and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and/or removal of the
external auditor for the audit and non-audit services. The Audit Committee is provided with
sufficient resources enabling it to discharge its duties.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board had no disagreement with the Audit
Committee’s view on the appointment of the external auditors. The consolidated financial

statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 and this annual report have been

reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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L (ER) WBHEERES SR L) AK -

BERZEGIERBEREEARERAMBRERES
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, two meetings of the Audit Committee were
held to review the Group's interim and annual financial results for submission to the Board
for approval, make recommendation on the re-appointment of the external auditors,
review the internal control and risk management systems of the Group, review and monitor

the effectiveness of internal audit function and oversee the audit process.

RBE_Z_=—F+_A=1+—"HLFE EXZEEY
BUTMREH  NEHNASETMRFENBHEE IR
EEESIAE RENZEIERBEMELEEER &
BASENAREERAREERS R RERAME

TR A S R E BB R o

Members of the Audit Committee and the attendance of each member are as follows: ERZEENEREKNEZHREBERIIIMAT -

Number of

meetings attended

Audit Committee BEREEE HESB Y
Mr. Chan Tsang Mo (chairman) BRIGH & (F/E) 2/2
Mr. Shen Zejing LIRE ST & 2/2
Mr. So Wai Man (resigned on 1 December 2023) BEREE(R=ZF=Z=F+=F—HFHF) 2/2
Ms. Yip Wai Ching (appointed on 1 December 2023) %zféiﬁlj: (RZFZ=F+=F—HEZF) N/A 38

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee is responsible for considering the appointment and re-election of
the Company's external auditor and reviewing any non-audit functions performed by the
external auditor. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group engaged Grant
Thornton Hong Kong Limited (“Grant Thornton”) as the Group's external auditor and the
remuneration paid and payable to Grant Thornton is set out as follows:

BT &

BERLZERATEREAEREERDAINEZEAED - AR
BB RBMBETNEMNFEEEBE -BE_2-=F
TZAZ+—RLEFE AEEZREHAE (FE) GitME
BARARAR (2R AAKBEIMNEZEED B C N REN
HREAMMEHINOT

2023 2022

—Eg=-= —E-F

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#E T FHET

Audit services FEIZIRB 940 900
Non-audit services IEBIZ R 3 220

The fees incurred for non-audit services represented fees paid to Grant Thornton for
agreed-upon procedures in connection with the Group's continuing connected

transactions during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge and understand their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group and to ensure that the consolidated
financial statements of the Group are prepared in a manner which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group on a going concern basis and are in compliance with the
relevant accounting standards and principles, applicable laws and disclosure provisions
required of the Listing Rules. The Directors are of the view that the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 has been prepared on this
basis. The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going

concern.
The statements by external auditor, Grant Thornton, about their reporting responsibility on

the consolidated financial statements of the Group are set out in the section headed
“INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT" in this annual report.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 21 September 2017 with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The primary function of the Nomination
Committee is to make recommendations to the Board regarding appointment of Directors
to fill vacancies on the Board. As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination
Committee comprises four members, namely Mr. Chen Zhi, being the executive Director
(chairman), Mr. Chan Tsang Mo, Mr. Shen Zejing and Ms. Yip Wai Ching, being the
independent non-executive Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, two meetings of the Nomination Committee
was held to review the structure, size and composition (including the age, skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board, the Board Diversity Policy, assess the independence of
independent non-executive Directors, and make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment of the independent non-executive Director.

EEEGHmE (B)

REEES

ARAR_E—EFAA-T - HERIREZZESUER
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ARZEEFNEAREETITRMNEFTSHELRZ - KA
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2t
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Members of the Nomination Committee and the attendance of each member are as REZBEENEBREKEZLFERMAT :
follows:

Number of
meetings attended
Nomination Committee REEE® HESBAH
Mr. Chen Zhi (chairman) fRE e (EE) 2/2
Mr. Chan Tsang Mo BER 8 R ST A 2/2
Mr. Shen Zejing WA S A 2/2
Mr. So Wai Man (resigned on 1 December 2023) BEREE (R-_FE-_=ZF+_-H—HET) 1/2
Ms. Yip Wai Ching (appointed on 1 December 2023) %iféiﬁlj: (R=ZF—=F+=-H—HEZHF) N/A 735

In considering the nomination of the independent non-executive Director, the Company
has proposed the candidate to the Nomination Committee which reviewed and made
recommendation to the Board based on the age, skills, knowledge and experience of the

candidate appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Company.

In reviewing the diversity of the Board, the Nomination Committee has considered a
number of factors. The composition of the Board has a significant element of diversity in
terms of age, skills, regional and industry experience and background.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 21 September 2017 in compliance with
Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG
Code. Pursuant to the amendment of the chapter 17 of the Listing Rules which have come
into effect on 1 January 2023, the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee were
amended and approved by the Board in 28 December 2022. The primary duties of the
Remuneration Committee are to make recommendation to the Board on the overall
remuneration policy and packages relating to all Directors and senior management of the
Group, review and approve the management's remuneration proposals, and ensure none
of the Directors determine their own remuneration. As at the date of this annual report, the
Remuneration Committee comprises four members, namely Ms. Yip Wai Ching, being the
independent non-executive Director (chairman), Mr. Chen Zhi, being the executive
Director, Mr. Chan Tsang Mo and Mr. Shen Zejing, being the independent non-executive
Directors.

Under the Group’s remuneration policy, the remunerations of the Directors and senior
management are determined with reference to their responsibilities, workload, individual
performance, the time devoted to the Group and the performance of the Group. The
Remuneration Committee also ensures that no individual will be involved in determining
his or her own remuneration.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, two meetings of the Remuneration Committee
were held for making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual Directors and senior management. Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set
out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2023. There were no new share schemes nor material matters relating to the
share option scheme during the year.

Members of the Remuneration Committee and the attendance of each member are as

follows:

ARAR-F—tFNA-_T - HERETRAFE325 K
KRUFMEES YEBRECEEARTANEEIIBBES
CMRBER-ZE_=F-A-BREBRBNLTRUEI7TE
B FMEESREEEER _T-_—_F+_A=-+N\
REEEgHERER FHESENIERAEARER
AEEEREELSAEEENERFIBR LABRED
EE RARMEEEENFHES UARBREEES
EEEBSHM NAFRAY FHZESREMNAK
B ABURTESESELE (EF) ATESERS
T BYIFRITERRER K ERILEREE -

BREASENFHEE EERSRERENFHEL2E
HBE THEE BARR RAASERRAORRERE
BHXEET FHEEeTRRYBEAZEETHER
gk

RBE-Z-_=F+_A=1+—"HLFE FHEZESZ
BUTMRgH EANEERSREEBNFMNGTENE
FEFLEZ -BREFFHZARENAQREEZ-F
CEFE+ A=t RLEEEZGAMBHRRME2 K
FRBERRMTEREARBERETINERER -

FMEEEREREKEZHEBERAT

Number of
meetings attended

Remuneration Committee FHESS HESBAH
Mr. So Wai Man (chairman) (resigned on 1 December 2023) BERLE(EE) RZZE-_=F+_-H—HEIT) 1/2
Ms. Yip Wai Ching (chairman) (appointed on 1 December 2023) B2 (EE)(R=ZF=Z=F1+=A—HEZF) N/A 38 A
Mr. Chan Tsang Mo PRIE R ST 2/2
Mr. Chen Zhi REFEE 2/2
Mr. Shen Zejing ThER S A 2/2

The remuneration for the Directors comprises Directors’ fee, salaries, allowances and
benefits, discretionary bonuses and retirement scheme contributions. Salary adjustments
are made where the Remuneration Committee takes into account performance,
contribution and responsibilities of the individual. Apart from basic salary, executive
Directors and senior management of the Group are eligible to receive a discretionary
bonus taking into account factors such as market conditions as well as corporate and
individual's performance during the year.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION

The remuneration of the members of the senior management excluding Directors of the
Group by band for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 is set out below:

EEEGHmE (B)

BREEENE

AEESREEEXRB (EFERINBE_T_=ZFR_F
ZZEFT A=t -HUEFENMSBEHINAT

Number of Individuals

A
2023 2022
—2-= =
Emolument bands B < & 2]
Nil — HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 7T - 2
HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7 7T & 1,500,000 7% 7© 2 1
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 7T 2 2,000,000 78 7T 1 -

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is its duty to monitor the risk management and internal

control systems of the Group on an ongoing basis and review their effectiveness.

The Group has established guidelines and procedures for the approval and control of
expenditures, to ensure the reliability of the financial reporting, effectiveness and efficiency
of operation and the compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Whilst these
guidelines and procedures are designed to identify and manage risks that could adversely
impact the achievement of the Group’s business objectives, they provide reasonable, but
not absolute assurance against material misstatement, errors, losses, fraud or non-

compliance.

The Group's internal control and risk management system are designed to safeguard the
Group's assets and the interests of shareholders. The Group has established risk governance
procedures to identify, evaluate and manage risks, including environmental, social and
governance risks, associated with each operational department. Operational departments
are responsible to identify and assess potential risks which may affect the Group’s business
operation and objectives. The potential risks are then evaluated by the senior management
in terms of potential impact of risk and likelihood of occurrences. The identified risks after
evaluated by the senior management are compiled in the risk register with risk mitigation
actions and appoint risk owners. The risk owners are responsible to implement, and the
senior management is responsible to monitor the effectiveness of the risk mitigation

actions.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted a review of effectiveness on both
design and implementation of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023, covering all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls. Such review will be made at least annually
to monitor the adequacy and the effectiveness of the risk management and the internal
control system of the Group. In this respect, the Audit Committee communicates any
material issues to the Board.
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Although the Company does not have internal audit function due to relatively simple
corporate structure, size and complexity, the Board has put in place adequate measures to
perform the internal audit function at different aspects of the Group. The Group reviews
the need for internal audit function annually, and has engaged CT Partners Consultants
Limited ("CT Partners’) to review the effectiveness and efficiency of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems in relation to the financial, operational and
compliance controls for the year ended 31 December 2023, and the results of the
independent review and assessment from CT Partners were summarised and reported to
the Audit Committee and the Board. No significant area of concern that may affect the
financial, operational, compliance, control and risk management of the Group has been
identified.

Moreover, improvements in internal control and risk management measures as
recommended by CT Partners to enhance the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and mitigate risks of the Group were adopted by the Board. Based on
the findings and recommendations of CT Partners as well as the comments of the Audit
Committee, the Board considered the internal control and risk management systems

effective and adequate.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY AND WHISTLEBLOWING
POLICY

The Group has established anti-fraud and anti-money laundering policy that promote and
support anti-corruption laws and regulations, and set out measures for employees,
suppliers and business partners to raise concerns, in confidence and anonymity, with the
audit committee of the Company about possible improprieties in any matter related to the
Group.

INSIDE INFORMATION POLICY

With respect to the monitoring and disclosure of inside information, the Group has
adopted a policy on disclosure of inside information with the aim to ensure the insiders are
abiding by the confidentiality requirement and are fulfilling the disclosure obligation of the
inside information.

The policy provides guidelines on the reporting system and handling procedures of
potential inside information. Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, the
Group ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. Only designated staff are
allowed to access the inside information. Information contained in announcements are
reviewed and approved by the senior management of the Group to ensure that no false or
misleading information presents. In case the Group believes that the necessary degree of
confidentiality cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may have been breached, the
Group would disclose the information to the public as soon as reasonably practicable.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lam Chi Wai was appointed as the Company Secretary since 17 June 2022. Mr. Lam has
confirmed that he has undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
during the year ended 31 December 2023 in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
His biographical details are set out in the section headed “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT" in this annual report.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Upon enquiry by the Company, apart from the following information, there has not been
any other change of Directors’ information which needs to be disclosed in this annual
report under Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules since the publication of 2023 interim report
of the Company.

— Since 31 August 2023, Mr. Chan Tsang Mo served as an independent non-executive
director of Speedy Global Holdings Limited (stock code: 540), the shares of which

are listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders and potential
investors is essential for enhancing investor relations and understanding of the Group’s
business, performance and strategies. The Company has adopted the shareholders’
communication policy with the objective of ensuring that the Shareholders and potential
investors are provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable
information about the Company (including the financial performance, strategic goals and
plans, material development, governance and risk profile). The Company also recognises
the importance of timely and non-selective disclosure of information, which will enable
Shareholders and potential investors to make the informed investment decisions.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains the website at
www. geotech.hk, where up-to-date information on the Company’s business operations
and developments, financial information, corporate governance practices and other
information are available for public access. Latest information on the Group including
annual and interim reports, announcements and other corporate communications will be
updated on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company's
website in a timely fashion.

To solicit and get feedback from shareholders, shareholders are welcome to raise questions,
communicate their views on matters affect the Company, and request information (to the
extent it is publicly available) from the Board and management to the Company Secretary
of the Company.
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EEELRRE (8)

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication policy including steps taken at the general meetings, the handling of
queries received (if any) and the channel of communication and engagement in place, and
considered that the shareholders’ communication policy has been properly implemented

during the year ended 31 December 2023 under review and is effective.

The 2024 annual general meeting (the “AGM") of the Company will be held on 3 June
2024. The notice of the AGM, setting out details of the proposed resolutions, voting
procedures and other relevant information, will be sent to Shareholders at least 21 days
prior to the meeting.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS
Procedures for Convening General Meetings by Shareholders

The general meeting of the Company provides an opportunity for communication
between the Shareholders and the Board. Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles, the Board

may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting.

Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on the requisition of one or more
Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general meetings.

Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary by post at
Unit 706-708, 7th Floor, Tower I, Metroplaza, 223 Hing Fong Road, Kwai Chung, New
Territories, Hong Kong for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21
days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS
AT SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

Shareholders are requested to follow Article 64 of the Articles for putting forward a
resolution at an extraordinary general meeting. The requirements and procedures are set
out above in the section headed “Procedures for Convening General Meetings by
Shareholders” in this annual report.

Pursuant to Article 113 of the Articles, no person, other than a retiring Director, shall, unless
recommended by the Board for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director at
any general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that person for
election as a Director and notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be elected
shall have been lodged at the Company’s principal place of business or branch share
registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong. The period for lodgment of the notices required
under Article 113 will commence no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of
the general meeting appointed for such election and end no later than fourteen days prior
to the date of such general meeting and the minimum length of the period during which
such notices to the Company may be given will be at least fourteen days.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

The Company discloses information in compliance with the securities regulations of the
Stock Exchange, and publishes periodic reports and announcements to the public in
accordance with relevant laws and regulations. Our primary focus is to ensure information
disclosure is timely, fair, accurate, truthful and complete, thereby enabling Shareholders,
investors as well as the public, to make rational and informed decisions.

SHAREHOLDERS' ENQUIRIES

For matters in relation to the Board, Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to
the Board by addressing them to the Company Secretary or relevant personnel by post to
the Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong at Unit 706-708, 7th Floor, Tower
Il, Metroplaza, 223 Hing Fong Road, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong.

For share registration related matters, such as share transfer and registration, change of
name or address, loss of share certificates or dividends warrants, the registered
Shareholders can contact branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong:

Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited

Address: Room 21038, 21/F, 148 Electric Road, North Point, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2153 1688

Fax: (852) 3020 5058

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

A special resolution has been passed at the annual general meeting held on 19 May 2023
to amend and adopt the second amended and restated Articles of Association in order to
comply with the recent amendments to the Listing Rules. Save as disclosed, there had
been no change in the Company’s constitutional documents during the year ended 31
December 2023.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIR - HEREEGRSE

INTRODUCTION

Geotech Holdings Ltd., together with its subsidiaries (the “Group”’, “we” or “our’) are
primarily engaged in civil engineering and construction based in Hong Kong. Our principal
operating subsidiary, Geotech Engineering Limited carry out both private and public works

related to landslip prevention and remedial work to slopes or retaining walls.

We are pleased to present our Environmental, Social, and Governance ("ESG") report (the
"Report’) for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Review Year"), showcasing our
Group's ESG performance highlights and measures. This report focuses on the Group's key
business area — construction and engineering services conducted in Hong Kong, in line
with the scope of the previous year's reporting. The reporting scope was determined by
considering and assessing the proportion of revenue contributed to the Group and the
number of employees in the geographic region during the Review Year.

The Group is committed to operating its business sustainably and delivering premium
services to fulfill our commitment to customers. The ESG Report has been prepared in
accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide set out in Appendix C2 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and
complies with the “comply or explain” provisions.

The Group strictly adheres to the principles of materiality, quantitative and consistency, as
shown below, to report on the relevant measures and performances.
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Materiality: Material ESG issues are identified in materiality assessment and shown in this Report
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Quantitative key performance indicators ("KPIs") are disclosed with comparative data and sufficient description on
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KPIs data and calculation methods remain consistent and comparable with previous year to ensure valid comparability.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BOARD STATEMENT

To effectively manage our ESG issues and integrate ESG considerations into our business
strategy and decision-making processes, we have developed a governance structure that
ensures segregation of duties in our ESG management. The Board of Directors (the
“Board") of the Company holds ultimate responsibility for overseeing the Group's ESG-
related risks and opportunities, as well as the effectiveness of the strategy and measures.
The Board establishes the Group’s ESG-related strategies and targets, regularly reviews the
Group's ESG performance against these targets, and revises strategies as necessary in case
of significant deviations.

To support the Board in implementing ESG-related strategies and targets, a dedicated ESG
working group has been established. Comprising members from various operational
departments such as finance, safety, environmental, and administration, this group plays a
supportive role in conducting materiality assessments of ESG issues, prioritizing them, and

promoting the implementation of corresponding measures.

The ESG working group assists in collecting ESG data from respective functional
departments, monitoring the implementation of measures, and investigating deviations
from targets. Additionally, it liaises with the respective functional departments to take
prompt rectification actions when necessary. Regular updates on the status of ESG-related
work are provided to the Board to evaluate the effectiveness of current policies and aim to
improve the overall performance of the ESG strategy and objectives.

Meetings are conducted twice a year between the Board and the ESG working group to
review the strategy, progress of work and target set, enabling the tracking of the Group's
ESG-related performance. With a thorough understanding of ESG risks and opportunities,
the Group is better positioned to allocate its resources effectively when making business
decisions.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

R HERELSHRE (B)

Stakeholder Engagement

The Group values communication with stakeholders, such as government entities,
investors, employees, and customers, utilizing a variety of channels listed in the table
below. Through stakeholder engagement, the Group gains insight into their expectations
and concerns. Feedback received through these channels enables the Group to further

refine its sustainable development strategy.
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Stakeholder Groups Specific Stakeholders Expectations Methods of Communication
o EER BERFDE e BEARX
Investors Shareholders Investment returns Corporate website
Corporate governance system Financial reports
REHE AR K& [ 124 h
EEERES B E
Employees Senior Management Working environment Training
Staff Career development Face-to-face meetings
Potential recruits Remuneration, compensation, and benefit Performance reviews and appraisals
Interview
= BRERRE TER =g
BT BEER MBI  B R B AT A
BEREE e FMRER [EiE:
Customers Government departments High quality service Customer satisfaction survey
Construction contractors Compliance operation Company hotline
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Suppliers/Contractors
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Government

B

Material suppliers
Contractors
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Governments
Regulators
B
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Stable cooperation
Health and safety

Compliance with law and regulations

EPERER

Supplier assessment

Daily work review

Site inspection/meeting with
contractors
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Written or electronic correspondence



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Materiality Analysis

As companies possess diverse characteristics, they encounter varied ESG risks and
opportunities. It is crucial for the Group to identify issues that are relevant and material to
its operations and meet stakeholder expectations. We identify material ESG issues through
materiality analysis.

The ESG issues have been analysed with reference to an array of factors, including the
market development, Group's overall strategy, development, goals and targets. We then
rated the identified ESG issues that are pertinent to its business and stakeholders, and their
respective level of impact. Material ESG topics were then filtered and becoming direction
in our ESG works. We can devise more comprehensive, transparent and specific responses
to the ESG issues.

The material ESG issues have been identified as follows:
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Energy consumption Employees’ Development and training
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Employment and labour practices
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Anti-corruption
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I.1  Our environmental policy

We have developed an “Environmental Management Plan” (the “EM plan”),
which serves as our organizational framework for conducting engineering
and construction work. It illustrates the duties and responsibilities of our
environmental management functions to prevent harm to our
environment. The EM plan mandates the establishment of an
environmental management team for each project, consisting of a Site
Safety & Environmental Committee and a Site Safety & Environmental
Management Committee. The EM plan is reviewed and updated
periodically. Any revisions or updates to the EM plan will be brought to the
attention of all employees and subcontractors through the circulation of
internal memos and discussed during regular meetings.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

R HERELSHRE (B)

Weekly environmental inspections are conducted to identify the potential
environmental nuisance. The following are key objectives of our

environmental policies:

— Strictly comply with the relevant environmental legislation and

regulations;

— Prevent our operations from harming the environment or public
health;

— Manage our supply chains effectively to include suppliers” or
subcontractors’ environmental protection initiatives as part of our
selection considerations;

— Be open and responsive to the environmental expectations and

concerns of our stakeholders; and

— Provide sufficient resources and facilities for the implementation of
environmental nuisance abatement, waste management and pest
control management.

Apart from the EM Plan, we have also established a Safety and
Environmental Department to ensure the Group's strict compliance with
relevant environmental protection regulations in our operations. The team
is comprised of environmental management professionals who conduct
ongoing monitoring of market trends, statutory requirements, internal
policies, and safety and environmental measures. This proactive approach
ensures that the company stays abreast of evolving regulations and industry
best practices. By continuously assessing our operations from safety and
environmental perspectives, we aim to mitigate risks, enhance efficiency,
and promote sustainability throughout our business activities.

Minimising impact of our operations to the
environment and natural resources

Considering the nature of our expertise, we deeply recognize the
significance of preserving our natural landscape and environment. We have
zero tolerance for any breaches of environmental regulations. We conduct
our project works in accordance with accredited policies and procedures
under the International Organization for Standardization (“ISO") 9001:2015
for Quality Management System and 1SO 14001:2015 for Environmental
Management System. Adhering to these standards helps govern our
workers and subcontractors to work environmentally responsibly, ensuring
that our operations are conducted in a manner that minimizes
environmental impact and promotes sustainability. Environmental
inspections will be conducted weekly or monthly at construction sites to
identify any instances of environmental non-compliance. If any issues are
detected, a program of corrective actions will be promptly implemented to
address the situation.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Air pollution

As our primary business activities are based in the construction industry, it is
inevitable to produce air pollution, which have impacts on the environment.
During dusty construction activities like demolition, drilling, or excavations
of rock or artificial hard materials in close proximity to the public, our on-site
project team should implement dust abatement measures. These measures
may include water spraying, using vacuum cleaning devices, and ensuring
better covering or sheltering of dusty materials, all subject to the approval
of the registered engineer onsite. To mitigate air pollution, we have
implemented measures specifically targeting gaseous emissions, particularly
black smoke or fumes, emitted by various construction equipment.

Wastewater

Our site work may generate an insignificant amount of wastewater;
however, we still implement wastewater pollution abatement measures to
prevent land pollution. For example, surface runoff must be prevented from
washing across the site and spilling over into areas outside the site by

diverting all water to treatment facilities before discharge.
Waste handling

In managing waste, we follow four key steps known as the “Waste
Management Hierarchy”: “Avoidance and Minimization”, “Re-use”, "Recover
and Recycle”, and "Treatment and Disposal”. This framework guides our
approach to evaluating waste management methods and handling waste
generated at construction sites. We prioritize options with the least
environmental impact and long-term sustainability. Specific targets have

been established, requiring employees to adhere strictly whenever feasible.

— All excavated material or pure construction and demolition inert
material (e.g. hard rock, sand, soil and broken concrete) should be
sorted onsite for re-use onsite or for disposal to designated outlets
(e.g. Public Fill Reception Facility);

— All metal waste should be sorted and recovered onsite for collection
by recycling contractors and companies;

— All cardboard and paper packaging (for plant, equipment and
materials) should be sorted onsite. They should be stockpiled
properly in a dry condition and covered to prevent cross-
contamination with other construction and demolition waste;

— All chemical waste must be collected and disposed of properly by
licensed collectors/contractors; and

— All demolition debris should be sorted onsite. Broken concrete,
reinforcement bars, mechanical electrical fittings, and other
hardware and fittings/materials that have established recycling
outlets should be recovered.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

R HERELSHRE (B)

Below are measures we adopted in terms of waste handing:

— Divert waste to other construction sites for re-use

— Use water-based finishing materials wherever practicable to

minimize environmental impact
— Re-purpose hard standing and old bricks for continued use

— Re-use wood packaging for formwork purposes, reducing the need
for new materials

— Employ recyclable containers for fixtures and fittings to promote
sustainability and reduce waste

— Encourage workers to bring reusable water bottles to reduce plastic

usage

During the Review Year, to the best of the Group’s knowledge, we did not
have any non-compliance issues in relation to environmental laws and
regulations in Hong Kong regarding air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.

Greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions

The primary source of emissions from the Group stemmed from the use of
motor vehicles for transportation and travel between project sites. During
the Review Year, the reduced number of projects led to a significant
decrease in emissions from motor vehicle use. We still strive to minimise
harmful emissions as the Group believed that GHG is the key contributor of
climate change and such trend needs to be mitigated. The Group addresses
these emissions by directing our carbon footprint policies towards
regulating vehicle usage, which includes:

— Closely monitoring fuel consumption in every motor vehicle to

ensure no fuel wastage occurs;

— Prioritizing the purchase of environmentally friendly motor vehicles

and considering the weight of the vehicle;

— Conducting regular servicing of vehicles to maintain optimal engine
function;

— Ensuring fuel used complies with the Air Pollution Control
Ordinance, with a sulfur content not exceeding 0.005%; and

— Strictly enforcing the policy to switch off idling vehicles.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

In line with sustainable development principles, the Group is dedicated to
minimizing the environmental impact of its operations by reducing carbon
footprints. Our goal is to decrease greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions by 10%
from the 2021 baseline by the year 2026. Despite achieving this target in the
current year, we have chosen to retain it as we believe ongoing monitoring
and control of GHG emissions are essential in the long term. We maintain
consistent oversight of GHG emissions by implementing the following
mitigation measures:

— Purchasing environmentally friendly motor vehicles and limiting the
engine capacity to 3,000 cc for each vehicle, taking into
consideration the weight of the vehicle;

= Promoting eco-driving with a view to reduce vehicular emissions by
placing labels close to dashboard to remind drivers to switch off

idling engines and set the temperature at an eco-friendly level.

In the Review Year, another significant source of emissions from the Group
was purchased electricity. To mitigate this, the Group has implemented
energy-saving measures aimed at reducing our carbon footprint. For further
details, please refer to the measures outlined in the "Use of Resources”
section. Through the effective implementation of these measures, the
Group successfully reduced overall greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions in

"

areas such as “vehicle usage,” “mobile combustion sources,” and “generation
of purchased electricity” compared to the previous review year.
Furthermore, during the Review Year, the Group did not utilize any liquefied

petroleum gas, resulting in no relevant GHG emissions to report.

The following presents our GHG emissions KPI for the Review Year:

GHG emissions from use of vehicles:

RIE - HEREGHRSE ()

REAUFEERRA  AEERBEBRD
BREY  BERSHESEBHRENTE - M
MERRE_T_AFAHRERBHENE
T —FHEGHRD10% - BERMARK
FEERZAG ERMERREZER
AEMNAAFEERLEFNRERBINE
EMEERER - RMBBEHRATERE

i BB EREHN

— BARRRHLEHEEEENEE
15 6 80 )T = HO 3% BY 1 B 2 R ] £ 3,000

cc

— BBEEERKOR LR REAK
AR =8 e - WAHREREERR
K (RERRER - R EWE B
e

REBEFE  AEENS —BRPERRRS
SMNBES o BIBETN - ARBECERATREE
i BEERABMEIREY - B — S
1B F2HTERFB] — & 605 it - 8
BERERZEEE  ARBEKDKEEHE
Rl TBBRER] R MEENEL|EES
MERAERBHENBR L -—OEFERD -
SN - REBEFE - AR E & E B ER R
AmR - AUt BAREHERREREIN -

AT E25REBFERMNESBRAEBIER
HRERBEFEE R

EWEAEENBEREHER

Aspects 1.1 Unit 2023 2022
BE1.1 B —EBC-=HF TECF
Nitrogen oxides gram 18,218.66 28,537.94
AED )
Sulphur oxides gram 492.93 760.76
ink=kla7)] %
Respiratory suspended particles gram 1,341.40 2,101.19
MO 5505 KL i
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

IRE - HEREGHRE ()

GHG emissions from mobile combustion sources:

BERRRELENBERBHER

Aspects 1.2 Unit 2023 2022
Em1.2 EXivi —E-=F ===
Scope 1

1

Carbon dioxide tonnes 79.23 122.25
&bk L7}

Methane' tonnes 0.22 034
B! L

Nitrous oxide' tonnes 8.89 14.06
—&ft=/m L]

Indirect GHG emission from the generation of
purchased electricity:

BEELNBZEREEZRBHER :

Aspects 1.2 Unit 2023 2022
Em1.2 v —E-=F e
Scope 2

FE2

Indirect GHG Emissions tonnes (CO, equivalent) 7.89 855
R = R A8 HF A me(—EfLiREE)

Total GHG emission:

Aspects 1.2 Unit 2023 2022
BmE1.2 BRI —E=-= —ET-—
Scope 1 and Scope 2 tonnes' 96.23 145.20
& E 1 R#EE2 Mg
GHG emission intensity tonnes/average number of employees? 2.24 2.55
RERBYREE a1 1R B A B
Note B =
1 Greenhouse gas emissions included emissions of carbon dioxide, 1 BERBHEMREE &k BFRE&t
methane, and nitrous oxide. Methane and nitrous oxide were converted TANYRE - FRRE(ETEREBEE
to carbon dioxide emissions by global warming potential ("GWP"). The BES ([2REBLLER ) BEA-R1L
total amount of greenhouse gas emissions is the equivalent of total EEE - RERBHEHREZEHENR &
amount of carbon dioxide emissions. {EIRABHERE ©
2 The average number of employees is calculated by taking the total 2 FHRBEABIRODEFEY ROBEFER

number of employees at the beginning and at the end of the Review
Year and divide by two.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Hazardous wastes produced:

RIE - HEREGHRSE ()

CEENRERREY

Aspects 1.3 Unit 2023 2022
Em1.3 Bfis —E-=F —F——

Hazardous waste disposal tonnes N/A* N/A*
EEEREVEE L NE A > E R
Hazardous waste intensity tonnes/construction contract N/A* N/A*
BEBEENEE A, EEEA L TE R~ T~

* The operation of the Group did not generate any hazardous waste for

the Review Year and for the year ended 31 December 2022 and hence
does not have relevant KPI to report.

Non-hazardous wastes produced:

* AREBMEBHREOBEEERBE-_T -
+Z A=+ ALFEEYEEATFNAE
BEEY) - FILEE 2 REEERENEEZ -

CEENESERY

Aspects 1.4 Unit 2023 2022
EmE1.4 By —2=-= —_T_-
Non-hazardous waste disposal tonnes 382.90 1,899.00
BEEEVRE 7]

Non-hazardous waste intensity tonnes/construction project 95.73 379.80

BEREMEE WA, 5E5EIE A

*

The methodology adopted for reporting on KPI above was based on "How
to Prepare an ESG Report? — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs" issued by the Stock Exchange

The Group did not produce any hazardous waste from our operations,
therefore setting a reduction target on hazardous waste is not meaningful
for us. The non-hazardous waste generated during the Review Year
primarily consisted of construction waste, which was handled in accordance
with the requirements of the Environmental Protection Department. The
significant improvement in the intensity of non-hazardous waste was
attributed to our effective waste disposal strategies, as well as the size and
nature of our project sites.

In the previous year, we set a target to reduce non-hazardous waste per
project by 2% by the year 2026 compared to the level in year. We have
successfully achieved this target in the current year and aim to set a
conservation target for the coming year, aiming for even lower non-
hazardous waste intensity compared to the Review Year by strengthening

current measures toward this goal.

* 2R R BERERERARANTEER
B PR [N R HEIR e RE
ARRE T — M REMRBRERERE
#Hissll o

AEEMZ2EYEELEABESTERZY B
IHRERIBEEEZYHBETHRMAMS L
BEER NOBEFEELNETEENEIR
BIRERZERRY EDRBERFERESHR
ERE - BEEREVEENBERZIAR
HMERWEZYRERBARTRMEE T
AR REE o

RE—FE BMAREER B _TZXF-
BEAENEZTEEYR E—FERLD 2% -
HMERNARFERINERZBIR  Wat S5
ERFONEHHER  SEBBINGRE A E
ZEBNEGE EEZERVEEREBRF
REAR -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

R HERELGERE (B)

Use of Resources

The Group places a high priority on efficient resource utilization, with a
particular emphasis on key resources such as electricity, water, and paper.
We encourage our staff to reduce their carbon footprint by striving to lower
energy consumption and fully utilizing resources.

In the Review Year, the Group participated and awarded a certificate of
recognition in the Green Office Awards Labelling Scheme (GOALS) and the
Eco-Healthy Workplace Awards Labelling Scheme, both organized by the
World Green Organisation. This registered charitable institution dedicated
to advancing sustainability practices and raising awareness about
environmental issues. The mentioned scheme are initiatives aimed at
recognizing and promoting environmentally sustainable practices within
office environments and workplaces, respectively. Under the scheme, our
office are evaluated based on criteria related to energy efficiency, waste
reduction, water conservation, sustainable procurement, and overall

environmental management practices with satisfactory result.
Electricity

Energy-saving measures and practices as follows have been implemented
in office and project site to show our commitment to energy efficiency.

Eco-friendly labels were placed close to air conditioning switches to
remind staff to set the temperature at an eco-friendly level of 25°C;

Switch off lights, machinery, and office equipment when not in use;

Conducting regular maintenance of air-conditioning systems to

prevent breakdowns; and

Providing training sessions to educate employees on energy-saving
practices and encourage their participation in energy conservation
efforts.

The Group will continue to drive electricity reduction as its energy use
efficiency target in the coming year through optimising the use of electric
devices, purchasing energy efficient appliances and cleaning the air filter of
air-conditioners regularly to improve cool airflow efficiency.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Water

We do not have any issue in sourcing water but still promote the message
of water conservation. We strive to reduce water usage and increase overall
water usage efficiency. As the water are mainly consumed in the project
sites and the usage depends on the work scope and work nature, disclosure
of target for water efficiency is not meaningful. Eco-friendly labels were also
placed beside water taps to remind employees the importance of water

conservation.
Paper

We have implemented several measures to reduce paper usage and
minimize the ecological footprint associated with paper consumption. For
instance, we utilize digital presentations and note-taking tools during
meetings, eliminating the need for printed handouts and meeting minutes.
Additionally, repurposing old envelopes for internal communication or
drafting, and preferring electronic communication over printed materials,
further reduces paper usage. Furthermore, we purchase paper products
crafted from recycled materials and certified sustainable sources, promoting

environmentally friendly practices.
Packaging materials and other

The Group operates without the consumption of packaging materials;
therefore, such data disclosure is not relevant. However, we actively
promote sustainable practices among our staff. We encourage them to
bring their own lunches to work, thereby reducing reliance on single-use
foam lunch boxes commonly associated with takeout meals. By opting for
reusable containers, employees contribute to the reduction of waste and

the conservation of resources.

Furthermore, we advocate for mindful consumption habits to minimize
food waste. Employees are reminded to order only what they can consume,
discouraging over-ordering and unnecessary waste. Through these
initiatives, we foster a culture of sustainability within the organization and
strive to make responsible choices that align with our environmental values.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

IRE - HEREGHRE ()

The following shows our direct energy and water consumption for the LTE2IREEFERMOEELIRRKHE
Review Year: FEE
Energy consumption in total and intensity BREREREREE
Aspects 2.1 Unit 2023 2022
BmE2a EX1v2 —E2-= ==

Indirect energy consumption:

MBS

— Electricity usage kWh 21,324.00 23,096.00
il TR
Electricity consumption intensity kWh/average number of employees** 495.91 405.19
AEZRE FREFiEE A
Diesel Litres 11,822.00 49,155.00
4 7t
& The methodology adopted for reporting on KPI above was based on “How . S2WEMAREBUIBZFMERBN T EER
to Prepare an ESG Report? — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on BEZFTEMB [MRRERE HtERE
Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange ARG ek RIRBABREBUEIESR
HiESI -
i The average number of employees is calculated by taking the total h FHREEABUREIBEFEV REBEER
number of employees at the beginning and at the end of the Review BB ABBHABRIAZGTE -

Year and divide by two.

Water consumption in total and intensity BEKERZE
Aspects 2.2 Unit 2023 2022
Em2.2 B =B-=F —FB-—
Water consumption cum 586.00 1,493.00
FkE 3K
Water consumption intensity cu.m/no. of offices (inc. offices 586.00 746.50

of construction site offices and
back office of construction and

engineering service)

NOERERE SHRPAEHE (BIEIREMER
R R LA Rt T R TA2 AR 75 48 0
MRE)
During the Review Year, the decrease of water and diesel consumption are REBEEE KMLHEEERL I EITEHR
mainly due to the reason of decreased project number which led to limited HHHBRDEBUKMERERS AR -

usage of water and diesel.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Climate change

Climate change is one of the most crucial issues of the past decade. The
Group performs ongoing assessments of potential climate-related risks to
understand the risks we may encounter and their potential impacts on the
Group.

Physical Risks

Major Risks description and consequences:

Extreme weather condition such as typhoon, heavy rainstorm, high
temperature and flood may cause acute physical risk which may cause
disruption to the construction and engineering activities and cause
dangerous on worker's safety.

Risks response:

For flood:Our offices/site offices do not locate in high-risk flooding areas. For
work safety of our staffs and workers, we have stipulated policy for severe
weather arrangements and required staffs and workers to follow when such
situations appear.

For typhoon or heavy rainstorm is approaching, we required staffs to
inspect all site removal facilities, channels and manholes to ensure they are
clear of silt and grit. We provide intercepting channels along the edges of
excavation to prevent surface run-off across faces of excavation and
exposed soil surfaces. In addition, we maintain a large supplier base so we
can source from alternate suppliers in case our suppliers being affected by
extreme weather conditions.

For high temperature, we provide sufficient liquid and enough shaded area
for workers rest and cool off purpose.

While sustained high temperature may result in an elevation of electricity
consumption and cause chronic risk, the Group has adopted energy
conservation measure in managing such risk, which are detailed in the
subsection headed “Use of Resources” and “Protecting staff health and
safety”.

Transition risks

In terms of transition risk, there may be a shift in customer preference
towards service providers with less impact on the climate. However, the
Group does not anticipate significant adverse effects in the near future due
to our specialized work. Additionally, changes in climate-related regulations
may present transition risks. To address potential transition risks, the Group
monitors the regulatory landscape closely to ensure that our services align
with customer and regulatory requirements.

The Group continues to monitor the climate-related risks and implemented
relevant measures to minimise the potential physical and transition risks
although the potential extreme weather condition and change in climate-
related regulations are not expected to materially affect the Group's
operation in the near future.

1.4
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

R HERELGERE (B)

Il. SOCIAL

1.1

Employment and Labour Practices
Our people

The Group highly values our employees and attaches great importance to
our human resources management.

In order to attract talent to our organization, we offer competitive
remuneration packages tailored to their respective positions, job roles,
qualifications, and experience levels. Our Human Resources & Administrative
Department employs rigorous controls throughout the recruitment process
to ensure that candidates align with our company’s needs and to prevent
any unlawful practices. We hire individuals based solely on their suitability
and abilities, without consideration of their gender, religions or nationalities,
etc. Our recruitment process focuses on identifying candidates who possess
the necessary skills, qualifications, and experiences required for the job role,
regardless of their background. We believe in fostering a diverse and
inclusive workplace environment where all employees are valued and
respected for their contributions.

The Group implements a zero-tolerance approach towards child labor, and
the hiring of illegal immigrants in either our office or construction sites is
strictly prohibited. The stringent controls in the recruitment process prevent
such illegal practices. After recruitment, in case any irregularities such as
discrepancies in ages and identities are found, the Group immediately

terminates employment with the concerned staff.

The Group establishes staff handbooks and employment policies
concerning compensation, promotion, dismissal, working hours, rest
periods, and other welfare measures to safeguard employees. Forced labor
is strictly prohibited. In order to retain our employees, compensation and
benefits programs are periodically reviewed to ensure competitiveness.
Through regular and effective staff appraisals and communication,
exceptional staff members are objectively evaluated and rewarded with
internal promotions and salary increases.

Our management encourages close communication with staff to
understand their needs and opinions. Close working relationships are
maintained through regular internal monthly meetings between our
directors and construction teams. Staff are always welcome to express their
opinions to their supervisors, while management provides feedback to staff
mostly during appraisals and when deemed appropriate. lllegal and unfair
dismissal under any circumstances is prohibited; all dismissals must be
approved by responsible personnel and comply with standard dismissal
procedures.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

As of 31 December 2023, the Group has employed 45 (2022: 41) full time
employees under our construction and engineering services in Hong Kong,
which is the Group’s key business activities carried out in Hong Kong. The
breakdowns of our workforce in the key operating units by gender, age

group and employment types are as follows:

RIE - HEREGHRSE ()

R_EBE_=ZF+_A=+—H A£BEH45
H(ZEZZF /1R 2BEES REEBR
HEERTRERYE SthEAEEEEER
BHFEEBEH - LR - FEER RIER
BARNSNEEELESNETHANT ¢

By gender 2023 2022 By age group 2023 2022
beq ezl =—=2== —F-C BERAR —2=-= —F_-
Male 73% 71%  Under 30 years old 2% 7%
E=Lcd 30T
Female 27% 29%  31-50 years old 52% 56%
Ly 31-505%
51-60 years old 22% 20%
51-60 5%
Over 61 years old 24% 17%
615 £
By employment category 2023 2022 By geographicregion 2023 2022
REMRER —EB-=F —E-F BHWE —E-=fF —E-—
Senior level 31% 34% Hong Kong 100% 100%
B B
Middle level 42% 44%
e
Entry level 27% 22%
UES

The Group has also entered into employment contracts with site workers,
however, the site workers do not continuously work for the Group as it
depends on the demands of workers in construction sites. The Group will
arrange work schedules with the site workers when needed. Since the site
workers are daily rated and in standby position to supply workforce, same
as previous review year, the above breakdowns do not include site workers.
It was also the reason why the entry level staff was not the majority in our
workforce.

REBE T EME T AR ZREA L A i
RIERFEITHHETANTRL  HRT
AN ERERAEEIE - AEEHRNTE
Fred @ T AL HF TR AR - AR T
ARBHFD R AHESE N - 8 E—
CIEEFERR - DRAAL N EEmBTA -
WIRAEE T MEHME TAZHOREA -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

R HERELSHRE (B)

During the Review Year, the total turnover rate of employees is 28% (2022:
81%). The employee turnover rate in the key operating units in Hong Kong

REBFE EELARRERB8H(ZT_Z
F:81%) BBEXTBEBLEEMZMR  Fik

by gender, age group and geographical region are as follows:

Ri@ARE D MERRAXFMMAT :

By gender 2023 2022 By age group 2023 2022
1 B ==2== —E-—F RERAHR ==2== o
Male 26% 81% Under 30 years old 100% 100%
St 30AT
Female 33% 79%  31-50 years old 17% 47%
g 31-50 5%
51-60 years old 11% 86%
51-60 %
Over 61 years old 56% 100%
61 BRI £
By geographic region 2023 2022
RibE —E-= —E-F
Hong Kong 28% 81%
BB

The turnover rate for the Review Year has improved from 81% to 28%.
Despite the completion of certain projects, workers were retained and able
to transfer to other project sites within our organization, contributing to the
improvement in staff turnover. Additionally, since most site workers are
remunerated on a daily basis and may leave and re-join the Group multiple
times within a year, they are excluded from the turnover rate calculation,
consistent with the approach taken in the previous review year, as including
them would not provide meaningful insight.

We maintain high standards of business ethics and require our employees
to abide by the Group’s code of conduct as stated in our staff handbook.
During the Review Year, to the best of the Group’s knowledge, we did not
have any non-compliance issues in relation to preventing child and forced
labour, compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and
other benefits and welfare.

Protecting staff health and safety

To provide a secure and safe working environment for its employees, the
Group has implemented stringent internal policies regarding health and
safety which is accredited under 15O045001:2018. We require employees to
strictly comply with the safety policies and guidelines maintained by the
Group. There are potential dangers present at construction sites, and to
avoid fatal and work-related injury cases, the primary focus is on raising staff
awareness of safety. We mandatorily require all workers to attend “Specific
Induction Training” and “Toolbox Training” before entering construction
sites to ensure they have a basic understanding of the environment and
risks identified at project sites. “Refresher training” is also offered periodically
to remind workers of the importance of following safety rules and to update
them on risk areas at project sites.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

To ensure worker safety, the Group supplies appropriate personal protective
equipment and safety gear, such as safety helmets, safety boots, dust masks,
reflective vests, and safety goggles. Workers must wear all necessary safety
gear whenever they are on construction sites. Work safety and related
notices are regularly communicated to all workers to reinforce safety
awareness. Our safety officers and supervisors are tasked with ensuring that
all safety measures are implemented and followed by our staff. Safety
Officers conduct routine site inspections to identify and promptly address
any breaches or unsafe conditions.

More specifically, working in outdoor project sites under high temperatures
during summertime poses significant risks to our workers. To address this
risk, the Group takes measures to ensure the well-being of its staff. This
includes providing periodic rest breaks, ample supplies of liquids for staff
working outdoors, as well as training and materials on dealing with various
degrees of heat stress, adapting to hot environments, and implementing
control techniques. Also, a warning system of heat-stress at work has been
established. The particular risk assessment is conducted by competent
person before the work commenced.

We have always tried our best to mitigate the risk of work injury. An annual
safety and environmental report was prepared by our Safety and
Environmental Manager to present the statistics of our accidents.
Nevertheless, due to the nature of the construction industry, it can be
difficult to completely eliminate its occurrence. There were no lost
man-days due to work injury for the Review Year (2022: 935 lost man-days).

During the past three years, number and rate of work-related fatalities were
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ETHTTHRE LS EZRL TR
2R e 5 fROR
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as follow:
2023 2022 2021
—E-= —E-= T4
Number of work-related fatalities TEMREESLT 2B - - -
Rate of work-related fatalities T{EMRBESE T X NA NA NA
TEA TEA TEA
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

R HERELGERE (B)

As our work frequently involves tasks performed at heights, the Group has
implemented both short-term and long-term measures outlined in the
safety enhancement plan to mitigate the risk of work-related injuries from

falls.. Examples are as below:

— Arrangement of daily pre-work hazard and identification activity,
and safety briefing for all projects included both public and private
works section to ensure that all workers always pay attention to the
site safety including safe working at height;

— Establishment of top and senior management safety inspection
programme by carrying out surprise-check regularly on sites
including both private works site and public work. The finding and
observation are discussed in internal monthly meetings;

= Usage of double lanyards of safety harness is necessarily applied to
workers work at height to perform continuous anchorage of fall-

arresting system; and

— Development of “Hold-point” control system to perform pre-work
site safety assessment and inspection and design tailor-made
control measures for work-at-height depended upon the site
conditions with proper documentation.

We believe that communication with frontline workers could facilitate our
continuous improvement in site safety management. Workers are
encouraged to voice their concerns and suggestions regarding site
management, especially pertaining to the safety and health of staff. We
require staff to report any potential or suspected occupational health and

safety-related issues to the Group.

During the Review Year, we have no non-compliance relating to providing
a safe working environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards.

Training and Development

The Group places a strong emphasis on enhancing employees’ professional
skills and fostering their development. Alongside providing the staff
handbook to acquaint them with the workings of the Group, all new
employees actively engage in our orientation sessions. These sessions are
designed to help them become familiar with their specific job duties and to
gain a clear understanding of our expectations. This proactive approach
ensures that new employees are well-prepared and equipped to contribute
effectively to the organization from the outset.

Staffs with professional qualifications are encouraged to enrol in external
training relevant to the work and continuous professional development.
The Group also organised internal training courses to employees to extend
their knowledge and keep abreast of the latest market developments. We
offered training sponsorship, which is reimbursed for courses relevant to an

applicant’s job duties and career development at discretionary basis.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

For safety related site training, we follow the requirement of Construction
Site Safety Manual of the Development Bureau of Hong Kong to prepare
training plans for all our projects. The required duration for each session for
induction training is one hour and for toolbox talks are fifteen minutes.
Apart from safety part, the induction training was also extended to include
environmental part covering topics of environmental policy, organisation
structure, control measures (such as air quality, noise impact) and inhouse
safety rules and regulations and etc.

The total number of hours allocated for the aforementioned trainings
(induction training and toolbox talks) for site workers during the Review
Year was 235 (2022: 877 hours). Since attendance at the induction training
and toolbox talks is mandatory for all our site workers, the breakdowns
provided for workforce trained and average training hours completed per
employee below pertain specifically to our employees other than site

RIE - HEREGHRSE ()
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workers.

EEFERNEZEINE TELHA30% (=
TF 1 14%) BREBNTFHREAES 6

30% (2022: 14%) of total workforce was trained during the Review Year with
average number of 5.16 (2022: 2.58 hours) per employee, with breakdowns

as below: N (ZTZZF 1 258/\6F) - AT ¢
2023:
—EC-=f:.
By gender hours % By employment category hours %
gl 53 REMRBER 534
Male 5.00 75%  Senior level 9.07 50%
St =
Female 392 25%  Middle level 330 33%
7 FE
Entry level 1.33 17%
MR
2022:
S S
By gender hours % By employment category hours %
gl 53 REMRER 534
Male 2.14 63%  Senior level 11.02 88%
B1 =E
Female 3.64 37%  Middle level 0.73 12%
gegid FE

BUS R EMR AT/ 2023 F5% 55
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

R HERELGERE (B)

1.2

Operational Practices
Supply Chain Management

Suppliers and subcontractors play a fundamental role in the Group’s
operations. As such, the Group places great importance on the procedures
for selecting and monitoring suppliers and subcontractors.

When sourcing new material suppliers or subcontractors, the Group
undertakes a fair and impartial selection process. Before choosing suppliers
and subcontractors, the Group conducts background research through
news and available information to evaluate various factors including pricing,
capability to meet our requirements in terms of product and service quality,
service support, and past records of non-compliance with environmental
and social responsibilities. If any instances of non-compliance or significant
negative impacts on environmental and social aspects are identified
regarding potential suppliers and subcontractors, the Group further
investigates and gathers additional information to ensure that such issues
are not repeated. When suppliers or subcontractors offer comparable
packages, preference will be given to those with green products or
accreditations related to environmental or social issues, in accordance with
our selection criteria. All suppliers and subcontractors adhere to the same
practices.

For the Review Year, the Group has total 123 (2022: 105) approved suppliers
including both subcontractors and material suppliers which are all located
in Hong Kong to save the transportation costs. All suppliers and
subcontractors undergo continuous monitoring by our group. Material
suppliers must furnish quality certificates to ensure that their materials meet
our requirements. Other factors such as delivery time, post-sales service,
price, etc.,, are evaluated during our routine supplier reviews. We evaluate
the performance of subcontractors in daily operation. We performed site
visit to review work quality performed by the subcontractors and to review
whether they comply with our environmental and social requirement such
as forced or child labour. In case any non-compliance with relevant
environmental and social requirement noted, suppliers and subcontractors
should rectify the identified unsafe practice and conditions immediately. In
addition, we mandate that suppliers and subcontractors promptly report
any instances of non-compliance to us as soon as they become aware of
them.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Our suppliers are being reviewed regularly and subject to replacement if
their performance and quality did not fulfil the Group’s requirements.
Annual evaluation is being performed to assess if we will continue our
business relationship with the suppliers in the coming year. We evaluate

subcontractors’ performance from time to time through:

— Weekly environmental inspections

— Attendance at environmental meetings and training
— Reviewing records of environmental incidents

= Reviewing complaints from the public

We have established a penalty system for environmental violations to
monitor the environmental practices of subcontractors. These breaches are
categorized based on their severity, with corresponding penalties. It is
imperative for our subcontractors to comply with our requirements, as
severe breaches may result in termination of business relationships.

Service pledge to our customers

Maintaining a high-quality standard for our engineering projects is
paramount for the sustainable advancement of the Group as it fosters trust
among customers regarding our work. We execute our projects in
accordance with policies and procedures accredited by 1509001:2015. Each
of our construction projects is assigned a designated project team
responsible for overseeing ground work, conducting reviews, and
monitoring progress to ensure that quality in every process aligns with our

customers’ requirements.

We have a site representative who is responsible for immediate
communication with customers and subcontractors on project sites. If any
issues arise regarding project quality, safety, environmental concerns, or
identified risks, we facilitate communication between teams and resolve
them as practicably as possible. Teams frequently conduct site visits to their
respective projects to monitor the workmanship of workers and
subcontractors. All materials used on the project site meet the required
standards of our customers. Additionally, the quality of our work is regularly

certified by customer representatives.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

R HERELGERE (B)

During the Review Year, we incurred insignificant fines due to our failure to
take all reasonable measures to ascertain the existence, alignment, and
depth of underground electricity cables and to prevent the occurrence of
electrical accidents or interruptions in the supply of electricity resulting from
our work. No injury was reported in above two fines cases and no

outstanding liabilities were incurred.

Due to the business nature of our construction and engineering business,
recall procedures for quality, safety and health reasons are not applicable to
the Group. During the Review Year, there was no complaints or claims from
our customers regarding the quality issues of the work performed by the
Group or our sub-contractors, which resulted from the effective quality
control measures.

Health and safety of our services

Internally, the Group has established a corporate safety management
committee tasked with overseeing the health and safety system. Monthly
safety meetings are convened to discuss safety management matters,
including accident statistics, reporting procedures, updates on relevant
health and safety regulations, and statistics on safety training.

Externally, the Group ensures the health and safety of its construction
services by adhering to the standards outlined in 1SO 45001:2018. Regular
ISO audits are conducted by external consultants to verify the Group'’s
compliance with these standards. Additionally, regulatory safety audits are
performed as required by law.

Our construction teams consistently adhere to applicable health and safety
standards outlined in service contracts and certifications provided by
professional engineers engaged by clients. This demonstrates the Group's
commitment to upholding the highest quality and safety standards.

Advertising and labelling

As a construction engineering company, we rely on our actual work
performance rather than advertising to attract new customers. Our website
offers background information and service introductions. In accordance
with our policy, all content featured on the website undergoes preparation
by the Group's senior management and subsequent approval by the Board.
This rigorous process ensures the accuracy and suitability of the information

listed on our website.

The Group believes that product labelling is insignificant to us and therefore
does not require disclosure of relevant policies.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Protection of data privacy and intellectual
property rights

The Group places significant emphasis on maintaining the confidentiality of
personal and sensitive business data. Clear guidelines have been developed
for staff to ensure the confidential handling of sensitive customer and
project information. Additionally, sensitive information is stored in
designated areas within our office, accessible only to authorized personnel.
We guarantee that all data collected from our clients is treated as strictly
confidential and managed appropriately by our staff. To prevent
unauthorized access to sensitive information, it is mandated that such data
be used only within the office premises. Furthermore, all documents
containing confidential information are securely shredded before disposal
or recycling.

We protect intellectual property rights and not to infringe third-party
interests. Only licensed software is being used in our business operations to
protect intellectual property rights. Employees are prohibited to install
pirated or personal software in company computer.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, the Group is not aware of any cases
of non-compliance of the applicable laws and regulation on customer
health and safety, advertising, labelling, and privacy matters relating to our
services provided.

Anti-Corruption

The Group has established anti-corruption policies and procurement
practices aimed at preventing bribery, extortion, fraud, and money
laundering in any form. These policies communicate a clear message to
employees, emphasizing the importance of professional and ethical
conduct, which they acknowledge. The acceptance of kickbacks,
commissions, or any other benefits is strictly prohibited during
procurement, contract negotiations, or any other business transactions.
Additionally, our internal manuals outline a gift policy that specifies the
necessary processes and procedures for handling and accepting gifts and
advantages.

The Group has set up whistle blower channels — a mailbox to allow staffs
and other personnel to report suspected misconduct, malpractice and cases
of corruption suspected misconduct or malpractice within the Group. The
reported case will be investigated and such work will be handled in a strictly
confidential manner to preserve anonymity of the whistle blower.

During the review year, our senior management underwent anti-corruption
training to ensure the continual development and updating of this concept
in their mindset. In the Review Year, to the best of our knowledge, the
Group did not have any non-compliance in relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering. Also, there was no concluded legal cases
regarding corrupt practices brought against us or our employees during the
Review Year.

% HERELGRE (H)

AEBEFFEREEBARBEIEERED
M - RD ABTHIERENIES - U
REZTREHRENZERIEEER - 1IN - 8
REBFEEFERMABRAENETERE RE
EEEAETHEEN BRARBREETSKE
MIFERBEHERRRE YHERMNET
BEITHENEE A LERCEESHHK
ER RMAERSHEIRETERABITA
B FTEREREERNNHERSE
o B BT & 1R H R o

HPVRENBER  TRILE =T - B

EEBELTE ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁ—ﬁm# AR

E&F% BMPELFETHEEAAREKER
BRI ALARL -

BEEMAMN AEEYTNBEAEBAET
FPRERRZZ FEE SHEREMERORE
BRENALBEEMERERERERNEN -

RES

AEECHERBESEERRBEESR B
DI IEEATZ R - BR - BFEROAE - %
SHRABEEFSERENRE  BRABRER
EERBRITRMNEEN - ARE - 0%
HREMEMEHRZH - BRKZE - 1
SRAEMEMFIE - 45N HPIW AT
BREBRE  JAREREZEY R EEN

AEBERUBESRFREE UFEEIR
HEMABRRAEERSBHTIETH  T&
TARESREF BRMBYRBRORFET
AL - WABRBRENFAEEEEIE T
SEBRRBENEH -

REEFE RANSREEEEETRE
ﬁi%%ﬂ\ CHERZMSESELSERCRE
e REBEEE  BRAMARN AEETE
Eﬁj*ﬁ‘%ﬁﬁﬁ,ﬁ% R RFRABRNTERE
e AN REEBEE  SEERAIREMW
EEREICRENESHARN -

BUBBIRRAMRAT]/ 2023 F5H

59



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

R HERELSHRE (B)

I3 HESH

1.3 Community Involvement

60

To contribute to the community, the Group prioritizes the nurturing of the
new generation while simultaneously promoting and fostering employee
engagement in volunteer work or charitable endeavors. This dual approach
not only strengthens the Group’s commitment to social responsibility but
also cultivates a culture of giving back and making a positive impact on

future generations.

Throughout the review year, the Group continued to make monetary
donations to support the “LPM Contractors Scholarship,” which is aimed at
assisting students pursuing education in the field of geotechnical
engineering. This scholarship is intended to help students achieve their
academic goals by providing financial assistance for tuition fees, books, and
other educational expenses.

The scholarship will be awarded to final year undergraduate students at the
University of Hong Kong, The Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, and City University of
Hong Kong, with the goal of motivating geotechnical engineering students

to achieve greater success.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Content Index

The following table provides an overview on the general disclosures and key performance

indicators (“KPI") of various aspects under each subject area, which is cross-referenced to B ((FARERER]D  WHIIRE 8RR REM
the relevant sections of the ESG report. HER2RBZEE -

Description Requirements from Appendix C2 of Listing Rules Reference Section Remarks
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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BRI

TRPME T ZHHERTTREEN —RIXERBERER

A. Environmental

ABE

Aspect A1: Emissions

EEAL:

R

General Disclosure Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of

hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

— R

BRERRERBHN kRIS AEREEEENNELSHN

@ Eﬂ(” R

(b) HETABEAYENRIERRAONER -

KPI AT.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

MIREM BRSO R A EUE -

ERAL

KPIA1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

WREN HE(BE1) R4 f%&(@IDMiﬁ%WWEUMEﬁE)(W@ﬁ)

BEAL2 HE(MAGESEM - §HERETE) -

KPIAT.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

BREN FEEEEEEMEE CUEHHE)R(NER)ZE (MASESEN - §1ER

IBIBAI3 JEATE) o

KPIA14  Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
BREN FESEESEEVEE CUEHE) R (WER)ZE (MAGESEN - §1ER

BRAA HEETE) o

KPIATS Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

BREN HAAIVOERERERRASEINELEEMRRANTR

EBALS

KPIAT.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a description
of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

WREYN HIRBESRESERMNSE  REMMAFIIARERRER

ERALE RENELBERMEBROSR -

Our environmental policy,
Minimising impact of our
operations to the environment
and natural resources,
Greenhouse gas (‘GHG")
emissions

HAEORBEEER  HOEMT
¢¢H%%&E%Eﬁm%
E i} 1ﬁ‘§“ ((/ ﬁ@%])
i

GHG emissions

BEREIK

GHG emissions

BERBHR

GHG emissions

BEREHR

GHG emissions

BERBHK

GHG emissions
REREHN

Minimising impact of our
operations to the environment
and natural resources, GHG
emissions

BLBRMATEFEREREA
ERNTE REREBHM
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

R HERELSHRE (B)

Description Requirements from Appendix C2 of Listing Rules Reference Section Remarks
b EHRAMECQHER SEEH (CE3
Aspect A2: Use of General Disclosure Use of Resources
Resources Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw
EBEA2: ERER  materals.
— AR BRI A
BRERER(BEER  KREMERME) MEBR
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas Use of Resources
or oil) in total (kWh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
BREN RENBSNEER/SMEEER(WNE Kb @R UTETRETE) BRAA
BEA REE(MASEBEN  BERMEHE) -
KPIA22 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). ~ Use of Resources
BREN BREKEREE (NWABESEN  BERHEHE) o &RFIA
ERA22
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Use of Resources
BRENR HAMIVORRERANREERAENELEERERMNTR - BRHA
A3
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water ~ Use of Resources We encounter no issue
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. in sourcing water that
is fit for our purpose
BB HECSKEERAOR EAT A EMEE - URAAT LA E B ERAEIEL RN HATHESREE AKIR
EiEA24 BEMERASR - 3 4 3B B (A
2,
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with Use of Resources We do not generate
reference to per unit produced. significant packaging
material waste in our
operations.
By SXemRaRMHOEE NS R (NER) BEESMEE - BRMA APEEERETYL
BIRALS BEAREDEM
REEEY -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

% HERELGRE (H)

Requirements from Appendix C2 of Listing Rules

LHRAMRCQNER

Remarks

B

Reference Section

SEEH

Aspect A3: The
Environment and

Natural Resources

[EHA3:
&R

BERAR

Aspect A4: Climate
Change

EHA4:

B. Social

B.iE

RRE

General Disclosure
Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the environment and natural resources.
—RIBE

BEBTAHRERAAEREXERAT BNRE -

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to manage them.

BREN HAEBRDURERRAERNEAYERERNEREAZENTH -

ERA3

General Disclosure

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and

those which may impact, the issuer.

—RIRE
BRI REHCER RGN ETAELZENEARFABEENNE
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those

which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.
BREN HIEERITESUBTAEEYENEARRKIEUEE  REHTH -
HEIZEALI

Employment and Labour Practices

EREREIRES
Aspect B1:
Employment

BEB1

LB

General Disclosure Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal

opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
— IR
BERTFMRGE BERE  TERZ-
BRAEF

@ BE &

b))  BFEBTAREATENEREERMAOIGER -

B TERE

KPIBT.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or part-time),

age group and geographical region.

BRENR ZUH - ERER(NME2BIFER)  FRARKGRDNESRH -
EEBLI

KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region.
WREN RUR FRERKNEESHESREALE

E1%B1.2

Zift - REGAREME

Minimising impact of our
operations to the environment
and natural resources

BLBRMATEFEREREA
BRN T8

Minimising impact of our
operations to the environment

and natural resources
BAOBRFIEFHREREA
BRNTE

Climate change

RIEE(L

Climate change

RIRE(

Our people

Our people

HZMMET

Our people
RMMETL
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

R HERELSHRE (B)

Description Requirements from Appendix C2 of Listing Rules Reference Section Remarks
b EHRAMECQHER 2EEH (CE3
Aspect B2: Health and  General Disclosure Information on: Protecting staff health and safety

Safety (a) the policies; and

EmEB2: RERZ2

Aspect B3:
Development
and Training

BEB3 : BB R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards.

— AR

FERREZ2THERARREREEREBELAEN:

(@) & &

b)) EFHBRTAREATENEWEERMAGIGER -

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three years
including the reporting year.

MEREN BE=F(BRERFR)SFRATTHRMABRILE -

EEB21

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.
MREn RAIGBEAIEEH-
#E1%B22

KPIB2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

BREN HAARANBERRER2ENE  UREBRTRERFE -

1#E1%B23

General Disclosure
Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at work. Description of
training activities.

—RIBE
BHRAESRTIERENMBRBRENRE  HEIED -

KPIB3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category

(e.g. senior management, middle management).
BREN ZRURIREERA(NRRERE +RERE)ESNIIIEEELL -
ERB3

KPIB3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee category.

BREN RUSIREEERES  BEREEZTMEINTHEE -
$51%832
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REBTHRERZ2

Protecting staff health and safety

REBTHRERLZZ

Protecting staff health and safety
REEINRERZE

Protecting staff health and safety

RERTHRELRL2

Training and Development

IR B R

Training and Development

Bl E R

Training and Development

EIRBE



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RIE - HEREGHRSE ()

Description Requirements from Appendix C2 of Listing Rules Reference Section Remarks
b IHRAMECQHER 2EEH CE3
Aspect B4: Labour General Disclosure Information on: Our people

Standards (a) the policies; and

[BEB4: $TEE (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.

—BEE BMMET
BEBLETHEHSTH:
@) BR: R

b)  ETHBRTAREATENEBZERROINER -

KPIB4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and forced Our people
labour.
WREN R ARES N EEAREE T REHST - BMMETL
HERB4I
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. Our people
BREN HAEEREREREEREBERAMRRE SR - BFMHET
1E1EB42
Operating Practices
EEEH
Aspect B5: Supply General Disclosure Supply Chain Management

Chain Management Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.
EmEBs : fHEHEE —RER HEREE
ERHREENRAREBRBRBE -

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management
BREN mtEISHHERHE - HIEEER
E1ZB5.1

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers where the Supply Chain Management
practices are being implemented, and how they are implemented and monitored.

WREN HAEBRERHERNEN mENTABEANHERSE  URAERT #HEEEE

B1ZRS) RERFE-

KPIB5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the supply  Supply Chain Management
chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.

BREN HEEHEANHEEESERSNRERMERARNOEN  URBBRRTRER HEEER

E1EB53 AEe

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products and Supply Chain Management
services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored.

BREN HIEREHERREESARREMIRENEN AREBRTRERS HERERE

HEL LY
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

R HERELGERE (B)

Description Requirements from Appendix C2 of Listing Rules Reference Section Remarks

b EHRAMECQHER SEEH (CE3

Aspect B6: Product General Disclosure Information on: Service pledge to our customers,
Responsibility (@ the policies; and Advertising and labelling, Health

EMB6 : EREE

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress.

—BEE
BRFRAERABRENRRARS  BS  SERALBEENRBR AN :
@) BR: R

b  ETFHETABEAYENAREENANNER -

and safety in our services, and
Protection of data privacy and
intellectual property rights

RERBAG BEEREH -
BIFRERBOERR T
FEENRREENTLER
HBERE

KPIB6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health
reasons.

BREN EEACEREMGETRZZAREEAMAQEKNES L

E1%B6.1

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are dealt
with.

WREN BEBRERRREHRFEE ARELFE -

1E1%B6.2

KPIB6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property rights.

BREN HEEEERREAMREEEBOBDG -

12863

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

BREN HIESRTARRERBKIER -

1E1RB64

KPIB6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

BREN HRHBEEHNRERLEBEE  AREBRTRERAE-

12865
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N/A

Service pledge to our customers

RPR¥#GE

Protection of data privacy and
intellectual property rights

RIEEHELRAZERE

Service pledge to our customers

B P R

Protection of data privacy and
intellectual property rights

REAHBLRABER

Recalls for safety and
health reason is not
applicable to our
business.

ikgesyialiegegi:: il
EE I T E
RERFIRETR -

Intellectual property
rights are immaterial
to the Group.

REEER B R AE
EEMBERER
SEMENFEE -

Recall procedures are
not applicable among
the Group.

miE I S E R R
REE -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RIE - HEREGHRSE ()

Description Requirements from Appendix C2 of Listing Rules Reference Section Remarks
b IHRAMECQHER 2EZEH CE3
Aspect B7: General Disclosure Information on: Anti-corruption

Anticorruption

EHB7 : RES

Community

HE

Aspect B8: Community

Investment

EEBS : HERE

(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

—BEE
BEWILERE - $R  KFFREEN
@) BR: R

b)  ETHBRTAREATENEBZERROINER -

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the issuer

or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.

BREY RESHAHBETAREERRIYCELNESHDRIOME RFDER -

EiEs

KPIB7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how they are

implemented and monitored.
BREN HAPEEERERER  UREBRITRERTE -
1E1%B7.2

KPIB7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.
BREm mimEZERE TRENRESE -
#E1%873

General Disclosure

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities where the issuer
operates and to ensure its activities take into consideration the communities' interests.

—REE
BRUMB2RRTREEMEHERENRREEZRZDEZELBNEMEEK -
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour needs,
health, culture, sport).

Mgy FIEHEE(WHE BEEE SITL BR b BF) -
iRz B8]

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.
BREN EZIEBEMPALER(NEERERH) -
1E1%B8.2

N/A

Anti-corruption

RES

Anti-corruption
REF

Community Involvement

tEsa

Community Involvement

HE2E

Community Involvement

tEaR

No concluded legal case
regarding corrupt
practices brought
against the issuer or
its employees during
the reporting period.

BHEBRREHEY
BOASHESR
HITEEENES

FRRN -
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Directors’ Report

EFERE

The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The principal place of business of the Company is located at Unit 706-708, 7th Floor, Tower
Il, Metroplaza, 223 Hing Fong Road, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of the subsidiaries
are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the section
headed “CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME" on page 91 in this annual report.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial
years as extracted from the audited financial statements and restated/reclassified as
appropriate, is set out on pages 171 to 172 in this annual report. This summary does not
form part of the audited financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group expanded into the sales of luxury products in the fourth quarter of 2023. The
business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and discussion on the
Group's future business development are set out in the section headed "“CHAIRMAN'S
STATEMENT” and “"MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS" on page 4 and pages 5 to
15 respectively in this annual report. The description of key risks and uncertainties facing
the Group and financial risk management and fair value measurement are set out in this
Directors’ Report on pages 68 to 83 in this annual report and note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

In conducting its business, the Group endeavours to protect the environment in which it
operates and the Board is committed to sustainable development as its responsibility. The
Group has implemented an environmental management plan and established quality and
environmental management systems and been certified under ISO 9001:2015 and 1SO
14001:2015 for its construction and engineering services. During the year, there was no
non-compliance in relation to environmental laws and regulations in Hong Kong including
air pollution, noise control and waste disposal. Green office practices are also encouraged
in the operation of the Group's businesses, such as recycle used paper for printing, re-use
old envelopes for internal communication, prefer electronic to printed communication and
reduce energy consumption by setting the temperature at an eco- friendly level of 25° C
and by switching off idle lighting. The Group also targets to reduce water usage,
greenhouse gas and non-hazardous wastes in the long term. A detailed discussion on the
Group's environmental policies and performance and the stakeholder relationships are
contained in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on page 36 to 67 of this

annual report.
LITIGATIONS

Save as disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group was not
involved in any material litigation and no material litigation or claim was pending or
threatened or made against the Group as far as the Board was aware of during the year
ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

The Group did not have any significant event subsequent to the year ended 31 December
2023 and up to the date of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

Directors’ Report (Continued)

EFEHE(R)
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

EFEHE(R)

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December

2023 are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following are some principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, which may

materially and adversely affect its businesses, financial condition or results of operations in

(i) construction and engineering services; (ii) property-related services; and (iii) sales of

luxury products.

(1)

(2)

Uncertain external factors

The Group's operation of the construction and engineering services, property-
related services and sales of luxury products are mainly located in Hong Kong.
Uncertain external factors including the downturn in the economy of Hong Kong
and public health issues such as the COVID-19 pandemic, may materially and
adversely affect the Group's businesses in construction and engineering services
and property-related services, results of operations and prospects. The Group will
continue to closely monitor the market situation and to consider appropriate
strategies to promptly respond to the risks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s business performance and financial condition.

Construction and engineering services — reliance on
the public sector contracts granted by the Government
departments and statutory bodies

The Government departments and statutory bodies have been and are expected to
continue to be the Group’s largest customers in construction and engineering
services. During the year ended 31 December 2023, revenue attributed to the
public sector projects represented approximately 87.5% (2022: approximately
92.7%) of the Group's total revenue. If there is any reduction or significant delay in
the spending of the Government departments and statutory bodies in the
construction and civil engineering industry, the Group’s business in construction
and engineering services, results of operations and financial positions may be
materially and adversely affected. In order to cope with the risk of relying on the
public sector contracts in the construction and engineering market, the Group will
continuously explore or seek other business opportunities that are beneficial to the
long-term development of the Group so as to diversify the risks.
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(3)

(4)

Competitive tendering process and making of estimates

The construction and engineering business of the Group operates on a non-
recurring and project-by-project basis. We have no long-term commitments with
our customers but rely on successful tenders that determine the award of
construction contracts. The number of contracts awarded to the Group, therefore,
may vary from time to time. Upon completion of its contracts on hand, the Group’s
financial performance may adversely be affected if the Group is unable to secure
new tenders or obtain new contract with comparable contract sums or at all. As
such, to cope with the keen market competition, the Group has adopted a
competitive pricing strategy for tendering in order to maintain the competitiveness
of tenders which may further narrow the profit margin. The Group will assess and
adjust its business strategy from time to time to adapt to the market environment
in order to maintain the Group's competitiveness in the construction and
engineering market.

Further, in the tendering process, the Group determines a tender price by
estimating the construction costs under the contract duration as specified in the
tender invitation documents. However, the actual implementation of projects may
not accord with our estimation at the time of tender due to cost overruns and/or
subject to other related construction risks. If our estimates of the overall risks,
revenue or costs prove inaccurate, the Group will experience lower profitability or
even make losses on contracts, which could materially and adversely affect the
Group's business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Highly regulated industry — reliance on registrations,
licences and/or certifications

The construction and engineering industry is a highly regulated industry and our
business is subject to various government regulations. In accordance with the
regulations and contract requirements, the Group is required to obtain or maintain
certain registrations, licences and/or certification (‘Licences”) to operate its
business. All such Licences are granted/renewed and maintained upon the
satisfactory compliance by the Group with, among others, the applicable criteria set
by the relevant government departments or organisations including Development
Bureau and Building Authority. Such criteria may include the maintenance of
quality standards, financial capability, expertise, management, environmental and
safety. Circumstances which may lead to taking of regulatory actions against a
contractor and/or subcontractor include but not limited to poor site safety record,
violation of laws and misconduct etc. These Licences may only be valid for a limited
period of time and are subject to periodic reviews and renewal by relevant
government departments and organisations. In addition, the standards of
compliance required in relation thereto may from time to time be subject to
changes without substantial advance notice. Failure to renew or maintain these
Licenses and regulatory actions such as suspension, downgrading or demotion of
relevant construction and engineering businesses operated by the Group, may
have an adverse effect on our business, results of operation, financial condition and
prospects unless we have similar Licences within the Group.

(3)

(4)

Directors’ Report (Continued)
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

EFEHE(R)

(5)

(6)

As a result of the accident occurred in March 2020, Geotech Engineering, the
principal subsidiary of the Company, was under regulatory actions from (i) the
Construction Industry Council to suspend its registration as a registered
subcontractor under the category of general civil works with specialty in
geotechnical works for a period of six months with effect from 6 July 2021; and (i)
the Development Bureau to voluntarily refrain from tendering for public works
contracts under the LPM category for a period of eight months with effect from 4
August 2021 (together the “Suspension”). The Suspension from the above
authorities were released in January 2022 and April 2022 respectively. During the
Suspension, the Group had to undertake and tender geotechnical works including
slope works in private sector and tender LPM projects as a subcontractor in order to
keep the negative impact from the Suspension minimal.

Property-related services — management’s estimates

The Group's property management consultancy services are charged on a fixed fee
basis, it is important to accurately estimate the cost in preparing fee quotation/
proposal to customers and to make sure the fixed fee covers all the costs to be
incurred for the provision of such services. If the Group fails to estimate the
potential increase in costs accurately, it may experience lower profitability or even
make losses, which could materially and adversely affect the Group's business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Sales of luxury products — macroeconomic environment

Macroeconomic changes may affect consumers’ behavior. Luxury products are
considered as discretionary items for customers. Slower consumer spending
momentum may reduce the demand for our products, leading to lower revenue
and margins. It is therefore important that the Group is aware of any such changes
in the economic environment and adjusts its purchase strategy and business plan
under different market conditions.

SHARE CAPITAL

The Company'’s total issued share capital as at 31 December 2023 was HK$16,800,000
divided into 1,680,000,000 Shares with par value of HK$0.01 per Share.

Detailed movements of the share capital of the Company during the year ended 31

December 2023 are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Detailed movements of the Group's reserves during the year ended 31 December 2023 are
set out in the section headed "“CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY” on
page 93 in this annual report.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company has reserves amounted to approximately HK$87.3
million available for distribution to shareholders (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$87.1 million).

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group was not aware of any non-compliance with laws and regulations that would

have a significant impact on the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this annual report are:
Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Zhi (Chairman)
Mr. Qiu Dong

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Tsang Mo

Mr. Shen Zejing

Mr. So Wai Man (Resigned on 1 December 2023)

Ms. Yip Wai Ching (Appointed on 1 December 2023)

Mr. So Wai Man has confirmed that he has no disagreement with the Board and that there
is no matter relating to his resignation which needs to be brought to the attention of the

Stock Exchange or the Shareholders.

In accordance with Article 108(a) and 112 of the Articles, Mr. Chan Tsang Mo, Mr. Shen
Zejing and Ms. Yip Wai Ching will retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election as Directors at the Company's forthcoming AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company for a
term of three years commencing from the date of the appointment, and shall continue
year to year unless terminated by not less than six months’ notice in writing served by

either party on the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into an appointment letter
with the Company for a term of one year commencing from the date of the appointment
and thereafter shall continue year to year, unless terminated by not less than one month'’s
notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, including those proposed to be re- elected
at the forthcoming AGM, has a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without the payment of

compensation (other than statutory compensation).

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management of the Group are set out in
the section headed "BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT"
on pages 16 to 18 in this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into or existed during the
year ended 31 December 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of the associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong (the “SFO"))
which have been (i) notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any interest or short positions which they are taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (i) which, pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, have been entered in the register referred to therein; or (jii) pursuant to the
Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules as a code of conduct of the
Company for Directors’ securities transaction, notified to the Company and the Stock

Exchange were as follows:

Long position in the Shares

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest

X fift

RZZE_=F+-A=+—8 ARREBEERTETHA
BERARRKEFMAEER (ERXRFBEFAENEE
FRAEGY ((BHFERBERHD FEXVIR) KRG - B
RO REEETHES (VBEEHFRPEERNEXVDBET RS
DEEME RN T RE XN ER KRR (BIEREREE
# REE GO EBIE SO B (ES R B A AR A
) RN RIE B S R E GG F3521KE L8R X K FTiE
BB AR ROAA - AR LR B8 ATE
EEFAMEARARRESETESFRINTATAEANEG
ARF KRB R FTH S AR &S AT ¢

REROGPERNER

No. of Shares held/ Approximate percentage

interested in of shareholding

BE/BAEER
ESHE B Rty HWRH & B RESNEIL
Mr. Chen Zhi \merests in a controlled corporation (note) 920,480,000 54.79%
PR B (A7)
Note: B3k

920,480,000 Shares are held by Star Merit Global Limited (“Star Merit"), representing
approximately 54.79% of the entire issued share capital of the Company. Star Merit is wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr. Chen Zhi. Therefore, Mr. Chen Zhi is deemed to be interested in all the
Shares held by Star Merit by virtue of Part XV of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above and so far as is known to the Directors, as at 31 December 2023, none of
the Directors nor the chief executives of the Company had or was deemed to have any other
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required (i) to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including any interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein; or (jii) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the Model
Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, so far as is known to the Directors, the following entity (other
than Director and chief executive of the Company) had, or was deemed to have, interests
or short positions (directly or indirectly) in shares or underlying shares or debentures which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provision of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long position in the Shares

Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest
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No. of Shares held/ Approximate percentage

interested in of shareholding

BE HEER
BREEHE B Mg lgvig - gE| BREMABT D
Star Merit Beneficial owner 920,480,000 54.79%
EE EmlEB A
Save as disclosed above and so far as is known to the Directors, as at 31 December 2023, BEXFIEBEEN BEERMA R_E-_=F+_-48

the Directors were not aware of any other entity which or person other than a Director and
the chief executive of the Company who had, or was deemed to have an interest or a short
position in the shares or the underlying shares or debentures of the Company which would
be required to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register of the
Company required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEME" in this annual report,
at no time during the year ended 31 December 2023 was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any body
corporate.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the related party and connected transactions/continuing connected transactions
disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements and the section headed
“CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS” in this annual report, no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity
connected with a Director had a material interests, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER'’S INTEREST IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the related party and connected transactions/continuing connected transactions
disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements and the section headed
“CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS” in this annual report, no contract of
significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which the
controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the continuing connected transactions of the
Group which were subject to annual reporting under rule 14A.49 of the Listing Rules were

as follows:

On 27 December 2019, Nova Management Services Limited (‘Nova”) (as the consultant),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a property leasing and
management consultancy agreement (the “Property Management Consultancy
Agreement’) with Cheer Capital Limited (“Cheer Capital’) (as the property owner), in
relation to the provision of property management consultancy services for a commercial
property in Hong Kong owned by Cheer Capital (the “Property”) for a term of three years
from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022.

On the same date, Nova (as the agent) also entered into a property leasing agency
agreement (the “Leasing Agency Agreement’) with Cheer Capital (as the property
owner) in relation to the provision of property leasing agency services in relation to the
Property for prospective tenants referred by Cheer Capital or existing tenants of the
Property (collectively the “Agency Tenant(s)"). Such services include handling enquiries
and introductions, negotiation on leasing terms and conditions, site visit(s) arrangement
and preparation and execution of formal agreement(s) with the Agency Tenants, for a term
of three years from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022.

On 28 December 2022, the Property Management Consultancy Agreement and the
Leasing Agency Agreement were renewed for a term of three years from 1 January 2023 to
31 December 2025 and to set the corresponding annual caps. The other terms of the
Property Management Consultancy Agreement and the Leasing Agency Agreement

remain unchanged.

Through the engagements of the Property Management Consultancy Agreement and the
Leasing Agency Agreement which are of a recurring nature, it enables a more diversified

revenue base and stable cash inflow for the Group.

Cheer Capital is a company indirectly and wholly-owned by Mr. Chen Zhi, the chairman of
the Board and an executive Director and the controlling shareholder of the Company. As
such, Cheer Capital is a connected person of the Company and the transactions
contemplated under the Property Management Consultancy Agreement and Leasing
Agency Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions (collectively, the
“Continuing Connected Transactions”). Detailed terms of the Property Management
Consultancy Agreement and Leasing Agency Agreement were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 27 December 2019 and 28 December 2022.

GEOTECHHOLDINGSLTD. / ANNUALREPORT 2023

ERBERRREXSQNNER

BRAFREAVBRRITBARE2BET RBEER
S/ HERER IR HERER S| - REE-T
ZZF+ A=+ B FE AR R F R RS
TFEARBSEMEMB AR BRI H77 MARBERKR
HEMEMBARERIBEEEERRANEREH -

FEBERS

HE-_Z-_=F+_A=1+—RAULFE AEENFEH
BERHGWMT  ZERSHEBT EWHAFE14A4KIBTH
FERBFHRTE

RZZE—NE+—A=++tH FEEEREERIE (5
Bl)(ARRBEERENE2ENB AR (FAFERM) BT F
BRARTTFND (FEMEREBAN) BT —HUWERER
EREMRSh E(MEEEEMBER)  RNABEAT
MEEN—EEBREYE (YLD REDEE AN
R BT -_ZTF—AF—BE_T_—_F+_A=+—
H:BH=F-

KRB 2 (EARE) FETH(EAMEREA) BT
MERERER S ((HEREHSE])  AAEMM%nE
MTFFEECHEHALPRZMERENAF (BB ER
FREDMERERERY -BHARBERBEREHAEN
B AAXBOBR RGN 2B ERREBMHITH
REBEFHNEXNMANEERESE  HWEH_T=_5F
—A—BARBRE_ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—HI B#E=F-

RZZZZF+ZA=+)\A WEEEERNBELEE
RIEBHESE BT _=F—A—HBE_ZT_1F
+-A=+—RB AB=F UERRTHEBFELR -9
EEEREMBR AAERIBREZ LM GERRFTE

BBTVEEHEENYEEEERGZ REERE R
AEAEENRSEERE NS T UERA/TEEEED
BERA °

FHAARAIEESER RITESRIERBERELE
HE2EHEBNAR - Flt THARQARMNBEEAL
MEEEBHHZEHAERERZBE TRETNLIZHER
SEMERD (i [FEBERS]) - FEVEETER
Bz RAERERENFAKIERNARABBHA=S
—hE+- A= ++tER-ZE-—F+-A-+N\BzR& -



It was expected that the aggregated annual caps pursuant to the Property Management
Consultancy Agreement and Leasing Agency Agreement shall be approximately
HK$6,497,000, HK$5,380,000 and HK$5,517,000 for each of the three years ending 31
December 2025. The income received for services provided by Nova pursuant to the
Property Management Consultancy Agreement and Leasing Agency Agreement
aggregately amounted to HK$4,560,000 which is within the aggregated annual cap of
approximately HK$6,497,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023. Details of the
transactions are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have reviewed and confirmed
that the above Continuing Connected Transactions for the year ended 31 December 2023
have been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (i) on
normal commercial terms or better; and (iii) according to the relevant agreements
governing such transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Continuing Connected Transactions
of the Group in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified letter
containing the auditor’s findings and conclusions in respect of the Continuing Connected
Transactions under rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

The Company's auditor has reported to the Board and confirmed that for the year ended
31 December 2023 (i) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that
the Continuing Connected Transactions have not been approved by the Board; (ii) for
transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the Group, nothing has come
to their attention that causes them to believe that the transactions were not, in all material
respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group; (iii) nothing has come to
their attention that causes them to believe that the transactions were not entered into, in
all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such
transactions; and (iv) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that
the aggregate amount of the Continuing Connected Transactions as disclosed in note 28
to the consolidated financial statements have exceeded the annual cap as disclosed in the
Company's announcement dated 28 December 2022.

Details of other connected transactions/continuing connected transactions exempt from
annual reporting requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and/or related party
transactions are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual

report.
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COMPETING INTERESTS

Based on the confirmations received from each of the Directors, none of the Directors,
controlling shareholder of the Company nor their respective close associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) had interests in any business which competes or is likely to compete,
directly or indirectly, with the Group's businesses during the year ended 31 December
2023, and is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage for Directors’ and officers’
liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior management arising
from corporate activities. Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force throughout
the year ended 31 December 2023 and at the time of approval of this annual report.

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them, shall or may incur or sustain by
reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or
supposed duty in their respective offices, except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain
through their own fraud or dishonesty.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme was adopted by the Company on 21 September 2017 (the
“Share Option Scheme”) and effective for a period of ten years to 20 September 2027. It is
a share incentive scheme established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that
the eligible participants have or may have made to the Group. Pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, offer to grant an option to any director,
employee (full-time and part-time), advisor, consultant, supplier, customer, distributor,
contractor, agent, business partner or service providers of the Group and to promote the
success of the business of the Group.

Pursuant to the terms of the Share Option Scheme and in compliance with the provisions
in Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, the maximum number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all share options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and all
share option schemes of the Company shall not exceed 140,000,000 Shares, being 10% of
the 1,400,000,000 Shares of the Company in issue as at 12 October 2017, being the date the
Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange. The Company may issue a circular to the
Shareholders and seek approval from the Shareholders in general meeting for refreshing
the 10% limit such that the total number of Shares which may be issued upon the exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes shall not exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the date of the
approval from the Shareholders.
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The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted under the Share Option Scheme to eligible participants in any 12 months
period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue as at the date of
grant, any further grant of options in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject to the approval

of Shareholders in a general meeting.

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted under the
Share Option Scheme shall not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets on the date of grant, which must
be a trading date; (i) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading dates immediately preceding the
date of grant; or (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

A share option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme
at any time during the period to be determined and notified by the Board to the
participant at the time of making an offer for the grant of share option.

The total number of securities available for issue under the Share Option Scheme, and all
other share option schemes of the Company must not exceed 140,000,000 Shares,
representing 8.33% of the total number of Shares as at the date of this annual report.

No share options have been granted under the Share Option Scheme since 21 September
2017. An offer of the grant of a share option shall be accepted by the eligible participants
within a period of twenty-one days from the date of offer of grant of share option. The
consideration paid by each grantee for the acceptance and grant of each share option is
HK$1.00, which has to be paid within twenty-one days.

There were no options outstanding as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: nil) and
no share options were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the year ended 31
December 2023. As at 1 January 2023, the number of share options available for grant
under the Share Option Scheme was 140,000,000 share options. As at 31 December 2023,
there were 140,000,000 share options available for grant thereunder. There was no service
provider sublimit set under the Share Option Scheme. For further details of the Share
Option Scheme, please refer to the paragraph headed “D. Share Option Scheme” in
Appendix IV to the prospectus of the Company dated 28 September 2017

DONATIONS

The Group's charitable donations during the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to
approximately HK$30,000 (2022: approximately HK$30,000).

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report in relation to the Share Option Scheme, no equity-
linked agreements were entered into for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

EFEHE(R)

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the percentage of the Group’s total revenue
attributable to the Group's largest customer and the five largest customers in aggregate
accounted for approximately 51.6% and 76.6% (2022: approximately 55.9% and 83.4%)
respectively. The percentage of the Group's total purchases from the Group's largest
supplier and the five largest suppliers in aggregate accounted for approximately 38.7% and
51.0% (2022: approximately 41.0% and 72.4%) respectively for the year ended 31 December
2023.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, none of the Directors nor their close associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules), nor any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company's total number of issued Shares) had any
beneficial interest in any of the Group's five largest customers or suppliers.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS,
SUPPLIERS AND SUBCONTRACTORS

Employees

The Group has maintained good relationship with employees. In addition, the Group offers
employees competitive salaries, bonuses and other cash subsidies. In general, the Group
determines employee salaries based on each employee’s qualifications, position and
seniority. The Group has designed an annual review system to assess the performance of
employees, which forms the basis of the decisions with respect to salary increments,
bonuses and promotions.

Customers

The Group has established stable business relationship with major customers in
construction and engineering services who are mostly Government departments including
Civil Engineering and Development Department of the Government, Water Supplies
Department and Highways Department. Among the five largest customers (in terms of
revenue) during the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has been providing services
to most of them for a period ranging from four to twenty-two years. The Group will
therefore endeavour to accommodate their demands for the Group's services to the extent
that the Group's resources allow in order to capture more opportunities for larger scale
projects in the future. The Group's experience as a quality contractor in construction and
engineering industry provides the Group’s customers certain business advantages to

ensure that their projects are executed in accordance with quality standards.
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Suppliers and subcontractors

The Group maintains an internal list of approved suppliers in its construction and
engineering services. The Group carefully evaluates the performance of suppliers and select
them based on a number of factors such as their prices, quality, past performances and
timeliness of delivery. The Group will review and update the internal list of approved
suppliers according to assessment of their performances on an ongoing basis.

The Group maintains an internal list of approved subcontractors in its construction and
engineering services. The Group carefully evaluates the performance of subcontractors and
select subcontractors based on a number of factors such as their background, technical
capability, experience, fee quotations, service quality, track records, labour resources,
timeliness of delivery, reputation and safety performance. The Group will review and
update the internal list of approved subcontractors according to assessment of their
performances on an ongoing basis.

Subject to the Group's capacity, resources level, cost effectiveness, complexity of the
projects and customers’ requirements, the Group may subcontract civil engineering works
such as geotechnical works, drainage works, earthworks, concreting, formwork erection,
fixing steel bar and landscaping to other subcontractors in a project. The Group is

accountable to customers for the works subcontracted to the Group's subcontractors.

The Directors consider that the long-term business relationships with major customers,
suppliers and subcontractors would further enhance the Group’s market recognition and
enable the Group to attract more potential business opportunities.

RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance and Nation Social Security
Fund Scheme (the “SSF Scheme”) under the Nation Social Security Law of Cambodia for
our employees in Hong Kong and Cambodia respectively.

The MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to
make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap
of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest fully and
immediately with the employees once the contributions to the plan are made. As at 31
December 2023 and 2022, no forfeited contributions were available for utilisation by the
Group to reduce the existing level of contributions. Under the SSF Scheme, the employer
and its employees are required to make contributions to the plan at 4% of the employee’s
relevant income subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of KHR 1.2 million
(approximately HK$2,340). Save as the aforesaid, the Group did not participate in any other
pension schemes during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

EFEHE(R)

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Directors confirmed that the Company has maintained a
sufficient level of public float for its Shares as required under the Listing Rules during the

year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

No purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed securities was made by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles and there is no restriction
against such rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the

Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.
TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the Shareholders by
reason of their holding of the Shares. Intending holders and investors of the Company’s
shares are recommended to consult their professional advisers if they are in any doubt as
to the taxation implications (including tax relief) of subscribing for, purchasing, holding,
disposing of or dealing in shares. It is emphasised that none of the Company or its Directors
or officers will accept any responsibility for any tax effect on, or liabilities of, holders of
Shares in the Company resulting from their subscription for, purchase, holding, disposal of

or dealing in such shares.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set out
in the section headed "CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT” on pages 19 to 35 in this

annual report.
DIVIDEND POLICY

Information on the dividend policy adopted by the Company are set out in the section
headed "CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT” on page 22 in this annual report.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend any payment of final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: nil).

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had reviewed, together with the management and external auditor,
the accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group and the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2023 have been audited by Grant Thornton, who will retire and, being eligible, offer itself
for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM of the Company. A resolution for the re-
appointment of Grant Thornton as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM. There is no change in auditor of the Company since the date of the
Listing.

On behalf of the Board
Chen Zhi

Chairman and executive Director

Hong Kong, 25 March 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report
5 3L B BB iR

O GrantThornton
- H[E

To the members of Geotech Holdings Ltd.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Geotech Holdings Ltd. (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 91 to 170, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including

material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs")
issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section
of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BIEBERE (8)

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most

significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

Accounting for construction contracts

Refer to the summary of significant accounting policies in Note 2.14, Note 4a and Note 5 to

the consolidated financial statements.

Key Audit Matter

The Group recognised revenue and costs
from construction contracts amounted to
approximately HK$122,774,000 and
HK$122,534,000 respectively for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

The Group's revenue and costs of construction
contracts are recognised based on output
method by reference to the direct
measurements of the value of the services
transferred to the customer to date relative to
the remaining services promised under the
contract. The value of the services transferred
to customer to date is measured according to
the progress certificate (by reference to the
construction works certified by the customers
or their agents). When the outcome of a
construction contract cannot be estimated
reliably, contract revenue is recognised only to
the extent of contract costs incurred that are
likely to be recoverable.

How our audit addressed the Key
Audit Matter

Our audit procedures in relation to the
accounting of construction contracts

included the following:

Understood the basis of estimation
of the budgets through discussion
with the management who is
responsible for the budgeting of
the construction contracts, and
evaluated the reasonableness of
the estimated profit margins by
taking into account of the profit

margins of historical similar projects;

Inspected the key terms and
conditions of construction contracts
and verify the total contract
revenue;

Assessed and checked, on a sample
basis, the accuracy of the budgeted
construction revenue by agreeing
to contract sum or variation orders
as set out in the construction
contracts or the agreements

entered with customers;
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BIZRMERE (F)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Accounting for construction contracts (continued)

How our audit addressed the Key
Key Audit Matter Audit Matter
These transactions require the management'’s Selected, on a sample basis, the
estimation and judgement of the contract construction contracts to examine
revenue, direct cost and variation works (if project manager's budget of the
any) which may have an impact on the cost components to actual cost
construction contract and corresponding incurred, such as cost of materials,
profit margin incurred, we therefore subcontracting charges and labour
identified such as a key audit matter. costs, etc. We compared the
budgeted construction costs to
supporting documents including
but not limited to invoices,
quotations and rate of labour costs,

etc,; and

Evaluated the management'’s
assessment on the revenue
recognised of the construction
contracts, on a sample basis, based
on the latest progress certificates
issued by the customers or their
agents, including the certified
contract work and variation orders,
if any, and discussed with
management and the respective
project managers about the
progress of the projects and cost
incurred for work performed but
not certified.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Expected credit losses (“ECL") assessment of trade and other
receivables and contract assets

WA RE (&)
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ESRAEMBEBRREURGNEEZRBRE
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Refer to the summary of significant accounting policies in Note 2.7, Note 4b, Note 16 and

Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

Key Audit Matter

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's carrying
amount of trade and other receivables
(excluding prepayment) and contract assets
amounted to approximately HK$46,947,000
(net of impairment under ECL allowance of
HK$11,813,000) and HK$12,979,000 (net of
impairment under ECL allowance of
HK$19,000) respectively, accounted for
approximately 25.7% of the Group's total

assets in aggregate.

The ECL assessment of trade and other
receivables and contract assets involved
significant management’s judgement and
use of estimates to ascertain the
recoverability.

Management performed credit evaluations
for the Group's customers and assessed ECL.
These evaluations focused on the past
history, existing market conditions as well as
forward-looking estimates at the end of each
reporting period.

We have identified the ECL assessment of
trade and other receivables and contract
assets as a key audit matter because of its
significance to the consolidated financial
statements and the assessment involves
significant management’s judgement and

use of estimates in evaluation of ECL.

How our audit addressed the Key
Audit Matter

Our audit procedures in relation to the ECL
assessment of trade and other receivables
and contract assets included the following:

Understood, evaluated and
validated the design and operating
effectiveness of the controls over
impairment assessment of trade
and other receivables and contract
assets. Those controls related to
the identification of events that
triggered the provision for
impairment of receivables from
construction contracts and
estimation of the impairment
provisions;

Obtained management'’s
assessment on the collectability of
individual significant customers,
and corroborated management'’s
assessment against relevant
supporting evidence, including
credit history and financial
capability of these customers; and

Assessed the reasonableness of
management’s ECL allowance
estimates by examining the
information used by management
to form such judgements,
including testing the accuracy of
the historical default data,
evaluating whether the historical
loss rates are appropriately
adjusted based on current
economic conditions and forward-
looking information.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BIZRMERE (F)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information compirises all
the information in the 2023 annual report of the Company, but does not include the

consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is
to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or

error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic

alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagements and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and

maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or

conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner
that achieves fair presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the consolidated financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely

responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BIZRMERE (F)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

11th Floor, Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong SAR

25 March 2024

Kan Kai Ching
Practising Certificate No.: P07816
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GeEmRkAMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HILEE

2023 2022
—EB-=HF T
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FHExT FHT
(Restated)
(&)
Revenue Wz 5 134,567 281,512
Direct costs HEKAR (130,989) (277,743)
Gross profit EF 3,578 3,769
Other income H A 6 4,872 5,860
Administrative expenses THRAXZ (25,047) (23,518)
Reversal of impairment/(Impairment) under expected B 5 RE M EWGRIE 2 T
credit loss ("ECL") allowance on trade and other EEEBEERE
receivables, net &R, ORfE) FE 8 (18322)
Reversal of impairment/(Impairment) under ECL allowance EHEETEHEEBERE
on contract assets AR, CRE) 275 (39)
Finance costs BT R AR 7 (35) (42)
Loss before income tax FRPTS B Al B 1R (16,349) (32,292)
Income tax (expense)/credit Fis® (AX) 85 (17) 114
Loss for the year FRABR (16,366) (32,178)
Other comprehensive income/(expenses), net of tax Hip2mEmla (X)) @ BREi%
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently HEKTEEH I EE
to profit or loss BE2EE
Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value through ~ EAFEF AREMEEmH Y 2
other comprehensive expense SHMEEAFEKE (BB 72 (286)
Total comprehensive expense for the year attributable A2 FEHIFEABGEEAZE
to equity holders of the Company BB (16,294) (32,464)
HK cents HK cents
A4l Al
Loss per share attributable to equity holders ARG ERBFEEABLERER
of the Company
Basic and diluted AR RS 1 (0.97) (192)
The notes on pages 95 to 170 are an integral part of these consolidated financial HNESE 170 AN BNAZFHEEMBREN—H -

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

HEMBRRRER

As at 31 December 2023
RZEZ=F+=RA=+—H

2023 2022
—E-=F —F-
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Mo THERT T
(Restated)
(&%)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERAER
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BE REE 13 5,411 300
Financial assets at fair value through other BATFEGFAHMEERZ
comprehensive income ("FVOCI") EREE 15 1,072 1,000
Finance lease receivables e & E s 16 206 =
Deferred tax assets REFIHE B 22 266 98
6,955 1,398
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 K E b fE W GRIE 17 54,040 46,937
Contract assets EHEE 18 12,979 11,014
Finance lease receivables B & & UGRIE 16 261 -
Cash and bank balances e RIRITEE R 19 137,239 167,208
204,519 225,159
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables B 5 REM EFRIE 20 27,841 30374
Lease liabilities HEAE 21 729 516
Tax payable FERTEE IR 110 312
Contract liabilities aHaE 18 4,382 1,550
33,062 32,752
Net current assets REEEFE 171,457 192,407
Total assets less current liabilities EEHABERRBARS 178,412 193,805
Non-current liabilities ERBEME
Lease liabilities HEAE 21 655 =
Long service payment (“LSP") obligations RERBSEE 23 827 581
1,482 581
Net assets EEFE 176,930 193,224
CAPITAL AND RESERVES IRA R {4
Share capital f& 7 24 16,800 16,800
Reserves ik 8 25 160,130 176,424
Total equity B 176,930 193,224
Mr. Chen Zhi Mr. Qiu Dong
REFE BRER 4
Director Director
EF Ed

N E S 2170 AM B ZER A MEHRERN—&D -

The notes on pages 95 to 170 are an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

GEERZIHR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HILEE

Financial
assets Retained
Share Share Capital fair value earnings/
capital premium* reserve* reserve* (Accumulated
(Note 24) (Note 25) (Note 25) (Note 25) loss)* Total
CREE
BA  ROEE* BXREEr ATEEEBT RERIS
(FaE 24) (Bft¥25) (BftE25) (MtzE25) (REHE#E)* e
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TR TERT TERT TER TER
Balance at 1 January 2022 RZBEZ_F-A—-RAZ&H 16,800 167,66 10011 165 31,446 225,688
Loss for the year (restated) FRER(EET) - - - - (32,178) (32,178)
Other comprehensive expenses, netof tax: A 2HEHY « Br#ii% ¢
Items that may be classified subsequently ~ E# ST B 7B EEm 2 EH
to profit or loss
— Fair value loss on financial assets — RATEGAEMRE KR
at Fvod| ZEREEZATVERR - - - (286) = (286)
Total comprehensive expense FREAERLLE
for the year (restated) (&&5) - - - (286) (32,178) (32,464)
Balance at 31 December 2022 _§::¢‘|‘ A=+—-H
and 1 January 2023 (restated) “E=F-A-Rz&H
(%& 7)) 16,800 167,266 10,011 (121) (732) 193,224
Loss for the year FREE - - - - (16,366) (16,366)
Other comprehensive expenses, netof tax: A 2EHY « BrFif% ¢
Items that will not be classified RGBT EEEm A
subsequently to profit or loss
— Fair value gain on financial assets — RATEGAEMRE KR
atFvoCl ZEMEEZ AT ERS - - - 72 - 72
Total comprehensive income/(expenses)  FRZ2E Rz /(X)) B5
for the year - - - 72 (16,366) (16,294)
Balance at 31 December 2023 R-B-=%+-HA=t-H
&R 16,800 167,266 10,011 (49) (17,098) 176,930
* The reserves accounts comprise the Group's reserves of HK$160,130,000 (2022 & HEREEEAEER S _=F+_A=1+—8%

(restated): HK$176,424,000) as at 31 December 2023 in the consolidated statement

of financial position.

The notes on pages 95 to 170 are an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.

AR R AHEE 160,130,00078 7T (Z T = —4F (&
&E7I|) : 17642400078 7T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

PaS N =1
GERERER
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-F-=Ft-A=f-ALFE

2023 2022
—EB-=HF T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FH&T
(Restated)
(FEE5)
Cash flow from operating activities RELETBNRESRE
Loss before income tax MRETISTIRIE R (16,349) (32,292)
Adjustments for: T
Depreciation e 458 523
Long service payment obligations: REORBSEME -
— expenses recognised in profit or loss —RIEERER A 224 581
Finance costs B TS R AN 35 42
(Reversal of impairment)/Impairment under ECL allowance B REMBWIE 2 BHEEBER G
on trade and other receivables, net CRERRE), REF5E (8) 18322
(Reversal of impairment)/Impairment under ECL allowance EHEETREREEEBREE
on contract assets CRERR),WE (275) 39
Interest income FE A (2,490) (745)
Loss/(Gain) on disposal/write-off of property, plant and equipment & /i $E % * BE R 2EEE (k) 2 (224)
Operating loss before working capital changes EEBEASHEF 2K EEE (18,403) (13,754)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables B 5 K H A e U FIE (38 n), R A (7,034) 29,668
(Increase)/decrease in contract assets AHEE (M), W (1,690) 5,592
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 K EH b R IE R A (2,533) (41,205)
Increase in contract liabilities AHBEEM 2,832 562
Cash used in operations REmBAAE (26,828) (19,137)
Interest paid BEARFLE (13) (75)
Income tax (paid)/refunded (BfY)/BEMEH (387) 35
Net cash used in operating activities AL TR AT & F R (27,228) (19,177)
Cash flow from investing activities REREIEBNRESKE
Interest received B F B 2,490 745
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE BWERZE (4,654) (14)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment HEME  BERRZEMERIE - 273
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities REZE () ELEL FE (2,164) 1,004
Cash flow from financing activities REMETBNRESRE
Payment of lease liabilities XFHEEEE (577) (891)
Cash used in financing activity BE TR L (577) (891)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RekBSEEBWRIFHE (29,969) (19,064)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year FUHReRBEFEY 167,208 186,272
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year represented FRAGRESEEYM (NWBRLSRBITER)
by cash and bank balances (Note 19) GEIE) 137,239 167,208

The notes on pages 95 to 170 are an integral part of these consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

Geotech Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) was incorporated as an exempted
company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law (as
revised) of the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of the
registered office is Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman
KY1-1108, Cayman Islands, and its principal place of business is Unit 706-708, 7th
Floor, Tower I, Metroplaza, 223 Hing Fong Road, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong
Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company, and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in provision of construction and
engineering services, property-related services and sales of luxury products.

The Company's immediate and ultimate holding company is Star Merit Global
Limited (“Star Merit"), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the
“BVI") and wholly owned by Mr. Chen Zhi ("Mr. Chen"). The ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company is Mr. Chen.

These consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the
“Consolidated Financial Statements’) were approved for issue by the board of
directors (the “Directors”) of the Company on 25 March 2024.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 Basis of preparation

The Consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"), which is a
collective term including all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA") and the accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong.

The Consolidated financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
include the applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”).

The material accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are summarised below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented in the
consolidated financial statements. The adoption of new or amended
HKFRSs and the impacts on the Group's consolidated financial statements, if
any, are disclosed in Note 3.

mEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HILEE

—REH

BUEEZEBRARAA ([A2F]) RNHESHESREHA
EREARE(RERD MRS —HERRER
RA) EBROREEHERHMAR AR ([BRAT])

Office Park, P.O. Box 1350 * Grand Cayman KY1-1108 -
Cayman Islands * R EF B & X2 AEF B A LR
BRI K 223 5% AP & B35 2 B 718 706-708 = ©

ARAH—HEREEBRAT - HREAR (5 E
FEDIZNRERHEERTRERYE MERBR
BREGZMBEE -

ARBNEEMRRERARREBRKARRAA
(28] —HARRBERLXHE ((ZBELZRE
MR RABLHREEE((REED) ZEHESF)
AR B REERBERBREL -

BE-F-=F1+-A=+-BLFEIRSERA
MHRE (RAMBRR)ER -2 -MF=]
ST RABAAREE ((HE) RHETR -
BERETHRME

2.1 RBEHE

BEVBRRDVEREBVBEREEA(E
BHBREEN]) R EAEEEEES
A E ((EEEMAE]) BHENMEE
R ERNEEMBHEER  FEGER
(EREHEA) RREARETEARER
JRA

REMBBRRTNABERAGRIZERZ
BERAERBEREMARIIMERRAAE
FZEmRATEWRA]) 2 ERAWERE

RAZEE|UBRRARANERS K
RPARTX - ZEBREEBEARES
MB|MRM2ZINNAEFE - AR LA
BABEEMBREEN R AEE LGS B
BRZTE(WMB) BERMES -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=Ff+_HA=+—HILFE

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation (continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical
cost basis except for financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI") which are stated at fair value. The
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HKS$"), which is the functional currency of the Company, and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousands ("HK$’000"), except when otherwise
indicated.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions are used in
preparation of the consolidated financial statements. Although these
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge and judgment of
current events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those
estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity,
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporates the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries. The financial statements of the
subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an
entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power over the entity, only substantive rights relating to the entity (held by
the Group and others) are considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a subsidiary in the
consolidated financial statements from the date it gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses on
transactions between group companies are eliminated in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Where unrealised losses on sales of intra-
group asset are reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also
tested for impairment from the Group's perspective. Amounts reported in
the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary
to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.2

2.3

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is
calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of
the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest; and (ii)
the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. Where certain
assets of the subsidiary are measured at revalued amounts or fair values and
the related cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are
accounted for as if the Company had directly disposed of the related assets
(i.e., reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings).

In the Company's statement of financial position, subsidiaries are carried at
cost less any impairment loss unless the subsidiary is held for sale or
included in a disposal group. Cost also includes directly attributable costs of
investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis
of dividends received and receivable at the reporting date. All dividends
whether received out of the investee's pre or post-acquisition profits are
recognised in the Company’s profit or loss.

Joint operations

A joint arrangement is a contractual arrangement between the Group and
other parties, where they have contractually agreed to share joint control,
which exists only when decisions about relevant activities require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. A joint arrangement is
either a joint operation or a joint venture.

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint
control of the arrangement have rights to the assets, and obligations for the
liabilities, relating to the arrangement. The Group recognises its interest in
the joint operation by combining the assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses relating to its interest with similar items on a line by line basis.
Consistent accounting policies are applied for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances. The Group recognises its interest in the joint
operation from the date that joint control commences until the date on
which the Group ceases to have joint control over the joint operation.
Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its joint operations are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest
in the joint operation, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in profit or loss. When the Group ceases to have joint control
over the joint operation, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the joint operation, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised

in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

24

2.5

Foreign currency translation

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated group entities,
foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of
the individual entity using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at that date. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the reporting date
retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or
loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated (i.e. only translated
using the exchange rates at the transaction date).

When a fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also
recognised in profit or loss. When a fair value gain or loss on a non-
monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive income, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive

income.
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than cost of right-of-use assets (as
described in Note 2.11)) are initially recognised at acquisition cost, includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.
Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related
equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment. They are subsequently
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Depreciation commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of assets less their residual
values, if any over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line

method, at the following rates per annum:

Plant and machinery 30%
Motor vehicles 20% to 30%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Leasehold improvement 33'/3% to 50%
Computer and software 20% to 30%

Accounting policy for depreciation of right-of-use assets is set out in Note 2.11.

Estimates of the assets’ residual values, depreciation methods and useful
lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

25

2.6

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset
and is recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised
as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other costs, such as repairs and
maintenance, are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in
which they are incurred.

Financial instruments
Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash
flows from the financial asset expire, or when the financial asset and
substantially all of its risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is
derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.

Financial assets
Classification and initial measurement of financial assets

Except for those trade receivables and retention receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component and are measured at the
transaction price in accordance with HKFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts
with Customers”, all financial assets are initially measured at fair value, in
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"),
plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are
expensed in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income.

Financial assets, other than those designated and effective as hedging
instruments, are classified into the following categories:

— amortised cost;
— FVTPL; or

= FVOCI.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BHE"ZT=F+_A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.6 Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets
(continued)

The classification is determined by both:

— the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset; and
— the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in
profit or loss are presented within finance costs or other income, except for
expected credit losses ("ECL") of trade and other receivable and contract
asset which is presented as a separate item in profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Debt investments

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the

following conditions (and are not designated as FVTPL):

— they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold
the financial assets and collect its contractual cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. Interest income from these financial assets is
included in other income in profit or loss. Discounting is omitted where the
effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group’s cash and bank balances,
finance lease receivables and trade and other receivables fall into this
category of financial instruments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z- =+ A=t+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAESHBEME(E)
(continued)
2.6 Financial instruments (continued) 26 €RIA(E)

Financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)
Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL unless the equity
investment is not held for trading purposes and on initial recognition of the
investment, the Group elects to designate the investment at FVOCI (non-
recycling) such that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in “financial assets fair value
reserve” in equity. Such elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but only be made if the investment meets the definition of equity

from the issuer's perspective.

The equity instruments at FVOC! are not subject to impairment assessment.
The cumulative gain or loss in “financial assets fair value reserve” will not be
reclassified to profit or loss upon disposal of the equity investments, and will
be transferred to retained earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are recognised in
profit or loss when the Group's right to receive the dividends is established.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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102
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.6 Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

The Group's financial liabilities include lease liabilities and trade and other
payables.

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are recognised when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument and
are initially measured at fair value and where applicable, adjusted for

transaction costs.

Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. All interest related
charges are recognised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy
for borrowing costs (see Note 2.17).

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is
discharged or cancelled or expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability,
and the difference in the respective carrying amount is recognised in profit

or loss.
Accounting policy for lease liabilities are set out in Note 2.11.
Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are measured at initial value less the capital element of lease
repayments (see Note 2.11).

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair value and

subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest

method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.7

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets

HKFRS 9's impairment requirements use more forward-looking information
to recognise ECL — the “ECL model”. Instruments within the scope included
trade receivables, retention receivables, contract assets recognised and
measured under HKFRS 15 and other financial assets measured at amortised
cost.

The Group considers a broader range of information when assessing credit
risk and measuring ECL, including past events, current conditions,
reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the expected collectability

of the future cash flows of the instrument.
In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between:

— financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in
credit quality since initial recognition or that have low credit risk
("Stage 1"); and

— financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in credit
quality since initial recognition and whose credit risk is not low
("Stage 2").

“Stage 3" would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of

impairment at the reporting date.

“12-month ECL" are recognised for the Stage 1 category while “lifetime ECL"
are recognised for the Stage 2 category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-weighted estimate
of credit losses over the expected life of the financial instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BHE"ZT=F+_A=+—HIFE

2.

104

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.7

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Trade receivables, finance lease receivables,
retention receivables and contract assets

For trade receivables, finance lease receivables, retention receivables and
contract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL
and recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting
date. These are the expected shortfalls in contractual cash flows, considering
the potential for default at any point during the life of the financial assets. In
calculating the ECL, the Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on its historical credit loss experience and external indicators,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the

economic environment.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables, finance lease receivables, retention
receivables and contract assets have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days past due. The contract assets relate to
unbilled work in progress and have substantially the same risk
characteristics as the trade receivables for the same types of contracts. The
Group has therefore concluded that the ECL rates for trade receivables are a
reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the contract assets.

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group measures the loss allowance for other receivables measured at
amortised cost on an individual basis for significant balance and equal to
12-month ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increase in the likelihood of risk of default occurring since initial
recognition.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial assets at the reporting date with the risk of default occurring on
the financial assets at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.7

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
(continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased significantly:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial

instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk,
e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default

swap prices for the debtor;

— existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial, economic
conditions that are expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor; or

— an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological environment of the debtor that results
in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt

obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes
that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition if the
debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the end of each
reporting period. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if
it has a low risk of default, the borrower has strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfill its contractual cash
flow obligations.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.7

2.8

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
(continued)

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of
default occurs when information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collateral held
by the Group).

Detailed analysis of ECL assessment of trade receivables, retention
receivables, contract asset, finance lease receivables and other financial

assets at amortised cost are set out in Note 31.4.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets) and the
Company'’s interests in subsidiaries are subject to impairment testing. They
are tested for impairment whenever there are indications that the asset's
carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market
conditions less costs of disposal, and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment of time value
of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of assets that
generate cash inflows independently (i.e., a cash-generating unit). As a
result, some assets are tested individually for impairment and some are

tested at cash-generating unit level.

Impairment loss recognised for cash-generating units is charged pro rata to
the assets in the cash generating unit, except that the carrying amount of
an asset will not be reduced below its individual fair value less cost of
disposal, or value in use, if determinable.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in the
estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable amount and only to
the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or

amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HILEE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAESHBEME(E)
(continued)
2.9 Contract assets and contract liabilities 29 EHNEEREGHNER

FEAR SR BB R 1 BN A A0 BT 801 SR A6 R
REAMER KRR (R E214) BEREHE
BHEERMT27 B BERBHREE

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises revenue (see
Note 2.14) before being unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are assessed for Ee

ECL in accordance with the policy set out in Note 2.7 and are reclassified to EiEm T WAEREEMKAEGRER
receivables when the right to the consideration has become unconditional BE#H o BERYGRIE (RHE26) °

(see Note 2.6).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays consideration AEEBRAEBALER  SNBBERPX

1&15 HTﬁEWL (ﬁﬂﬁﬁz W4)

before the Group recognises the related revenue (see Note 2.14). A contract

o ALK B AN E

liability would also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to 16 14 12 7S 5= [ T 7R A i 2 A MO ER (R (B - Bl
receive consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In EHBENEERER - £/EH \EJ?/DL—F - AERERE

KRR TN S B RERR (R FRE26) ©

such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised (see Note
26).

RERZPHNE—GHOME FANEEIF
BHABERNUEY - RHEHEHM E OviEl
BHMBHEERGHNBENDFREEZRY -

Q10 BERBELSEEY

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract asset or a net
contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts, contract assets and
contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

2.10 Cash and cash equivalents

Re MR

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand, demand
deposits with banks and short term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value.

2.11 Leases

(@) Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee

At inception of a contract, the Group considers whether a contract
is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as “a contract, or part of a
contract, that conveys the right to use an identified asset (the
underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration”.
To apply this definition, the Group assesses whether the contract

SEPBERTERRTARS -
RITIE BT SR R 2 B HA EIF%—(IHEXLAT :
T&EMR%EE%H%(%EEE%EF@“
BRONEHSERBIERE o

2.11 #HE

(@ HEEERASEEZ/FEBAA

REKFRGEE  AEEZEEANSSE
FEEHE HAEEERIGOHESH
—&kD @%%EE%&%U%E(*E%@%E)E@
—REEMERAEARIKE]
RZEE  AEEFNEENE f—?é,

meets three key evaluations which are whether: T+ E5Tl -
—  the contract contains an identified asset, which is either — BHREGBSEHMNEE HRN
explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified by AHPRAESRRSEANEER]

being identified at the time the asset is made available to
the Group;
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2.

108

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.11 Leases (continued)

(a)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee
(continued)

— the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from use of the identified asset
throughout the period of use, considering its rights within
the defined scope of the contract; and

— the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified
asset throughout the period of use. The Group assess
whether it has the right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’

the asset is used throughout the period of use.

For contracts that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease and non-lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices for
certain classes of assets if the non-lease components were material.

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use
asset and a lease liability on the consolidated statement of financial
position. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made
up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct
costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset at the end of the lease, and any
lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement date
(net of any lease incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis
from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the end of the
useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term
unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership at the
end of the lease term. The Group also assesses the right-of-use asset
(except for those meeting the definition of investment properties)

for impairment when such indicator exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability
at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at that date,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate
cannot be readily determined, the Group's incremental borrowing
rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (F)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.11 Leases (continued)

(a)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee
(continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee
(continued)

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability
are made up of fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable payments
based on an index or rate, and amounts expected to be payable
under a residual value guarantee. The lease payments also include
the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payment of penalties for terminating a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for
lease payments made and increased for interest cost on the lease
liability. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or lease
modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments.

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is
reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-

use asset is already reduced to zero.

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases using the
practical expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset and
lease liability, the payments in relation to these leases are recognised
as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of twelve month

or less.

On the consolidated statement of financial position, right-of-use
assets have been included in “property, plant and equipment’, the
same line as it presents the underlying assets of the same nature

that it owns.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.11 Leases (continued)

(b)

The Group as a lessor

As a lessor, the Group classifies its leases as either operating or
finance leases.

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying
asset, and classified as an operating lease if it does not.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head
lease and the sub-leases as two separate contracts. The sub-leases
are classified as a finance or operating lease with reference to the
right- of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to
the underlying asset. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which
the Group applies the short-term lease exemption, then the Group
classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.

The Group sub-leases some of its premises and the sub-lease
contracts are classified as finance lease.

Assets leased out under operating leases as the
lessor

Assets leased out under operating leases are measured and
presented according to the nature of the assets. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added
to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an
expense over the lease term on the same basis as the rental income.

Rental income receivable from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the periods covered by the
lease term, except where an alternative basis is more representative
of the time pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of the
leased asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HILEE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAESHBEME(E)
(continued)

212 BE  BAREBEBERRAREE

2.12 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent

assets

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or
constructive) as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect
the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
uncertain events not wholly within the control of the Group, are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

An onerous contract exists when the Group has a contract under which the
unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed
the economic benefits expected to be received from the contract.
Provisions for onerous contracts are measured at the present value of the
lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and the net cost of
fulfilling the contract (which includes both incremental costs and an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that contract).

2.13 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is determined using
the nominal value of shares that have been issued. Any transaction costs
associated with the issuing of shares (net of any related income tax benefit)
to the extent they are incremental costs directly attributable to the equity

transaction are deducted from the share premium.

e 2% 52 B [ 38 1 =R 1 1 2 A R BR B A TE S i
ERME METZEETRANRSIREEE
IR - WAL SEHE S R 2R - RIERR
MG - AERZEREEDEEA - RIEE
BROTZEERAMBRXZRESIR -

A RERE®RE B EERRA L EHAR
IARBRE B 2 SR Efb A

&SR EBERBARZ AT K - SR
RUSENEEZREEZER ZATERE
RIRAE RIFEBEBEERMAKZ AR
HEE - BERE(ARTFRRAEERE R
K ZRIET R MAE BRI R F MW iEE R
ERER)TERBERARNEE @ BRIFEEL
EERRKZ AT REMEARIE o

MAEEFTERNMA KT HEKREBMHA
AT PR AR TR ER S B & A0 W B B 48 B A
@b AABEEAH - BRES OBBIRK
LERAMBHKRAREITEONKAFE(E
FEIEIE R AR N B R 1T & #) B AR R B EL Al K
AW HE) WREENREE -

2.13 A&

EEEDBERER BRARE BHITRONE
BEEE - BETRNDGHEZERNRSKAE
B IR % B 0 - I00R = (E AR B B AR S A
BE EXZGRAARZARARRZHEEKE
1l Z ARIBRC TN

BusaERamRas/ 03k 111



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAESHBEBE(E)
(continued)

2.14 Revenue recognition 214 WA

112

Revenue arises mainly from the contracts for the construction services.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a 5-step

process:

1. Identifying the contract with a customer;

2. |dentifying the performance obligations;

3. Determining the transaction price;

4. Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations; and

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are
satisfied.

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated amongst
the various performance obligations based on their relative stand-alone
selling prices. The transaction price for a contract excludes any amounts
collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when (or as)
the Group satisfies performance obligations by transferring the promised

goods or services to its customers.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition
policies are as follows:

Construction contracts

Revenue from construction contracts are recognised over time as the
Group's performance creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls which referred as the designated areas where the construction
work services performed. The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value of the
services transferred to the customer to date relative to the remaining
services promised under the contract, that best depict the Group’s
performance in transferring control of services. The value of the services
transferred to customer to date is measured according to the progress
certificate (by reference to the construction works certified by the
customers or their agents).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z- =+ A=t+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAESHBEME(E)
(continued)

2.14 WM (E)

2.14 Revenue recognition (continued)

Construction contracts (continued)

Contract costs are recognised when incurred. When the outcome of a
construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is
recognised only to the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be
recoverable.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are estimated to exceed
the remaining amount of the consideration under the contract, a provision
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets".

The Group generally provides warranties for repairs to any construction
defects and does not provide extended warranties in its construction
contract with customers. As such, most existing warranties are considered
as assurance-type warranties under HKFRS 15, which are accounted for
under HKAS 37. Retention receivables are reclassified to trade receivables
when the retention period expires.

Sales income

Revenue from the sales of watches for a fixed fee is recognised when or as
the Company transfers control of the assets to the customer. Invoices for

goods transferred are due upon receipt by the customer.
Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective
interest method. For financial assets measured at amortised cost that are
not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the assets. For credit-impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of impairment under ECL allowance) of the asset.

Rental income

Accounting policies for rental income are set out in Note 2.11.

Property management Consultancy service income
The performance obligation to provide the property management

consultancy service income are satisfied over time. Revenue is recognised
over time on time proportion basis.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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2.

114

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.15 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there
is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the Group will
comply with all attached conditions. Government grants are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period necessary to match them with
the costs that the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to income is presented in gross under “Other
income” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income.

2.16 Employee benefits

Retirement benefits

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through defined
contribution plans. In addition, the employees employed under the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance are also entitled to long service payment
("LSP") if the eligibility criteria are met. The LSP are defined benefits plans.

(a) Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit plan
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for all of
its employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’

basic salaries.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as
employees render services during the year. The Group's obligations
under these plans are limited to the fixed percentage contributions
payable.

There were no contributions forfeited by the Group on behalf of its
employees who left the plan prior to vesting fully in such
contribution, nor had there been any utilisation of such forfeited
contributions to reduce future contributions. As at 31 December
2023 and 2022, no forfeited contributions were available for

utilisation by the Group to reduce the existing level of contributions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (F)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.16 Employee benefits (continued)

Retirement benefits (continued)

(b)

Defined benefit plans

The amount of long service benefit that an employee will receive on
cessation of employment in certain circumstances is defined by
reference to the employee’s length of service and corresponding
salary. The legal obligations for any benefits remains with the Group.

The LSP obligations recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position is the present value of the LSP obligation at the
end of the reporting period.

Management estimates the LSP obligations annually. This is based
on the discount rate, the salary growth rate, turnover rate and the
expected investment return on offsetable MPF accrued benefits.
Discount factors are determined close to the end of each annual
reporting period by reference to high quality corporate bonds that
are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid
and have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related
defined benefit liability.

Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

service cost (including current and past service cost, and

gains and losses on curtailments and settlements);

net interest expense or income; and
remeasurement.

Service cost on the Group’s defined benefit plan is included in
employee benefits expense. Employee contributions, all of which
are independent of the number of years of service, are treated as a
reduction of service cost.

Net interest expense on the net defined benefit liability is included
in employee benefits expenses.

Gains and losses resulting from remeasurements of the net defined
benefit liability, comprising actuarial gains and losses, are included
in other comprehensive income and are not reclassified to profit or
loss in subsequent periods.

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BHE"ZT=F+_A=+—HIFE

2.

116

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.16 Employee benefits (continued)

Retirement benefits (continued)

(b) Defined benefit plans (continued)
Short-term employee benefits
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability
for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to

the reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave and

maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

2.17 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income earned on the
temporary investment of the specific borrowings, for the acquisition,
construction or production of any qualifying asset are capitalised during the
period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its
intended use. A qualifying asset is an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale. Other
borrowing costs are expensed when incurred.

2.18 Accounting for income taxes

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or
claims from, fiscal authorities relating to the current or prior reporting
period, that are unpaid at the reporting date. They are calculated according
to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the fiscal periods to which they
relate, based on the taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax
assets or liabilities are recognised as a component of tax expense in profit or
loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary
differences at the reporting date between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities in the financial statements and their respective tax bases.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other unused
tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit, including
existing taxable temporary differences, will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits
can be utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z- =+ A=t+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAESHBEME(E)
(continued)

218 FiS RS EE (H)

2.18 Accounting for income taxes (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither taxable nor accounting profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the
lease liabilities, the Group applies the requirements in HKAS 12 to the lease
liabilities and the related assets separately. The Group recognises a deferred
tax asset related to the lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary
differences.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period the liability is settled or the asset realised,
provided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in profit or loss, or
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity if they relate to items
that are charged or credited to other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

When different tax rates apply to different levels of taxable income, deferred
tax assets and liabilities are measured using the average tax rates that are
expected to apply to the taxable income of the periods in which the
temporary differences are expected to reverse.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=Ff+_HA=+—HILFE

2.

118

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.18 Accounting for income taxes (continued)

The determination of the average tax rates requires an estimation of (i)
when the existing temporary differences will reverse and (i) the amount of
future taxable profit in those years. The estimate of future taxable profit
includes:

— income or loss excluding reversals of temporary differences; and

— reversals of existing temporary differences.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented in net if, and only
if,

(@ the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off the recognised

amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities in net if,
and only if,

(@ the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities; and

(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to

income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either:

(0] the same taxable entity; or

(ii) different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or

assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

GEOTECHHOLDINGSLTD. / ANNUALREPORT 2023

BERETHRBE (H)

218 FiS RS EE ()

EETHREFZEMAOERFERZES
RO R ()ZEFENRRERDETN SR
RIRFERTURR GBS -

— HBEEHEZFEDOBALER: &
— HRATREZEEDRK-

B4 78 4 2 SED A BT B R AR DA TR
AFE25 -

@ AEBREBRBIMITEAASERER
SR &

(b) FENFREELERRAREREER
BEARE-
AREBEERATERAFELIRERIRE
EERERIAGE

@  RERBEORARBIFITER LA
HEELNARAAEEHE &

(b) EEHBEELRTEHRAREBELERE
— T RSHE R L A T (7] — TE AU A P
(L

@) Fl—ERTER %

(i  FEREREHME (MBBER
% 5 8 0 1S 408 [ KRR RO IR
EHIABEREE) OFRERE
BEAHHE A EEEEKR R
BIREERBER BN TR ER

e
HER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z- =+ A=t+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAESHBEME(E)
(continued)
2.19 Segment reporting 2.19 DB E

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment
information based on the regular internal financial information reported to
the chief operating decision maker (the “CODM") for their decisions about
resources allocation to the Group’s business components and for their
review of the performance of those components. The business components
in the internal financial information reported to the executive directors,
being the CODM are determined following the Group’s major services lines.

The Group has identified the following reportable segments:

©) Construction and engineering services;

(b) Property-related services and

(@ Sales of luxury products.

Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each of the
service lines requires different resources as well as marketing approaches.
All inter-segment transfers are carried out at arm’s length prices.

The measurement policies that the Group used for reporting segment
results under HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” are the same as those used in
its financial statements prepared under HKFRSs, except that the following
items are not included in arriving at the operating results of the operating

segment:

— income tax; and

— corporate income and expenses which are not directly attributable
to the business activities of any operating segment.

Segment assets include all assets but financial assets at FVOCI and corporate
assets which are not directly attributable to the business activities of any
operating segment and are not allocated to a segment, and which primarily
applies to the Group’s headquarters.

Segment liabilities exclude corporate liabilities which are not directly
attributable to the business activities of any operating segment and are not
allocated to a segment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=Ff+_HA=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.20 Related parties

For the purposes of the consolidated financial statements, a party is considered to

be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and if that

person:

0}

(i)

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a
parent of the Group.

(b) the party is an entity and if any of the following conditions applies:

0]

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is
an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in

(@);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides
key management personnel services to the Group or to the parent
of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family members who may be

expected to influence, or be influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the

entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z- =+ A=t+—HIFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRSs 3. EMHIRKBIETRMBHREE
|
3.1 New and amended HKFRSs that are effective for 3 R=ZE-=5—-—A-HHBEBEE
annual periods beginning on 1 January 2023 HEERZHITRKETERY
B &2
In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the following RAFE AEBEAEAATHESSE
new and amended HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, which are relevant to the M AEBM 2] RCIEFT B BT RE L
Group's operations and effective for the Group's consolidated financial B - B AEBEERR T _=F—HA—
statements for the annual period beginning on 1 January 2023 H 1R < F /B A AR & T 53R R B A -
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and related ERMBRELENE 1759 REBEHRBEBIETTAR
amendments
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies EREFHENEIRRE BIRREE
and HKFRS Practice BT RAER
Statement 2 %11 EVEACTHEN)
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates BB GFERE S BEtAETC EE
CHES)
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and BHGEERIE 125 HE-—RFGEEZ
Liabilities arising from a Single CCHEN) BEERBEEH
Transaction B IR E A TR
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar Two B R ERE125% ERRTERE —
Model Rules BEIAR) F o AEERR A
Except for those mentioned below, the adoption of the new and amended B SR & Al - BRARET AT RASIERT BB Y
HKFRSs had no material impact on how the results and financial position for BREENHAARARBESRE 2 ZE KM
the current and prior periods have been prepared and presented. BRRAZRERZVN T AW ESERZE -
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice EBESTERNE1EREBUER
Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting Policies” HENEBBEAE 257 (BFIR)[E

ST BURE |

The amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose material accounting BEBGEERE1H (BT A) ERERBREY
policy information instead of significant accounting policies in its financial BRETFREEASHTRREHMIEETESR
statements. Accounting policy information is material if, when considered FTIBUR o fin 32 A B B B 755 ¥R 5 P 3k HL th & R
together with other information included in an entity’s financial statements, —HERK S BREHNTSERHGR
it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users Z—BRRAEHBRENEEFTREREZS
of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial MBREELNATE  BIZBTHREERB
staternents. The amendments also provide some guidance on how material BR - ZEEET N O BB EARNBURE #
policy information are being identified and provide some examples of when RALE TI85| 1R HL & 51 BUR & BHAl B B]
accounting policy information is likely to be material. = EDNC0RN I
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BHE"ZT=F+_A=+—HIFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRSs
(continued)

3.1

122

New and amended HKFRSs that are effective for
annual periods beginning on 1 January 2023
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting Policies”
(continued)

In March 2021, HKICPA issued HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making
Materiality Judgements” to provide entities with non-mandatory guidance
on how to make materiality judgements when preparing their general
purpose financial statements in accordance with HKFRS. HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 was subsequently revised to provide guidance and examples

on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures.

The amendments to HKAS 1 are applied by the Group on 1 January 2023
and are applied prospectively. The amendments have no impact on the
Group's financial positions and performance but has affected the
accounting policies disclosures as set out in note 2 to the consolidated

financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 “Definition of Accounting
Estimates”

The amendments clarify how entities should distinguish changes in
accounting policies from changes in accounting estimates by introducing a
definition for accounting estimates, which is now defined as “monetary
amounts in the financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty”.

Besides, the amendments also clarify the relationship between accounting
policies and accounting estimates by specifying that an entity develops an
accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out by an accounting
policy. Accounting estimates typically involve the use of judgements or
assumptions based on latest available reliable information. A change in
accounting estimate that results from new information or new
development is not correction of an error. Therefore, the effects of a change
in an input or a measurement technique used to develop an accounting
estimate are changes in accounting estimates if they do not result from the
correction of prior period errors. In addition, two illustrative examples are
added to illustrate how to apply the new definition of accounting estimates.

The amendments are applied by the Group on 1 January 2023 and are
applied prospectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z- =+ A=t+—HIFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRSs 3. RMFFIRKEITERAMBEREE
(continued) =]

il

3.1 New and amended HKFRSs that are effective for 31 R==E=

annual periods beginning on 1 January 2023
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 — Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

The amendments clarify that the initial recognition exemption of deferred
tax in HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” does not apply to transactions that give rise
to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences, such as lease
contracts that give rise to the recognition of a lease liability and the
corresponding right-of-use assets and contracts that give rise to the
recognition of decommissioning obligations and corresponding amounts
recognised as assets. Instead, entities are required to recognise the related
deferred tax asset and liability on initial recognition, with the recognition of
any deferred tax asset being subject to the recoverability criteria in HKAS 12
“Income Taxes".

The Group adopted the amendments from 1 January 2023 and are required
to recognise the associated deferred tax assets and liabilities from leases
that occurred on or after 1 January 2022, with any cumulative effect
recognised as an adjustment to retained profits at that date.

The amendments have no impact on the consolidated financial statement

of the Group as no right-of-use asset and lease liability are recognised.

Amendments to HKAS 12 — International Tax
Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules

The amendments provide mandatory temporary relief from accounting for
deferred tax arising from the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development’s Pillar Two model rules (i.e. global minimum tax rules
designed to ensure that large multinational business pay a minimum
effective rate of tax of 15% on profits in all countries) ("Pillar Two Model
Rules”). Entities shall apply this temporary exception immediately and
retrospectively upon issuance of the amendments and disclose the fact of

the application.

Besides, the amendments also introduce additional disclosure requirements
to help users of financial statements to understand an entity’s exposure to
income taxes arising from the Pillar Two Model Rules. These disclosure are
required in periods in which the legislation for Pillar Two Model Rules is
enacted or substantially enacted but not yet in effect in annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

The amendments have no impact on the consolidated financial statements
because the Group does not fall into the scope of the Pillar Two Model
Rules.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=Ff+_HA=+—HILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRSs 3.
(continued)

3.2 Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements,
certain new and amended HKFRSs have been published but are not yet
effective, and have not been adopted early by the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint

124

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21

Venture?

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments

to Hong Kong Interpretation 5'

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants'
Supplier Finance Arrangements'

Lack of exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

? Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

: Effective date not yet determined

The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements will be adopted in

the Group's accounting policy for the first period beginning on or after the

effective date of the pronouncement. The directors are in the process of

making an assessment of the impact of other new and amended HKFRSs

but not yet in the position to ascertain their impact on the Group's

consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRSs
(continued)

33

New HKICPA guidance on the accounting
implication of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism

As disclosed in note 23 to consolidated financial statement, In June 2022,
the Hong Kong SAR Government (the “Government’) gazetted the Hong
Kong Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting
Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment
Ordinance”), which will take effect on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date").
The Amendment Ordinance abolishes the use of the accrued benefits
derived from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to offset LSP in
respect of an employee’s service from the Transition Date (the “Abolition”).
In addition, the last month’s salary immediately preceding the Transition
Date is used to calculate the portion of the LSP in respect of the

employment period before the Transition Date.

Prior to 1 January 2023, the Group applied practical expedient in paragraph
93(b) of HKAS 19
MPF benefits as deemed employee contributions to reduce the current

(the "Practical Expedient”) to account for the offsetable

service costs in the period in which the related services were rendered.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications of the abolition
of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong” (“the Guidance”) that
provides guidance for the accounting for the offsetting mechanism and the

impact arising from the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism.

By following the Guidance, the Group has changed its accounting policy in
connection with its LSP obligations. As a result of the Abolition, these
contributions are no longer considered “linked solely to the employee’s
service in that period” since the mandatory employer MPF contribution after
the Transition Date can still be used to offset the pre-transition LSP
obligation. Therefore, the Group ceased to apply the Practical Expedient
and reattribute the deemed employee contributions to periods of service in
the same manner as the gross LSP benefit by applying paragraph 93(a) of
HKAS 192. This change in accounting policy upon the cessation in applying
the Practical Expedient has resulted in a catch-up adjustment in profit or
loss in June 2022 for the service cost up to that date and consequential
impacts on current service cost, interest expense and remeasurement
effects from changes in actuarial assumptions for the rest of 2022 (see note
23), with the corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the LSP
obligations during the year ended 31 December 2022. This change in
accounting policy did not have any impact on the opening balance of
equity at 1 January 2022. It also did not have a material impact on the
company-level statements of financial position as at 31 December 2022 and
31 December 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRSs

3. BRMHITREEIEREUBREE

(continued) Al (%)

3.3 New HKICPA guidance on the accounting 33 FERES —REBRBSE PH
implication of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism Heagst X ENHERBEFMD
(continued) 2535l (8])

This change in accounting policy has been applied retrospectively by e RREHEEREN T __F+=
restating the balances as at 31 December 2022. The following table AR=+—HBHH&EHREBAEA - T RBLME A
summarises the impacts of the adoption of the Guidance on the el AKEGEEsREMME2EKER K
comparatives presented in the Group's consolidated statement of profit or HRATBRRARTEINLERBEENTE -
loss and other comprehensive income and consolidated statement of
financial position.
Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December R-B-——F+ZF=+—HZHEEHEHM
2022 R &
Restated
Carrying carrying
amount as at Impact of amount as at
31 December 2022 adoption of the 31 December 2022
(before the adoption) HKICPA guidance (after the adoption)
i e RANEE RZTZ—F
+=ZA=+—H E.quEm +=ZA=+—H
ZBREE NE ] I ES|REE
(ER A8 AT) 2B (FR#a1z)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FET FH&T
Non-current liabilities ERBEME
Long service payment obligations RERGEEE - (581) (581)
Non-current assets FREBEE
Deferred tax asset BEFIBEE 2 % 98
Reserves R
Accumulated losses BitEiE (247) (485) (732)
Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive BE-_E-__—F+-F=+—HILFEZ#H
income for year ended 31 December 2022 &8z RE M2 E W F*
Impact of
Original amount adoption of the Restated amount
(before the adoption) HKICPA guidance (after the adoption)
R&HE AN E S G ETAM KES| R
(ER @A) REES|l 28 (FR#1g)
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FH&T
Administrative expenses THRAX 22,937 581 23518
Income tax credit FrigBiE R (18) (96) (114)
Loss for the year FANEE 31,693 485 32,178
HK cents HK cents HK cents
7l AL A
Loss per share BREE
Basic and diluted loss per share BREAREEEE 1.89 0.03 192
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HILEE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRSs 3. RMHTRKEIBTRBYBREE
(continued) Al (%)
3.3 New HKICPA guidance on the accounting 33 FERES —RERBSEH PH
implication of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism FlzEBRENTEESTMA
(continued) 2155 (&)

TERBARAESIHAEEARE_T_=F
T-A=t-HALFEZEEBREREME
E R REEMBIRRER 2 FE (HAKE
TEERE RS BRRLEEERBEES
FHERIFE 19575 93 ) R ATTRETA)

The following table summarises the impacts of the adoption of the
Guidance on the Group's consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and consolidated statement of financial position for
the year ended 31 December 2023, if the Group had not changed its
accounting policy as noted above and had continued to apply the practical
expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19:

R-ZFB-=F+ZHA=+—-HZHEEHHEM

Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December

2023 R&E
Carrying Carrying
amountas at Impact of amount as at

31 December 2023 adoption ofthe 31 December 2023
(before the adoption) HKICPA guidance (after the adoption)

R=B==F B R=ZTB=-=%
+=HA=+—H BEBGEA +=A=+-—8H
ZEREE AgHEL ZREE
(ER#nAT) % (FR4n%)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FExT
Non-current liabilities FRBEME
Long service payment obligations RHREEET - (827) (827)
Non-current assets IRBEE
Deferred tax asset BEBIEEE 129 137 266
Reserves R
Accumulated losses REtEE (16,408) (690) (17,098)
Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive BE-_E_=F+-A=1+—HLFEZH
income for year ended 31 December 2023 Az REMEE K=&
Impact of
Amount before adoption of the Amount after
the adoption HKICPA guidance the adoption
RPE BT
RppI &5 NEESIZ¥E RweeH
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT F#&xT FERT
Administrative expenses THRAZ 24,823 224 25,047
Finance costs %N 13 22 35
Income tax (credit)/expenses Frisfi (%) Bx 58 (41) 17
Loss for the year FRNEE 16,161 205 16,366
HK cents HK cents HK cents
Al Al Al
Loss per share BREE
Basic and diluted loss per share BREAREEEE 0.96 0.01 0.97
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FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BHE"ZT=F+_A=+—HIFE

128

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are set out in Note 2,

the management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions

about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent

from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on

historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual

results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the

estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the

revision and future period if the revision affects both current and future periods.

(a)

Critical accounting judgements

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see Note 4(b)), that the management has made in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Construction contracts

As explained in Note 2.14, revenue recognition on a project is dependent
on management's estimation of the total outcome of the construction
contracts, with reference to the progress certificates issued by the
customers or their agents. The Group reviews and revises the estimates of
contract revenue, contract costs and variation orders (if any), prepared for
each construction contract as the contract progresses. Budgeted
construction costs are prepared by management on the basis of quotations
from time to time provided by the major contractors, suppliers or vendors
involved and the experience of management. In order to keep the budget
accurate and up-to-date, management conducts periodic reviews of the
budgeted construction costs by comparing the budgeted amounts to the
actual costs incurred. When the outcome of a construction contract cannot
be estimated reliably (uncertified work or unagreed income), contract
revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract costs incurred that are

likely to be recoverable.

Significant judgement is required in estimating the contract revenue,
contract costs and variation work (if any) which may have an impact on
progress of the construction contracts and the corresponding profit taken.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(a)

Critical accounting judgements (continued)
Construction contracts (continued)

Management exercised their judgements and estimated contract costs and
revenues with reference to the latest available information, which includes
detailed contract sum and works performed. In many cases the results
reflect the expected outcome of long-term contractual obligations which
span more than one reporting period. Contract costs and revenues are
affected by a variety of uncertainties that depend on the outcome of future
events and often need to be revised as events unfold and uncertainties are
resolved. The estimates of contract costs and revenues are updated
regularly and significant changes are highlighted through established
internal review procedures. In particular, the internal reviews focus on the
timing and recognition of payments and the age and recoverability of any
uncertified work and unagreed income from variations to the contract
scope or claims. The impact of the changes in accounting estimates is then
reflected in the ongoing results. Details of the contract assets and contract
liabilities are disclosed in Note 18.

Determination of the lease term in lease contracts
and discount rate

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and
circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an extension

options, or not exercise a termination option. Factors considered include:

contractual terms and conditions for the optional periods compared
with market rates (e.g. whether the amount of payments in the
optional periods is below the market rates);

the extent of leasehold improvements undertaken by the Group;
and

costs relating to termination of the lease (e.g. relocation costs, costs
of identifying another underlying asset suitable for the Group's
needs).

Extension options (or periods after termination options) are only included in
the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not
terminated), which in turn affect the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and
corresponding right-of-use assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE

4.

130

—EC=F+TA=T+—HILEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Critical accounting judgements (continued)

Determination of the lease term in lease contracts
and discount rate (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, all extension options in leases of
offices have not been included in determination of the lease liability
because the Group could replace the assets without significant cost.

In addition, the Group exercised considerable judgement in relation to
determining the discount rate taking into account the nature of the
underlying assets and the terms and conditions of the leases, at both the

commencement date and effective date of the modification.
Estimate uncertainty

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

Estimation of impairment of trade and other
receivables and contract assets within the scope of
ECL

The Group makes allowances on items subject to ECL (including trade and
other receivables and contract assets) based on assumptions about risk of
default and expected credit loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well as
forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting period as set out in
Note 2.7 and Note 31.4. As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate carrying
amounts of trade and other receivables (excluding prepayment) and
contract assets amounted to HK$46,947,000 (net of ECL allowance of
HK$11,813,000) (31 December 2022: HK$28,135,000 (net of ECL allowance of
HK$25,921,000)) and HK$ 12,979,000 (net of ECL allowance of HK$19,000) (31
December 2022: HK$11,014,000 (net of ECL allowance of HK$294,000))
respectively. Details of the trade and other receivables and contract assets
are disclosed in Note 17 and Note 18 respectively.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. When the actual
future cash flows are different from expected, such difference will impact
the carrying amount of trade receivables and other items within the scope
of ECL under HKFRS 9 and credit losses in the periods in which such

estimate has been changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(b)

Estimate uncertainty (continued)
Estimation of LSP obligations

Management's estimate of the LSP obligations is based on a number of
critical underlying assumptions such as the discount rate, the salary growth
rate, turnover rate and the expected investment return on offsetable MPF
accrued benefits. Variation in these assumptions may significantly impact
the LSP obligations amount and the annual defined benefit expenses

amount.

Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying amount of LSP
obligations.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of LSP obligations are
HK$827,000 (2022 (restated): HK$581,000). Details of key assumptions and
impact of possible changes in key assumptions are disclosed in note 23.

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a)

Revenue

The Group's principal activities are disclosed in note 1 of the consolidated

financial statements.

Revenue recognised for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are

as follows:

4.
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HK$’000 HK$'000

FHBT T

Construction and engineering services EER TERSE 122,774 273,420
Property-related services Y1) 2 48 R AR % 8,412 8,092
Sales of luxury products EEmIEE 3,381 =
134,567 281,512

The performance obligations of revenue of the Group from construction
and engineering services and property related services are satisfied over
time, and the sales of luxury products is at a point in time.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

132

(continued)

(b)

Segment information

The Group's operating activities are attributable to construction and
engineering services and property-related services. During the year ended
31 December 2023, the sales of luxury products becoming a new reporting
segment of the Group. The Group commence its business in sales of luxury
products during the year to further diversify its revenue base and introduce
a new source of income from the business.

The Group organised its business units based on its segment purposes and
the internal management reports are prepared in accordance with
accounting policies which conform to HKFRSs as further described in Note
2.19, which is regularly reviewed by the executive directors, being the
CODM, for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance. The CODM has identified construction and engineering
services, property-related services and sales of the luxury products as
reportable segments.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

5. WERDBER (&)

(b)

7 ERE

AEENELEEDREZERTIZRBE LY
FHEERE - BE-ZT-_=F+-"A=+—
BULEFE EFRHEEXRAREENHTE
BOE - ARBRFARREEMEER
RUE—TZ I BEREREER  WHEZ
R B AFTRARIR

AEBEREADFBNB D EBHELL - RAE
EEREDRBRTEBEMEREED (&
— FRON M TE219) M SRR B E B
HATES (T BEERERE)EH UD
RERMFIHEIHRER - TERERKERD
HREERTERY WERBRBEEEZ
mIHE R 2N -

BE-_ET_=F+-A=1+—-LtFE

Construction Property- Sales of

and engineering related luxury
services services products Total

BEER L/ ES EEm
IRRE FEBA R 7 HE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET

Reportable segment revenue Tl 2 5 Fpuk =

— From external customers — RBEIBEF 122,774 8,412 3,381 134,567
Reportable segment results (Note) T 23R 2 2B ¥4 (M &) (10,600) 1,270 506 (8,824)
Unallocated corporate income AOBRAREA 1,903
Unallocated corporate expenses ROBEARIZ (9,428)
Loss before income tax K ET1S R Rl ES 18 (16,349)

GEOTECHHOLDINGSLTD. / ANNUALREPORT 2023



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HILEE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WERSMER &)
(continued)
(b) Segmentinformation (continued) (b) DHFER (&)
Note: fisE -
Construction
and Property- Sales of
engineering related luxury
services services products Unallocated Total
BEER L/ EEm
IER® AE B AR A HE Ko B st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FET FET FET
Amounts included in the measure FTADBEEEN SR
of segment results
— Bank interest income — RITFIBHA 564 25 - 1,901 2,490
— Reversal of impairment under ECL —AREEZHEHRREE
allowance on contract assets EREERERER 275 - - - 275
— Depreciation of non-financial assets — FEREENE (446) (8) - (4) (458)
— Reversal of impairment under ECL — B 5 R EMEWRFRIA
allowance on trade and other TEEEEEEEE
receivables, net T E R EF R 8 - - - 8
— Loss on disposal of plant and equipment  — 1 & &5 M2 E518 (2) - - - (2)
— Expenses arising from LSP obligations — RERBEEEME
ErEH (159) (49) (M (15) (224)
— Finance costs — B AR (32) (2) - (1) (35)
Other segment item HitnMEAR
Additions to non-current segment assets ARBIMBDEEE 5,571 - - - 5,571
As at 31 December 2023 R=B-=F+=-H=+—H
Construction
and Property- Sales of
engineering related luxury
services services products Unallocated Total
BER L/ES EEm
IRR% AR R A% SHE KA E Bet
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THET FTHET THET THET
Reportable segment assets 2D HEE 116,158 6,281 4,692 84,343 211,474
Reportable segment liabilities A2fHHAaE 31,983 79 1,149 1,333 34,544
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. lERDMER A)
(continued)
(b) Segment information (continued) (b) DHER (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 (restated) BE_FT__F1+-F=1+—HIEFE (KEZ)
Construction Property-
and engineering related
services services Total
BER TERS L EE 5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT T T
Reportable segment revenue 25 B
— From external customers — RBEIBEF 273,420 8,092 281,512
Reportable segment results 2D BEE
(restated) (Note) (REF) (M=) (24,207) 1,992 (22,215)
Unallocated corporate income RABRFRA 616
Unallocated corporate expenses RAOBERRIZH (KET)
(restated) (10,693)
Loss before income tax (restated) MRETEBIRTEE (K E5) (32,292)
Note: B EE -
Construction
and Property-
engineering related
services services Unallocated Total
EER L/ES
TR 8 B AR 75 ROBL “Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBT FHBT FAT FHAT
Amounts included in the measure AN BEEAERN SR
of segment results
— Bank interest income — RITFBHA 200 1 544 745
— Impairment under ECL allowance on — ANEEZRBEERSE
contract assets BB RE 39) = = (39)
— Depreciation of non-financial assets — M EENE (506) ©) 8) (523)
— Impairment under ECL allowance on trade — B 5 % H th e YR IE T8 A7
and other receivables, net EEEERERESE (18,322) = = (18,322)
— Gain on disposal of plant and equipment — HERE k& E K 224 - - 224
— Expenses arising from LSP obligations — REARBEEEMELD
(restated) 2/ (&) (493) (73) (15) (581)
— Finance costs — B (42) = = 42
Other segment item HitmpHEA
Additions to non-current segment assets ARBIERDDHEE 14 - - 14
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HILEE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WERSMER &)
(continued)
(b) Segment information (continued) (b) DHFER (&)
As at 31 December 2022 (i d) R-F-—F+-H=+—H(EE)
Construction Property-
and engineering related
services services Unallocated Total
BEARTIZRE  WEEBRS RO Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBT FHT FHT FHBIT
Reportable segment assets AI2MOBEE 119,241 5211 102,105 226,557
Reportable segment liabilities AE2fHHEE 31,591 424 1318 33,333
Geographical information ih 32 & R
The Group's revenue from external customers based on the location of the AEBRBINDEF WS IZEBFFIEM R
operation is derived solely in Hong Kong (place of domicile). Most non- HoEBEELEERS (REME) - AEEKRE
current assets of the Group based on the location of assets are located in EMTHRESHARTDIERDEEMRE
Hong Kong. Accordingly, no segment analysis by geographical information o Bt W25 IBERMIERN S B D
is presented. # o
Information about major customers FREXTEEFNEHR
Revenue from customers which individually contributed over 10% of the 8 RIME 78 5= B U 2 HR 8 10% B & 5 W s 0 51 2
Group's revenue is as follows: ™
2023 2022
—EB-=HF T
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ExT FHT
Construction and engineering services segment BEERIRRBES A0
— Customer A —&FA 21,690 35,184
— Customer B — %P8 69,443 157,230
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. lERDMER A)
(continued)
(c) Disaggregation of revenue from type of projects () REEBEBEINKEDE
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-E-_=F1+=-A=1+—HILFE
Construction Property- Sales of
and engineering related luxury
services services products Total
BEER
IER%E WEMEBARY EERHEE #et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET F#ET F#E T FERT
Private sector project FL& AR B 5,011 8,412 - 13,423
Public sector project NEEBPIIE B 117,763 - - 117,763
Individuals A - - 3,381 3,381
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE—E-—F+-HA=+—HILFE
Construction Sales
and engineering Property- of luxury
services related services products Total
BER
TR YRS ZEmEE HaEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&IT FHT TR FHIT
Private sector project AERFIIEER 12,404 8,092 = 20,496
Public sector project NEEPIEB 261,016 - - 261,016
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HILEE

OTHER INCOME 6. HAKA
2023 2022
—EB-=HF —F-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Consultancy fee income ERERKA 414 265
Rental income from lease of machinery HE#ENES KA 60 72
Material charges income MEE A 1,185 1,193
Safety consultancy income =2 EE A 91 227
Bank interest income RITH B HBA 2,490 745
Interest income from finance lease receivables (Note 16) BEAMBEEWFERNEWA (HzE16) 5 -
Government grant (Note (i) R A8 G (PR3 G)) - 1,756
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEWE - BERXEKE - 224
Exchange gain FE 5 Wz 29 =
Sundry income (Note (ii) HETEUA (BT 5 Gi)) 598 1,378
4,872 5,860
Notes: B &
(0} During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recognised subsidies of () REBEE-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—HILEE &X&

approximately HK$1,756,000 in relation to the Employment Support Scheme
under the Anti-epidemic Fund launched by the Government of HKSAR to provide
wage subsidies to employers for three months to retain the current employees or
employ more staff when the business revives as soon as the epidemic situation
permits. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to the grant.

(if) Sundry income mainly represented service charges of approximately HK$529,000 (ii)
(2022: approximately HK$851,000) paid by subcontractors requesting the Group’s
assistance in the procurement of labour for the construction projects.

B3 BB AT R B AT HE A PR UR E IR T AR
2 5 EIFERR 491,756,000 78 T #E B - LAMIE E 12
H=EANTEMBE  ERBEAFANERT %
BREEBRINEGERBREFBEESZRT - 18
HEZ SR AR AR ERZ R AEE -

MEWAZEZES BHERAEB B ERFRE
TR A 2 8 TS89 AR 3% & #9529,00078 7T (= F
— 4 : 49851,00087T) °

FINANCE COSTS 7. WA

2023 2022

—EB-=HF T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHAT
Finance charge on lease liabilities HEBBENREER 13 42
Net interest expense on LSP obligations KHRHS € EENF B RZFE 22 -
35 42
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

8. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

Loss before income tax is stated after charging/(crediting):

8. BRFTEHBATEIR

BATSBATBEE IR, GtA) AT &R :

2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
(restated)
(rR &%)
(a)  Staff costs (including Directors’ remuneration (a) EIXK(BFEEEME
(Note 12(a)) (MizE12(a))
Salaries, fee, wages and allowances e e TEKERL 28,949 26,481
Discretionary bonuses B IEAL 610 985
Retirement scheme contributions RARET SR 779 676
Expenses arising from LSP obligations (Note 23) RERBESEEMELENER (FTaE23) 224 581
Staff costs (including Directors’ remuneration) ETIRN(BRESHE)
(Note) (B =E) 30,562 28,723
(b)  Otheritems (b) HftEH
Depreciation, included in: AR S IEHE -
Direct costs BN
— Owned assets —BEEE 292 177
Administrative expenses 1TERZ
— Owned assets — BREE 166 335
— Right-of-use assets — EREEE - 11
458 523
Short term leases REEE 572 486
Subcontracting charges (included in direct costs) ABERAXZ (FFABEBERKA) 109,072 259,628
Loss/(Gain) on disposal of property, plant and HEWME - MR REFHEREE ()
equipment 2 (224)
Auditors’ remuneration = BT BN & 1,003 1,174
(Reversal of impairment)/Impairment under ECL BREEZBHREEEERE
allowance on contract asset CRERD),®E (275) 39
(Reversal of impairment)/Impairment under ECL B 5 REMBEWIE 2 BHREEEE
allowance on trade and other receivables, net B ORERE),REFE (8) 18,322
Note:  Staff costs (including Directors’ remuneration) Mzt : EIRA(BEESHS)
2023 2022
—ECo=HF —Eo—F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
THET FHT
(restated)
€3=27))
Direct costs HERA 12,284 11,087
Administrative expenses TE A 18,278 17,636
30,562 28,723
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

FEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z- =+ A=t+—HIFE

Frewipsx(E%)

2023 2022
—EB-=HF —F-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT T
(restated)
(#=E%)
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBNSTRE
— Current tax — BIEARSIE 191 155
— Over provision in respect of prior years — BEFERERE (6) (82)
185 73
Deferred tax (Note 22) RIERIE (M5 22) (168) (187)
Income tax expense/(credit) for the year FERFREHRAY(GER) 17 (114)

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong for the year ended 31
December 2023 and 2022, except that the Group's qualified entity is calculated in
accordance with the two-tiered profit tax rates regime and the profits tax of other
group entities in Hong Kong which are not qualified for the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime will continue to be taxed at the flat rate of 16.5%. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2,000,000 of profits of qualifying corporations
will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%.

No provision for overseas profit tax has been made as the Group had no assessable
profits generated in overseas operation during the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: nil).

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the loss before income tax per the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
follows:

REE-T-_=FR-_FT-__F+=ZA=+—HIit
FE - ABMNERERBREBE LN MG ERTR
FZ165%TMEFAE  BRASECERELERERRK
FIFSHESEAEN AEBHEOREERFE
MRH TSR ENEREEIZR165%8] —Fi X
BTG - RARGFEHEEFNET  GERE
B2 /9 B 2,000,000 7% JT 4 Il FE 12 8.25% K B R A - i
2,000,000 78 7T LA Y FIJ Bl fE 1% 16.5% R FR ©

MARAEE L ENBINELEEBRDGHN - R
HEZZ_=F+-_A=+—HILFELEFLE
SNRIBTB B (T —F : ) °

iFe A KA it 2 d S R A A BIR B ER TS
RIS R S RRE AN T

2023 2022

—Eg-= T —F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHT

(restated)

(r &%)

Loss before income tax BrPT1S T AT B 18 (16,349) (32,292)

Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rates of 16.5% BREBFERRE165%T ERTIE (2,697) (5,328)
Tax concession under two tier tax at Hong Kong Profits 1R TS5 = FH 8.25% 51 & A R AR TR

Tax rates of 8.25% BETHRBES (109) (170)

Tax effect of expense not deductible for tax purpose IR F A HUB G X I 2 1,570 3215

Tax effect of non-taxable income DA B RA RN 2 (330) 412)

Tax losses not recognised RIERW TS E B 1,670 2,675

Over provision in respect of prior years BEFERBBEE (6) (82)

Tax effect of temporary difference not recognised REREREEBEORETE (81) (27)

Others EAh - 15

Income tax expense/(credit) for the year FNEHRAS(Ez) 17 (114)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BH=E

10.

11.

140

—EC=F+TA=T+—HILEE

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 31 December 2023, nor has
any dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period (2022: nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to equity holders of the
Company is based on the following:

10.

11.

@S

HE-_E-_=F+-_A=+—BHIFEIEE [k
EZRETORE  BREHREBINEZZIRNMSEMR
BE(ZE=Z=F : &) -

BREE
DA E AL TR EAE BRI
HiE

2023 2022
—EB-=HF T
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#E T FHAT
(restated)
(FEE5)
Loss [ E]
Loss for the year attributable to equity holders of AR ERFFEAEBEFAEE
the Company (16,366) (32,178)
‘000 ‘000
TR T A%
Number of shares RGOEE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares LR INRE T 1,680,000 1,680,000

The calculation of the basic loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2023 is
based on the loss for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company of
approximately HK$16,366,000 (2022 (restated): approximately HK$32,178,000) and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares 1,680,000,000 (2022:
1,680,000,000) in issue during the year.

There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares during the years ended 31

December 2023 and 2022 and therefore, diluted loss per share equals to basic loss

per share.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_Z- =+ A=t+—HIFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

REZETBAEFWNRAEEEK
AL

) EBERFETHASHE
EEMEREETRA @Eﬁﬂ%

383(1) & &= & R #R 5l (T&&%%?ﬂﬁnﬁﬂ)
I EHT|AT

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

Remuneration of the Directors disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules,
section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies Regulation (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors), is as follows:

Salaries, Retirement
allowances Discretionary scheme
Fee and benefits bonuses  contributions Total
EER B E
ik REA MERA R @zt
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THET TET TEL TET
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-Z-_=#+-A=t-HL%FE
Executive Directors: HITESE -
Mr. Chen Rk - 1,200 - 18 1,218
Mr. Qiu Dong BREE - 600 - 18 618
Independent non-executive Directors: BUHNTEE -
Mr. Chan Tsang Mo BUEH % A& 180 - - - 180
Mr. Shen Zejing m;@m 23 240 - - - 240
Mr. So Wai Man (Note (i) B R %A (FEq) 165 - - - 165
Ms. Yip Wai Ching (Note (i) % = gt (B EE() 15 - - - 15
600 1,800 - 36 2,436
Salaries, Retirement
allowances  Discretionary scheme
Fee  and benefits bonuses  contributions Total
e 2 RN E
ik AR [l=pra 3K @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT THT THT THT
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-Z-__F+-A=t-HL%EE
Executive Directors: HITEE -
Mr. Chen ik - 1,200 - 18 1218
Mr. Qiu Dong Eﬂﬁﬁ’j{ - 600 - 18 618
Mr. Kung Ho Man (Note (i) BRI SOSE A (B R G) - 1,740 - 17 1757
Independent non-executive Directors: BUFHITEE -
Mr. Chan Tsang Mo BRI R LA 180 - - = 180
Mr. Shen Zejing TR & 240 - - - 240
Mr. So Wai Man FERLE 180 - - - 180
600 3,540 = 53 4,193

Note: B o -

[0 Mr. So Wai Man resigned on 1 December 2023 as an independent non- 0] %ﬂﬁ%f‘ﬁ%ﬁé‘:g‘/iiiJF:ﬁ —HEE
executive Director of the Company, and Ms. Yip Wai Ching was ZE? ﬂf’ﬁ} #iﬂ_ﬁ§$ ’ @%%ﬁ%i
appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company LN :;ﬁ—f%WL—H —BEZERARF
on 1 December 2023. BYFRTES -

(ii) Reappointed on 25 November 2020 and resigned on 30 November 2022 (if) RZF_TF+—A-+h AEHERR

- —F4 A=+ HBERLARH
TERERTRAE - EHMTREREE
TR B H B -

as an Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. His
remuneration also includes his service as Chief Executive Officer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ 12. %
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID =
INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a)

(continued)

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the above Directors as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

There were no arrangements under which a director waived or agreed to
waive any remuneration during the year (2022: nil).

(b) Five highest paid individuals (b)

The five highest paid individuals of the Group include one (2022: two)
Directors for the year ended 31 December 2023, whose emoluments are
disclosed in Note 12(a). The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the
remaining four (2022: three) individuals are as follows:

ERFTETHRAEFHRARE
ME A+ ()
EERERTHRAEME (&)

BE-_ZE-_=fR-_ZT-_—F+=-A=+—
BIEEE AEBWERU EEEI A EM
B < 15 A H 0 A ZS & B 3k 0 A AN 5 B 14 ) 82
Bk (E AR B 4B S O 1R 18 -

FRN EEMETLEALTHERERRER
BEEMGMWN (B _—F : &) -

EEREMEAL

BE-_ZT_=F+-_A=+—BLEELE
ENA4eEaMeAtBE —REE (=T
ZoF ) BEOMeBRERME
2@ - BASK TG (ZTEZ2F: =%) At
W< AR -

2023 2022

—E-=F T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Salaries, fee and allowances e e KOER 5,460 2,984
Discretionary bonuses BIEIEAL 255 208
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET B 72 53
5,787 3,245

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

e ELATEE :

Number of individuals

A
2023 2022
—B-=fF T
Emolument banks: < & E -
Nil-HK$ 1,000,000 =2 1,000,000 7T - 1
HK$1,000,001-HKS$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 7% 7T & 1,500,000 78 7T 2 2
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 7T & 2,000,000 78 7T 2 -

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the above highest paid individuals as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office as a
Director or management of any members of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HILEE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. Y% - BERZE
Premises held Motor
under leases Plantand vehicles Furniture  Leasehold Computer
(Note)  machinery (Note)  andfixtures improvement andsoftware Total
REAE
BRZNE BER RE RAR  HEWNE ElR
(Hrid) #H (k3] %E %8 B4 &zt

HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK§'000
T TR TR TiET TR TiETL TETL

Cost A
Asat 1 January 2022 R=Z--%-f-AH 1814 1118 333 1193 308 510 8,266
Additions HE - 3 - 1 - - 14
Disposals/Written off HE/ (1814) (327) (881) (463) - (280) (3765)
Asat 31 December 2022 RIBZ-F+-A=+-H - 794 2442 741 308 230 4515
Asat 1 January 2023 W-E-=%#—f—-H - 794 2,442 ™ 308 230 4,515
Additions AE 917 1,006 1,057 430 1,073 1,088 5,571
Disposals/White-off &/ - - (678) (45) - (13) (736)
As at 31 December 2023 R=2-=%+-B=t+-A 917 1,800 2,821 1126 1,381 1,305 9,350
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 25t ERHE
Asat 1 January 2022 i St s el =| (1,802) (1,092) (2941) (1,044) (94) (435) (7408)
Charge for the year FEXM (12) (17) (287) 3) (129) (39) (523)
Depreciation write-back upon RHE/ MERTERD
disposals/write-off 1814 327 848 447 - 280 3716
Asat 31 December 2022 R=B-Z£+ZA=1-H = (782) (2380) (640) (219) (194) (4215)
Asat 1 January 2023 R-ZZ-=%-f-H - (782) (2,380) (640) (219) (194) (4,215)
Charge for the year FEXH - (38) (92) (46) (149) (133) (458)
Depreciation write-back upon REE/ MERTERD
disposals/write-off - - 678 45 - n 734
Asat 31 December 2023 RZBZ=#+Zf=+-H - (820) (1,794) (641) (368) (316) (3,939)
Net book value RERE
Asat 31 December 2023 RZBZ=f+Zf=1-H 917 980 1,027 485 1,013 989 5,411
As at 31 December 2022 RZE-—F+-A=+-H - 12 62 101 89 36 300
Note: As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets e : RZT=F+=-A=+—HB FAEEEYER
in relation to premises and motor vehicles are HK$917,000 (2022: HKSNil) and AERBENEREEEZREESD B A 9170007
HKSNil (2022: HK$62,000) respectively. The depreciation charge for the year (=% 77¢ THIT) REBT(ZE=ZF -
ended 31 December 2023 of the Group's right-of-use assets in relation to 6200087T) cBE_T-_=F+=-_A=+—H1t
premises and motor vehicles are HKSNil (2022: HK$12,000) and HK$Nil (2022: FE AEFENERTBEEBENEREEER
HK$159,000) respectively. As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of the EERASAAZTHBIT(ZEZZF : 120004 7T)
Group's motor vehicles of HK$Nil (31 December 2022: HK$62,000) are pledged REEATL(ZE - —F:159000E7L) - N
under leases. Z=F+TZA=1+—B AKEAERAEBETHE

T(ZE=Z=F+=A=+—H : 620005 ) 18
B EL R

Based on the Group's assessment, no impairment provision (2022: no impairment BERNEENTE T _=F+=_A=+—H "
provision) was recognised in profit or loss to write down the carrying amounts of WEERIB=ER ﬁ@%‘éﬁ (ZE=—F: \ERE
these items of property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2023. ) - UMORZEYE - BE REHER 2 REE -
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FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=Ff+_HA=+—HILFE

14. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 14. RSB AR 2ER
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as RZE_=FR_F__F+-_A=+—HZFxEZ
follows: B RARIFFIEHIIMAT :
Place of
incorporation/ Issued and
establishment fully paid up share Equity interest
Company name and operation  Type of legal entity capital/Registered attributable to the Group Principal activities
HMEL/
RIREE BRTREEH
NAEH HE EARBEL HRBA/ERER rEBEARE TEER
Indirectly held
BERE
Geotech Engineering Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company HK$10,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of construction and engineering services
INERBRAR BB ARAT 100000007 7 REERER TR
GeoResources Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company HK$10,000 100% 100%  Provision of trading, design and engineering services
GeoResources Limited it BRAR 10000770 REE 5 Rt RIERRHE
Richway Construction Engineering Limited  Hong Kong Limited liability company HKS1 100% 100% Provision of construction and engineering services
ENRETIRERAR i BRAR AT RERERTRERRS
Yau Wing Construction & Engineering Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company HKS1 100% 100%  Provision of construction and engineering services
ARBRETRARAR &h BRAR AT RERERTRRS
Nova Management Services Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company HKS1 100% 100%  Provision of property-related services
MEERRBARAR &k BRAR 1B REDFEERS
Nova Luxe Global Limited (Previously known  Hong Kong Limited liability company HKS1 100% 100%  Provision of sales of luxury products
as: Nova Construction Services Limited)
BRERMRRERAT Bk ARAT 187 REEGEREE
(R& MERERBERAR)
Chen Xu Jian Zhu Construction Decoration  Kingdom of Limited liability company KHR3,940 million/ 100% 100%  Provision of construction and decoration services
Engineering (Cambodia) Co, Ltd. Cambodia KHR3,940 million

(2022: KHR3,800 million/
KHR3,800 million)

REECEEEEHIRERARY XEEIE ERAA 3,94000000037 8/ RIERERE KRS
39400000003 @
(ZB-ZfF:
380000000037 8/
3800,0000003% )
15. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 15. BATEFAHMEZEKEZEH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME BE
2023 2022
—E-= —T -4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Unlisted securities — Unit Trust Fund ELEMES — BftES 1,072 1,000
The fair value of the Group's financial assets at FVOC| has been measured as REBRATEFAEMZARENEREEZR
described in Note 31.6. FED RN 316 T T AGHE ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HILEE

16. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES 16. REHESEEKRKE
The maturity analysis of the undiscounted lease payments receivables from finance RERMEMEZ ARBREUEENKRZENHE DT
leases are as follows: NN
2023 2022
== —=F-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ExT FHIT
Total undiscounted lease payments receivables: RENIR PN S K485
Within one year —FR 276 -
After one year but within two years —FREMFA 210 -
486 =
Unearned interest income RERELR S A (19) =
Present value of the finance lease receivable MERSRKREZRE 467 =
Present value of the finance lease receivables: REAERYRIEZRE
Within one year —FR 261 =
After one year but within two years —FRERFA 206 -
467 -
Less: portion due within one year included under B R—FREBHS GIRRBEENR)
current assets (261) =
Portion due after one year included under R—FEINBNED GIRIERBDEEN)
non-current assets 206 -
Movements in finance lease receivables BMEHEREKREZEE
2023 2022
—EB=HF —ZE-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Balance as at 1 January RN—A—Bz#&& - =
Addition NE 528 -
Receipts R (66) =
Interest income from finance lease receivables (Note 6) AT E YR IE A S A (st 6) 5 -
Balance as at 31 December RTZA=+—Bz#&# 467 =
The finance lease receivables represent the sublease arrangement entered by the pﬁ BEHERKRFEBEEASERYERESBREFILLZ
Group with subcontractors in respect of premises typically run for an initial period DIELH - —RUFBE2FEIF - FEEELT

of 2 years to 3 years. The leases do not include contingent rentals and variable lease

payments. The subleases are entered with the same terms of the respective head-

leases and no gain or loss recognised from the deemed disposal of the right-of-use

assets from the head-leases. The sublease arrangement was started during the year

ended 31 December 2023.

BREXAESRAUTEEENK - 2 DIZEZTHE
WERZEFETL - AEETHOZERREE
BIEHEEHEBRRERER - DHELHFRBE—
T =F+-A=+—BILFERR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BHE"ZT=F+_A=+—HIFE

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 17. EZREMEWKE
2023 2022
—E-=F T
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT THT
Trade receivables B 5 EWGRIA 9,595 3,542
Less: impairment under ECL allowance o REEEEERERE (217) (60)
9,378 3,482
Retention receivables ERRE S 12,559 12,759
Other receivables (Note (i)) H fth fE UL B (BT E () 21,074 19,293
Prepayment (Note (ii)) TEAS R IE (B2 (i) 7,093 8,899
Utility and other deposits NAEEREMES 1,167 1133
Less: impairment under ECL allowance o TR EEEREERE (9,173) (9,338)
32,720 32,746
Amount due from joint operators (Note (i) JEUR A& & 4% & 75 3038 (M 7 Gii)) 14,365 27,232
Less: impairment under ECL allowance (Note (iv)) B BRI EE BB R ERE () (2,423) (16,523)
11,942 10,709
54,040 46,937
Notes: sk -
0} Other receivables include materials and expenses of slope work contracts paid on (i) HtERREEEAYBERIAREIRANH

146

behalf of subcontractors, for which expenses are recharged to subcontractors.

(if) Prepayment mainly represent advance payment to sub-contractors
approximately HK$4,970,000 (2022: HK$8,337,000) paid for the working capital.

(ii) The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(iv) Due to the financial status of one of the joint operators with an uncertain position
for the coming future, the management of the Group conducted an impairment
assessment on the amount due from the joint operator approximately
HK$16,372,000 impairment under ECL allowance was recognised during year
ended 31 December 2022 and the relevant amount HK$14,100,000 has been
written off during 31 December 2023. According to the joint operation contract,
the management of the Group considers it is not impaired for the proportion of
the joint bank account attributable to the Group, approximately HK$4,416,000
(2022: HK$806,000). The Group has taken the follow-up actions for the amount
due further.

The Directors consider that the fair values of trade and other receivables are not
materially different from their carrying amounts, because their balances have short
maturity periods on their inception.

At the end of the reporting date, the Group reviewed trade receivables, retention
receivables and other receivables for evidence of impairment on collective basis.
Based on ECL assessment, impairment under ECL allowance of HK$11,813,000 has
been recognised as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: HK$25,921,000). For
details of the ECL assessment, please refer to Note 31.4.
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vy EBEREP—BEEEE T I BRI AR RILET
AR AEEEEEYURIRE S LS RIBET
WAL RBEE_ZE-_—&+-A=+—H81t
F [E TR TE B 5 B 5 18 B % RUE £ 16,372,000
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T8 14,100000 8 TC - IRIEGE 64 AEEEEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HILEE

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 17. ESREMERKE (&)
Trade receivables E S EWRIE
Based on the invoice dates, the ageing analysis of the trade receivables, net of BEEZEH - 5 EKHIE(NREREE SR
impairment under ECL allowance, is as follows: HRE) R DI T -
2023 2022
—EB-= —_ =
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&xT FHIT
0-30 days 0%£30H 5,411 3,137
31-60 days 31E60H 2,145 251
61-90 days 61290 H 1,822 -
Over 90 days B3 90 H - 94
9,378 3482
The movements in the impairment under ECL allowance on trade receivables are as B ZREWFIE EREEERREREZEEHI T
follows:
2023 2022
—ZEC-= ===
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#E T FH&T
Balance as at 1 January R—A—Bz#&# 60 697
ECL allowance recognised during the year RERNERBEREEEBRE 157 -
ECL allowance reversed during the year REREEBBREEEBEE - (637)
Balance as at 31 December R+tZA=+—B2&#% 217 60
Retention receivables ERRES
Retention receivables represents certified contract payments in respect of works BURREBEEBEETIENERIZAAIE -
performed, for which payments are withheld by customers for retention purposes, EFRFEHEFBINERBEAE FEPRERA
and the amount retained is withheld on each payment up to a maximum amount REBHIHREBHRE ZacEREANSENE
calculated on a prescribed percentage of the contract sum. EBDLLEEHE -
The retention receivables were expected to be recovered/settled as follows: EUR B S TBHRE, EFHS T ¢
2023 2022
—EB-= —_ =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHIT
Due within one year R—FEREIH 1,226 1,713
Due after one year R—FEEIH 11,333 11,046
12,559 12,759
Retention receivables are interest-free and repayable approximately one year after FBURRBEARERRELRBEEREHERELN—
the expiry of the maintenance period of construction projects. FREE -
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FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=Ff+_HA=+—HILFE

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 17. B3 REMERKIE (&)
Retention receivables (continued) EBRERE < (&)
The movements in the impairment under ECL allowance on retention receivables BURRBEZBHEEBEREBREREZHHIINT

are as follows:

2023 2022
—EB-=HF T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Balance as at 1 January N—A—Bz#&& 127 254
ECL allowance reversed during the year RENEETEHREEEBERE (90) (127)
Balance as at 31 December R+ A=+—B2#&#% 37 127
Other receivables H th fE W R IE
The movements in the impairment under ECL allowance on other receivables are Hib el I8 v TEH = BB EREREZHHI WO T
as follows:
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
KR ERR 924 At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FERT FHExT
Balance as at 1 January 2022 NR-ZEBE-_—_F—A—HBH2&% 248 6,400 2,336 8,984
Amount write-off during the year R A EE & 58 - - (2,336) (2,336)
Reclass BHOE (151) 151 = =
ECL allowance recognised RENERZ BHREEEE
during the year B 114 18972 = 19,086
Balance as at 31 December 2022 and E/\ T _F+ZA=+—HK
1 January 2023 T =F—A—BZ&EH 211 25,523 = 25,734
Reclass BMHH - (14,100) 14,100 -
Amount write-off during the year RERNME SR - - (14,100) (14,100)
ECL allowance reversed during the year A4 N# [l 2 8 Hi(E B E 18 # H 75) = = (75)
Balance as at 31 December 2023 R-B-=F+=-HA=+—HZ
REER 136 11,423 - 11,559
As at 31 December 2022, a company winding up petition has been filed against a R-EBE-_—HF+-_HA=+—"H AEE " ZLEK
joint operator of the Group, the Group consider to impair the amount due from the EHWIREATEREF AEEHEKREESRS
joint operator, and ECL allowance of HK$16,372, 000 has been recognised based on FRBEEZEETRE YCEBEEEHREHREEE
lifetime ECL (i.e. Stage 2). As at 31 December 2023, due to the financial situation of 18 (BN —BEER) MR T8 Hi{= B E5 18 B 48 16,372,000 78
the joint operator still unstable, the Group considered HK$14,100,000 under Stage 2 T - R-ZBE-=F+=-HA=1+—H BHREEKE
reclassed to Stage 3, and being write off during the year. R BERADATE  NEBRAE R TH
14100000 B TEEHMHERFE=RER  TRFAT
SAH 3 o
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the relevant amount included in other BEE_ZE-_—_F+_-_A=t—BLEFEE FTAHEM
receivables of HK$2,336,000 has been written off due to the debtor was liquidated. FE U X IE 9 48 78 & %8 2,336,00076 7T B B & 75 A B &
ifn # 85 o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

18. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES

18.1 Contract assets

18.

FEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HILEE

EHNEEREBHNERE
181 AHEE

2023 2022

—EB-=HF — T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHT
Contract assets arising from construction contracts BEGNEENENEE 12,998 11,308
Less: impairment under ECL allowance B EHEEEERERE (19) (294)
12,979 11,014

The amount of contract assets is expected to be recovered/settled within

one year.

At the end of the reporting date, the Group reviewed contract assets for
evidence of impairment on collective basis. Based on ECL assessment,
impairment under ECL allowance of HK$19,000 has been recognised as at
31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: HK$294,000). For details of the ECL

assessment, please refer to Note 31.4.

The movements in the impairment under ECL allowance on contract assets

ARNEESHEBEHBR —FRRE LS -

RBER  AEEEBBTIHENEER
BHEERERR - REBEHEEBETG - »
—E =+ A=+ HBAEHEEE
BEBERE1900ET(ZE=__F+=A4
=+—H : 2940008 7T) - EABHEEEE
A B AE2EME34

BRBEZHEHGEEREREREZSET

are as follows: wm
2023 2022
—EB-=HF —ET-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Balance as at 1 January R—A—Bz#&s 294 255
ECL allowance recognised during the year RENERZ BHREEEBRE - 39
ECL allowance reversed during the year RENEEE 2 BHREEEBRE (275) =
Balance as at 31 December RTZA=+—Bz#&# 19 294
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FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=Ff+_HA=+—HILFE

18. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES
(continued)

18.2 Contract liabilities

18. ENEEREGNEE (A)

182 BHER

2023 2022
== —_=F-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Contract liabilities arising from construction contracts BESABONNREER
from billings in advance of performance aHaE 4,382 1,550

All of the contract liabilities are expected to be recovered/settled within one
year.

The increase of contract liabilities during the year ended 31 December 2023
is mainly due to the increase in obligation to perform construction work
services to certain customers for which the Group has received

considerations from those customers at the end of the reporting period.

FIEaNEEERHRN —FRRE 45 -

BE_Z-_=F+-A=+—BIEFEEN
BERRDEIZHNAEEN RS HRKE
KEETEFPHRE ERAREEFPETH
RETRIRFBZEBEM

Movements in contract liabilities BHNEEZEH
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT T
Balance as at 1 January R—RA—Bz & 1,550 988
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of recognising R E AR W s BB GT A FE )
revenue during the year that was included in the EHEENENEERD
contract liabilities at the beginning of the year (1,942) (370)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of billing in e )& B AT OB L
advance of construction activities EHBEEM 4,774 932
Balance as at 31 December R+-—A=+—Bz&&% 4,382 1,550

Unsatisfied long-term construction contracts

The transaction price allocated to the remaining unsatisfied or partially
satisfied performance obligations as at 31 December are as follows:

ARERRMEESY

RTZA=+—BEERTREKRED
BEKRBHEEZRZEREINNT

2023 2022

—E'-= T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Within one year R—FA 75,791 59,285
More than one year BB —F 103,355 6,697
179,146 65,982
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

19. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

FEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HILEE

19. BERBITHEER

2023 2022

—E-=F T
HK$’000 HKS$'000
THERT T
Cash at bank (Note 28 (b)) RITER 2 (MH5E28(00)) 137,202 167,188
Cash on hand FERE 37 20
137,239 167,208

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

The Directors consider that the fair values of cash at bank are not materially

different from their carrying amounts, because their balances have short maturity

periods on their inception.

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

RITHESRIEE B RITERNERFBH RS -

EZRA ROUASHATERAREELESK
ZR  FARZEHEHERGERESEENE B -

20. ESREHMENRIE

2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FBxT FHAT

Trade payables (Note (i)) B 5 A E (KRR ) 9,108 7,108
Retention payables (Note (ii)) ERES 11,653 15,229
Accruals and other payables (Note (iii)) FEATE A I L A B A5 3R 3B (B = i) 7,080 8,037
27,841 30,374

All amounts are short-term and hence, the carrying values of the Group’s trade
payables, retention payables and accruals and other payables are considered to be

a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Ageing analysis of trade payables based on the invoices date is as follows:

FERBEAREY At AEEEZRNHEA &
NRE R BB B R E e 518 M AR E(E AR
RAFENAIEALUE

B S RNFURRER A REDITHIIAT

2023 2022
—EB-=F T
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT THT
0-30 days 0&30H 7,018 2911
31-60 days 31260H 371 71
61-90 days 61290 H 883 986
Over 90 days B3890 B 836 3,140
9,108 7,108
Notes: B 3T :
(i) Payment terms granted by suppliers are 30 to 60 days from the invoice date of (i) HEBRTONREREAEEEBENSEZAY
the relevant purchases. #E30ZE60H °
(ii) Retention payables are interest-free and settled in accordance with the terms of (ii) ERREEARE  WIRIEES B ENNIERESH -

the respective contracts.

(iii) Accruals and other payables include amount of accrued salary and bonus

approximately HK$1,301,000 (31 December 2022: HK$3,726,000).

(i)  FEEEAREMBENRBEERET TS RICAR
TH#A 1,301,000 T (ZE__F+=_A=+—0 :
3,726000787C) °
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FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BHE"ZT=F+_A=+—HIFE

21.

152

LEASE LIABILITIES

The analysis of the Group's lease liabilities is as follows:

HESE

AEBENEERBENDTHEIIMAT

2023 2022
== T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Total minimum lease payments: HEBERN KB -
Within one year —FR 756 525
After one year but within two years —FREMFA 690 -
1,446 525
Future finance charges R B 75 & A (62) ©)
Present value of lease obligation HERERE 1,384 516
Present value of minimum lease payment: HERERNHKRME :
Within one year —FR 729 516
After one year but within two years —FRERFA 655 -
1,384 516
Less: portion due within one year included under current —FRBEHEH S
liabilities GIRREEEA) (729) (516)
Portion due after one year included under non-current —FRIBNH D
liabilities (FIRERB A EA) 655 -

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had lease arrangements for motor
vehicles. These lease periods are for 2 to 3 years. At the end of the lease term, the
Group has the option to purchase the leased motor vehicles at a price that is
expected to be sufficiently lower than the fair value of the leased asset at the end of
the lease. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.

No lease of motor vehicles are held by the Group in trust but used by and belong

to subcontractors or their nominators as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

As at 31 December 2023, 3 (31 December 2022: 2) of the leases are for use of office
or workshop premises for 1.5 to 2 years. The Group makes fixed payments during
the contract periods.

The leases are effectively secured by the underlying assets as the rights to the
leased assets would be converted to the lessor in the event of default by repayment
by the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the total cash outflows for the leases are
HK$1,162,000 (2022: HK$1,452,000). The sublease arrangement was expired during
the year ended 31 December 2023 and the Group did not renew the sublease
arrangement.
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22.

23.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

DEFERRED TAXATION

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and (assets) and recognised in the

22.

FEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HILEE

AR

@i_YZ:E&_$::¢+*HE+*E¢¢

consolidated statement of the financial position during the years ended 31 I EA,mAEﬁf&ﬁﬁxﬂiWﬁﬁﬁEw BIERIEEER (B
December 2023 and 2022 are as follows: E)NEBBRETIAT
Accelerated tax
depreciation Tax losses Total
IR EFE HEEE Met
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
F#Ex F#ExT FERT
As at 1 January 2022 NRZE-_—_F—HF—H 447 (358) 89
Credited to profit or loss (Note 9) (restated) RE&FEA (H3E9) (EEF) (180) ) (187)
As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZE-_—F+-A=+—HK
—E_=f—H—H 267 (365) (98)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 9) REZEPE A (FF5E9) (127) (41) (168)
As at 31 December 2023 RZFEZ=F+=ZA=+—H 140 (406) (266)
The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position are as R E MBI R AR |/HIIOT :
follows:
2023 2022
—E-= —_=F-—
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FHIT
(restated)
(fe5&=351)
Deferred tax assets BERIAE = 266 98
The Group has unrecognised tax losses of HK$60,256,000 (2022: HK$36,643,000) to 7N 55 B ) oK B 529 RE B TE /5 18 60,256,000 7% 7T (=
carry forward against future taxable income. These tax losses do not expire under — — 4 : 36,643,000/ 7C) —L,ui&)ﬁfﬁﬁﬂi){rﬁmw
current legislation. A o IRIBIRITER - ZERIBE B AREE o
LONG SERVICE PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS 23. REPBRBEERE

Pursuant to the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57, Hong Kong
employees that have been employed continuously for at least five years are entitled
to LSP under certain circumstances (e.g. dismissal by employers or upon
retirement).

The amount of LSP payable is determined with reference to the employee’s last
monthly salary (capped at HK$22,500) and the years of service, reduced by the
amount of any accrued benefits derived from the Group’s contributions to MPF
scheme, with an overall cap of HK$390,000 per employee. Currently, the Group
does not have any separate funding arrangement in place to meet its LSP
obligations.

RIEBFBEBEY (F578)  EBZEELRAFZ
BEREREEETERT (DI EEXRESRKE
BEEREREE -

KRR EAFIENSEN2ERENZEAT (L
BE%ZZSOO/%E)&HE%EHH#E'/ﬁSzzZK‘%@l‘rﬂ?ﬁ

SR EERREENEIMNREREZ BRERAS
%1%5390,000/%75 Bal  AEEWEFFBLA
B THUBTERIRESEMT -
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FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BHE"ZT=F+_A=+—HIFE

23. LONG SERVICE PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS

154

(continued)

In June 2022, the Government gazetted the Amendment Ordinance, which
abolishes the use of the accrued benefits derived from employers’ mandatory MPF
contributions to offset the LSP. The Amendment Ordinance will take effect on the
Transition Date. Separately, the Government has indicated that it would launch a
subsidy scheme to assist employers after the abolition.

Among other things, once the abolition of the offsetting mechanism takes effect,
an employer can no longer use any of the accrued benefits derived from its
mandatory MPF contributions (irrespective of the contributions made before, on or
after the Transition Date) to reduce the LSP in respect of an employee’s service from
the Transition Date. However, where an employee’s employment commenced
before the Transition Date, the employer can continue to use the above accrued
benefits to reduce the LSP in respect of the employee’s service up to that date. In
addition, the LSP in respect of the service before the Transition Date will be
calculated based on the employee’s monthly salary immediately before the
Transition Date and the years of service up to that date.

The benefit payment under LSP remains capped at HK$390,000 per employee. If an
employee’s total benefit payment exceeds HK$390,000, the amount in excess of the

cap is deducted from the portion accrued from the Transition Date.

The Group has accounted for the offsetting mechanism and its abolition as
disclosed in notes 2.16 and 3.3 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group has determined that the Amendment Ordinance primarily impacts the
Group's LSP obligations with respect to Hong Kong employees.

The present value of unfunded LSP obligations and its movements are as follows:

23. REIRBEEEE (H)

R-T__FXA BEHEBRTBETGRE - B
BERAEIRGERESHRAEENREERIE
HERERBE - BRTEHIE N EE R HER - B4
BT B RN AR EE R & HE H 4 BE R I A 1 B B X -

Hep  —BEREFEEGHEN BEEREAHE
TEEEREBRHIMERRERIMELENERNRE
ez (MmN BE B B8 2 B8 RIERMHR)
LA EERERBHEHARBE - A - HESR
PIBE A ARG RE AR TAEER LR
HRESARPBEZRAERERRBORBRBEE -
s - R BE B B AT B RS B R BRI & S AR IR
SXBERAAESNAFREEZ BN RS FH

s
=HE o
al =

REIRS € B N &M RER A S AR 8 390000
7T © 12 B 18 F S ZR AR B8 1838 390,000 7T ¢ B
EROE A HIBE B R ERT D F R o

AR A M SRR 216 R33FTIHE - AEBE
P A B R HEERREIT 2 AT R -

AEECHE BRIGIEIEZELSEEHRER
BEENRIRBEEE -

AERRARBETHRERELZBHMNT

2023 2022
—E=-= T -F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ExT FHIT
(restated)
(F &%)

Expenses recognised in profit or loss: REZPERZAY
— Current service cost — B HIRF A A 246 581
— Past service cost — BARFBKA 581 =
827 581
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HILEE

23. LONG SERVICE PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS 23. RERBEEM (&)
(continued)
The current service cost, past service cost and interest cost are included in EARBAA - BE ﬁ&’i’%ﬁf@ﬂ‘&f‘l SR AEE
employee benefits expenses. They are recognised in the following line items in the BAFX - ERGABRRTERR/ATIEE :

consolidated statement of profit or loss:

2023 2022
—E-= —EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
(restated)
(fe &%)
Administrative expenses THRAX 224 581
Finance costs BA TS AR AR 22 -
246 581
Estimates and assumptions At RBR&
The significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of LSP obligations are as ETRABRBCECZERNBERENT :
follows:
2023 2022
—E-=fF —E-F
Discount rate AR IR =R 3.7% 3.7%
Salary growth rate FeERE 3.8% 3.8%
These assumptions were developed by management with the assistance of ZEBRAEREEBE LB ERA BT GIE ° Bh
independent actuaries. Discount factors are determined close to each period-end BAZDRELSHRRR2EUAINBHOEET
by reference to market yields of high quality corporate bonds that are denominated TE H IR EABARARBSECHHAREBENE
in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity NAIBEFNMSREERETE HMEBRERDERE
approximating to the terms of the related LSP obligations. Other assumptions are z0] E’]*H%%E&%@E’Jﬂﬁ%&%ﬁ °
based on current actuarial benchmarks and management’s historical experience.
The present value of the LSP obligations was measured using the projected unit RORBeEERERRREGTEMERENE -
credit method.
The weighted average duration of the LSP obligations is 18 years (2022: 19 years). RERBEEEZ METHFRS18F (ZT==
194F) -
Expected maturity analysis of undiscounted LSP obligations in the coming years as RZBZ=F+ZA=1T—H RARFERMER
at 31 December 2023 is disclosed as follows: HERGEBEENBHIBESTHRBAOT -
Over 2
Over 1 year years but
Within 1year within2years within 5 years Over 5 years
BiB1F 2Bk
1R B2F A BE5F A 5L E
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET FET
LSP obligations RERBESEF 2 18 4 803
The LSP obligations expose the Group to actuarial risks such as interest rate risk, ﬁﬁﬂ e EFSAEEEBRBERR  WHXRE
salary risk and the investment risk of the Group’s MPF scheme’s constituent funds. FHeEBRAEERESS ‘\'g‘JﬁX %@W&ﬁ
J—Ufﬁx °
There were no changes in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the IREGURE DT A R BRR R A TR &) o

sensitivity analysis from prior year.
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FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

24. SHARE CAPITAL

N

2023 2022
—EC-=F -
Number Number

of shares HK$’000 of shares HK$'000

R E THET Pt &8 T
Authorised: JETE
As at 1 January and 31 December R—A—BEk+=ZA=+—H 4,000,000,000 40,000 4,000,000,000 40,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRBE:
As at 1 January and 31 December R—A—BR+=ZA=+—H 1,680,000,000 16,800 1,680,000,000 16,800

25. RESERVES

156

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein for the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are presented in the consolidated statement of

changes in equity of the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of reserves available for
distribution to Shareholders of the Company was HK$87,333,000 (31 December
2022: HK$87,135,000).

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between the par value of the shares
in issue of the Company and net proceeds received from the issuance of the shares
of the Company.

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium account of
the Company may be applied for payment of distributions or dividends to the
Shareholders provided that immediately following the date on which the
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company is able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 represents the
share capital of entities comprising the Group prior to the Group's reorganisation of
the Company in connection with the listing of its shares on the Stock Exchange (the
“Reorganisation”) and the reserves arising from the Reorganisation.

Financial assets fair value reserve

The financial assets fair value reserve represents the change in fair value arising
from the investment in unlisted securities — Unit Trust Fund (Note 15).
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BE-Z-_=GR-ZT-__F+ZA=t+—HLHF
EAESENRESERFBEEDH 2 RERE M HR
KT RREEREER o

R-ZZE-_=ZF+_F=+—8"  AAIEEHEFTARA
IR R {5 458 5 87,333000 8 T (ZE-_—F+=
A=+—H :87,135000%&7T) °

IR 10 % E

BiEEEARARDBETROMNEELEETARF
Bt R ) P S RO E B 2 R 3 -

RIEFA S S D BE - AR BB 68 B8R 7] 8 E
DIRFIEE RS TR EEERZFEDRIEE E
B ARREXNIEREEBEDIHZ2ET -

&N
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4+ EERNRHE -

ETHEELATERE

ERMEEATERBRERENFLTES — BURER
EeELNRFEEE) (FHE15) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HILEE

26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 26. AR E MR R

COMPANY
2023 2022
—E-=F T

Notes HK$'000 HKS$'000
oS THERT THT

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAERE

Non-current assets FREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries M E A Rz 14 63,006 55,133
Property, plant and equipment W% - BE R&E - E
Loan to a subsidiary —HERBRRNER 99,900 99,900
162,906 155,036

Current assets nEEE
Other receivables H fh e R IE 422 416
Amounts due from subsidiaries = NGIE S 5,247 1,903
Cash and bank balances R MIRTTHE 83,224 100,650
88,893 102,969
Current liabilities REBEE

Accruals st E R 1,325 1,296
Amounts due to subsidiaries AR EPNGIE S 60,274 66,707
61,599 68,003
Net current assets REBEEFE 27,294 34,966
Net assets BEEFRE 190,200 190,002

CAPITAL AND RESERVES EAXRHE
Share capital %N 24 16,800 16,800
Reserves (Note) i (M) 173,400 173,202
Total equity R 190,200 190,002

Mr. Chen Zhi Mr. Qiu Dong
REZE BRER 4
Director Director
EF EEa
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FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 26. AR EHHAMRR K (&)
COMPANY (continued)
Note: The movements of the Company's reserves are as follows: st : RRRMRBEZSEHINAT -
Share Capital Accumulated
premium reserve* losses Total
B asE BERFEE AitEE Fob
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT FHT FHET
Balance as at 1 January 2022 RZT-_—F—A—Hz#EH 167,266 86,067 (44,606) 208,727
Loss and total comprehensive FABEREZERZ B
expense for the year - - (35,525) (35,525)
Balance as at 31 December 2022 RZFE-_—F+=-A=+—H
and 1 January 2023 k= =F—H—H
2R 167,266 86,067 (80,131) 173,202
Profit and total comprehensive FRENREE WL
income for the year - - 198 198
Balance as at 31 December 2023 R-B=-Z=%+=A=+—H
2R 167,266 86,067 (79,933) 173,400
@ Capital reserve of the Company represents the difference between the . ARRMERNREEEARRARRBEEHYE
total equity of Praise Marble Limited acquired by the Company pursuant #J Praise Marble Limited 48 # # B2 Bt LIt 1E 52
to the Reorganisation over the nominal value of the Company’s shares REARREBITRMNEEBEZ FRELE
issued in exchange therefore.
27. LEASE COMMITMENTS 27. HERE
As lessee fERAMEA
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the lease commitments for short term leases are KRB -_=FR_FT_—F+_A=+—H ' EH
as follows: HENHEEAEHZ|NAT -
2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHIT
Within one year —FR 108 103
The Group's leases in respect of premises with a lease period of 1 year are qualified AEBERHEBR I FHMEHRETEERRESRS
to be accounted for under short term leases exemption under HKFRS 16. M mEEAE 165 TR AHERRETAR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

28. RELATED PARTY AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS/CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

(a)

(b)

Key management personnel remuneration

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Company,
who represent the key management personnel during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

FEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HILEE

MBI RBERS HERERS

(a) FEEEBAEME

RBEE_T-_=FRKR_FT=-_=_F+=A8
=t+—HIEFE ARREEREAETEE (5
BEBEAS)HESEHINMT

2023 2022

—E-=F T —F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FH&T

Salaries, fee and allowances e o e KRR 6,060 5,643
Discretionary bonuses BB IEAL 310 184
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET B 72 83
6,442 5910

The above emoluments in relation to service contracts of Directors are
exempt continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Related party transactions

Summary of the related party transactions carried out by the Group during

the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

EREBEEREAOMSIE EHRAIE 1A
ETZHEMERSUEHR -
(b) BBAIRS

AEBEBEE-—ZT-_=FR=_FT=_=_F+=A
S+ HALEFEETHBER RS M BT

F
2023 2022
—E_=F T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Property management consultancy services and property 2R B FF G BR A & 89 9 3 & 12 B8 1 AR 75 &2
leasing agency services income from Cheer Capital MERERERS ([WEMBBEERKE])
Limited (‘Property-related Services’) (Note (i)) U A (B EE @) 4,560 4581
Bank deposits to Prince Bank Plc. (Note (ii)) $R 1717 7% 2 Prince Bank Plc. K F4R1T7*
(R £ i)
— balance as at 31 December —RTZRA=+—HZ#&&# 151 222
— maximum balance during the —REBE+=ZA=1+—H
year ended 31 December I FEAZRALEER 222 259

The above related party transactions are de minimis connected
transactions/continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

BT R 5H A ETHRAEAETHE
RIEFHRKFHBEER S FHERBEZS -

* EREBS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BH=E

—EC=F+TA=T+—HILEE

28. RELATED PARTY AND CONNECTED

TRANSACTIONS/CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Related party transactions (continued)

Notes:

(i) A company indirectly and wholly-owned by Mr. Chen, an executive
Director and the controlling shareholder of the Company.

(ii) A company directly controlled by Mr. Chen, an executive Director and

the controlling shareholder of the Company.

The above transactions (with the exception of Property-related Services) are
fully exempt from the requirements of reporting, annual review,
announcement and approval of independent shareholders under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. Property-related Services are subject to reporting,
annual review and announcement requirements but exempt from the
requirements of circular and approval of independent shareholders under
and comply Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Directors confirm that the
Group has no other connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction which are required to be disclosed under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

29. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

160

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group has been involved in a number of
claims, litigations and potential claims against the Group regarding the employees’
compensation and common law personal injury. Based on the information
available, the Board considered that the Group has sufficient insurance coverage on

any liability arising from those claims, litigations and potential claims.

During the financial years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, Geotech
Engineering Limited (“Geotech Engineering’), an indirectly wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, has been a defendant in four legal proceedings
commenced by two subcontractors. Pursuant to the court orders obtained by
Geotech Engineering, those two subcontractors have discontinued their actions
against Geotech Engineering.

As such, the Board is of the view that such claims, litigations and potential claims
would not cause any material adverse impact on the operation and financial
position of the Group and no provision is required to be made in the consolidated
financial statements.
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30.

31.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities can be
classified as follows:

FEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HILEE

30. REEEMELREBE YK

AEERELDAESRBEZH D RHIIMT

2023 2022
—EB-= —=FE-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHIT
Lease liabilities HESE
As at 1 January Rn—A—H 516 1,440
Cash-flows: RERE !
— Capital element of lease rentals paid — BERAESHE RIS (577) (891)
— Interest element of lease rentals paid — BEASHF 58D (13) (75)
Non-cash: FHRE:
— Entering into new leases — I FHHEE 1,445 -
— Interest expenses — MERRZ 13 42
As at 31 December Rt+t=A=+—H 1,384 516

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENT

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of financial instruments in its
ordinary course of operations. The financial risks include interest rate risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management strategy seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. Risk management is
carried out by the senior management of the Group and approved by the Board of
Directors.

The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk management policies and
practices used by the Group to manage these risks are described below.

31. MEAREERATENE

AEERABEFBRETBBEASET AmARE
FHRR - - BEEREENXRR EERBRER
BELRAR AEENERRRERERKE ERKY
AEEUBEENEENFNFERERE - BT
BAAEESRERERTULERSHAE -

AEBEHZERRNAENASEREREZER R
ifi {58 PR 6 B 765 L B B ORI AB I S A TR XX
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 31.
MEASUREMENT (continued)

31.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities

The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement of financial

position relate to the following categories of financial assets and liabilities:

BHEREERAFEE (&)

311 SMEEREBESE

SEPFBRARAINEEER T EREE
REBESEAR

2023 2022
—g-= —_=___
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBT FH&T
Financial assets SEMEE
At amortised cost: REEK AN -
— Trade and other receivables — B 5 N E MW R IE 46,947 28,135
— Finance lease receivables — RMEAERWRIEAE 467 =
— Cash and bank balances — B RIRTTEES 137,239 167,208
184,653 195,343
At FVOCI: RATEGFAEMEEKE :
— Unlisted securities — Unit Trust Fund —ETEF— BLuEAES 1,072 1,000
185,725 196,343
Financial liabilities cREE
At amortised costs: REEK AT E
— Trade and other payables — 5 REMEN KA (27,841) (30,374)
— Lease liabilities —HEasE (1,384) (516)
(29,225) (30,890)

31.2 Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign
exchange rates. The Group's exposures to currency risk arise from its cash at
bank denominated in United Stated Dollars (“US$") amounted to
approximately of HK$37,088,000 as at 31 December 2023 (31 December
2022: HK$36,528,000), which is not the functional currency of the relevant
group entities. Since HK$ are pegged to US$ under the Linked Exchange
Rate System, the management does not expect significant foreign currency
exposure in relation to the exchange rate fluctuation between HKS and USS.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z- =+ A=t+—HIFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 31. BIAREERAFETE (E)
MEASUREMENT (continued)

31.3 Interest rate risk 31.3 R =XRE 2

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash flows of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from lease liabilities.
Lease liabilities bearing fixed rate expose the Group to fair value interest rate
risk and the exposure to the Group is considered immaterial.

The exposure to interest rate risk for the Group’s bank balances is
considered immaterial.

31.4 Creditrisk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument
would fail to discharge its obligation under the terms of the financial
instrument and cause a financial loss to the Group. The Group's exposure to
credit risk mainly arises from granting credit to customers in the ordinary
course of its operations.

The Group'’s maximum exposure to credit risk on recognised financial assets
is limited to the carrying amount at 31 December 2023 and 2022 as
summarised in Note 31.1.

As at 31 December 2023, for trade receivables, the Group usually provide
customers with a credit term of 21 to 30 days (31 December 2022: 21 to 30
days). For the settlement of trade receivables from provision of construction
services, the Group usually reaches an agreement on the term of each
payment with the customer by taking into account of factors such as,
among other things, the credit history of the customer, its liquidity position
and the Group's working capital needs, which varies on a case-by-case basis
that requires the judgement and experience of the management. For
retention receivables, the Group negotiated with customers case by case on
the settlement arrangement after the retention period.

The Group applies the simplified approach for trade receivables, finance
lease receivables, retention receivables and contract assets to provide ECL
prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss
provision for these receivables due from third parties. These evaluations
focus on the counterparty’s financial position, past history of making
payments and take into account information specific to the counterparty as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the counterparty
operates. Monitoring procedures have been implemented to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue balances.

FRERETSMNEEHEH ST ARF
ExREREHBRPOARIEMN - AEH
WA =@ EZREHEEE A - EEF X
FREMEEEERASEREAFEMER
% MASERREHERRLTERK -

4 o5 0 4875 6 £ 0 RS L B R R B 3
FEA -

FERRE

EERBRESBRTANE T I RERES®
TAMGRBETEEERE AN EBEK B
EBEMER AEERMEENEERREE
REREAREBBEFATLPRLEE -

AEERERRAEHEEMABRZHEAEE
RBRER AR S =F R =F
——F+=—A=+—HBZE@EE-"

R-ZE-_=F+-_A=+—H8 REIEK
REmMS  AEBBEFERTFREMH21ZE30H
MEER(CE__F+=-A=+—H:21%
308) - HAEERBEERBEHE 5 FEWKIE
ms AEBEBREFREENRNFHEARTS
ER ez StR(EHRBRB)BEFPNEERESE
MBEERARAEBLEECFTKERNE -
Hiz@RBRAMAMTE  LEKEERE
A BT R A5 o SUEMWRB &M= - RREE
BAEEEREEFHEEER -

AEEE SRR  BEHERKHIE
BURREBERANEERAB BB REE
AIE SR EMBILTTE - MELTRBEES
BRE BRERAFRERE=7RIEAR
REERRABERRE ZSTHEERY
FHZBBARR  BENKLE  TEEHTF
TREEAR AR EEF 75 EERANEE
RE - AKECEMHEEEREFRERRIUE
—H1TEB R B A o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENT (continued)

31.4 Credit risk (continued)

The Group assesses ECL under HKFRS 9 on trade receivables, finance lease
receivables, retention receivables and contract assets based on provision
matrix, the analysis of credit risk are based on debtors’ ageing because these
customers consist of a large number of customers which share common
risk characteristics that are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay
all amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms.

The expected loss rates are estimated based on historical observed default
rates over the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. In
applying the forward-looking information, the Group has taken into account
the possible impacts associated with the overall change in the economic
environment from COVID-19. At each reporting date, the historical default
rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

On the basis, the ECL allowance as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 was
determined as follows for trade receivables:

31. UHKEBREERERQFETE (H)

314 S ER K (F)

Gross carrying

AEERBEEBVHMEELE ISREREE
BETHHE ZRYGRIR - BEHERKGRE
FURREBSLANEENTRHBEEER =
ERBOSTHEREBANKREL - R
ARzEEP e e ARRRSHNE
B mzRAREBAREPRES QHRRE
B HAFRIRRRE S

BEHBEBRETIREBEEFSABRFHNBEE
EMSHEAOXRMGE  LRBE TS ERAK
KB ES AT LR R B E -1
FEFIRTHE IS B RHET - REBE T R COVID-19%
KREBRENEBRE(CAEENEETE -1
S HE B ER R AR ET A AT
SHEBEEDN -

BWEE R ZFR T - —F+—
A=+t HNESEKKENEREERSRE
BEEENT

Net carrying

ECL rate amount ECL allowance amount
BHEE BHEE
BE=E IREAE BEEE BRIEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHR FHR FHR
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZBZ=fF
t+t=A=t+—-H
0-30 days 0F30H 0.00% 5,411 - 5,411
31-60 days 31260 H 0.00% 2,145 - 2,145
61-90 days 61290 H 1.14% 1,843 (21) 1,822
Over 90 days BB A 100% 196 (196) -
9,595 (217) 9,378
As at 31 December 2022 R=8=Z=
+=—A=+—8H
0-30 days 0&30H 0.00% 3,137 = 3,137
31-60 days 31260 H 0.00% 251 = 251
61-90 days 61290 H 0.00% - - -
Over 90 days HBi#Hoo H 38.96% 154 (60) 94
3,542 (60) 3,482
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE BEREERAFETE (B

MEASUREMENT (continued)

31.4 Credit risk (continued) 314 S ERE K (&)

Trade receivables and contract assets are written off (either partially or in full)
to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally
the case when the Group determines that the debtor does not have assets or
sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off. The Directors of the Group reviewed and
considered no irrecoverable amounts should be taken account for the
overdue trade receivables balances as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

At 31 December 2023, the Group has concentration of credit risk as 3% and
33% (31 December 2022: 39% and 66%) of the total trade receivables were
due from the Group's largest customer and five largest customers
respectively. The aggregate amounts of trade receivables from these
customers amounted to HK$284,000 and HK$3,199,000 (31 December 2022:
HK$ 1,382,000 and HK$2,348,000) of the Group's total trade receivables at 31
December 2023.

The ECL rate applied for contract assets and retention receivables is ranging
from 0.14% to 0.19% (2022: 0.32% to 100%). The ECL rate applied for finance
lease receivables are considered to be insignificant.

For other financial assets, the Group has established a policy to perform an
assessment of whether a financial instrument’s credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition on an individual basis for significant
balance, by considering the change in the risk of default occurring over the
remaining life of the financial instrument. The Group classifies its other
receivables into Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3, as described below:

Stage 1 When other receivables are first recognised, the Group recognises
an allowance based on 12 months' ECLs.

Stage 2 When other receivables have shown a significant increase in credit
risk since origination, the Group records an allowance for the
lifetime ECLs.

Stage 3 When other receivables are considered credit-impaired, the Group
records an allowance for the lifetime ECLs.

fisd ¥ £ EBR AT Y [0 9 BT = - B 5 B UGRIE K
mﬂé?(% Dk 2 EB) EH MG o Lk I AR

ERREBALEEERRARIRATELER
ﬁﬁﬁfﬂi//.LLME@%¥%&1¢!E’JMIEZ*\i
e REBEEEHNAIRRR_Z_=FR
f?ff¢+ R=+—BUEAROHE
5 ERWCGRIA R 2 DAY [ £ 5E o

R-B-=F+-"A=+—H8 A&BHEEE
BEETRR REAESEWFIEZTEINR
33%(_2::¢+*H =+—H8 :39% &% 66%)
DRBEBAEERATERAANREPHIE -
R-E-_=F+-A=+—BXRAZEEFH
B SRR EREEANEEE S R IEAE
284,000/ JC }2.3,1990008 L (ZE = —F + =
B=+—8 : 13820007 T % 2,348,000/ 7C) °

BRNEEREBRRBSHANBEHEEES
RENT014%ZE019% (=T ==F : 032% =
100%) - BEAEERBKEEANBREES
BRERALTERK o

REMEREENS ARECHIERE 3B
BEBCHMTAFNRFHRREENR B2 Z
LGB TAZEERRRES B VIRHER
ﬂ%éﬁﬁ%ﬁ%iﬁﬂ%%ﬁk@WM°
REBEHEMEYRRESAR/SE —EE -
—HEERFE=REE - T

FREER ZEMERFEEYLIER XK
SEERT—EAARBEERERE
R -

F_HEER EHEMEUKERELERBRE
B [ f K 0 - AN &R B 3L AT AR
HEHE R B R EEE -

FoRER BEMELFBAERER/EER
B AEERGFENAREES
SRR

BsiEERERAS]/ 2035% 165



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BHE"ZT=F+_A=+—HIFE

31.

166

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENT (continued)

31.4 Credit risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2022, included in other receivables represent other
receivables amounting to HK$9,000,000 from a debtor which has financial
difficulties, impairment loss of HK$6,400,000 was recognized based on
lifetime ECL in prior years. Having considered the significant increase in
credit risk of such debtor, and an additional impairment loss of
HK$2,600,000 was recognised based on lifetime ECL for year ended 31
December 2022 (i.e. Stage 2).

Having considered the Group has taken up the follow-up action towards
the joint operator, and the management of the Group consider not to
recognize any additional ECL allowance of the amount due from such joint
operator (2022: HK$16,372,000) based on lifetime ECL (i.e. Stage 2), details
refer to note 17 (iv).

Except for the other receivables as set out in above, the management is of
opinion that there is no significant increase in credit risk on other
receivables since initial recognition as the risk of default is low after
considering the factors set out in Note 2.7 and, thus the Group assessed
that the ECL for other receivables under the 12 months ECL method. The
ECL recognised based on 12-month ECL allowance is HK$136,000 (31
December 2022: HK$211,000) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The credit risks on cash and bank balances are considered to be insignificant
because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

31.5 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its
obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by
delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group is exposed to liquidity
risk in respect of settlement of trade payables and its financing obligations,
and also in respect of its cash flow management. The Group's objective is to
maintain an appropriate level of liquid assets and committed lines of

funding to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

Management monitors the cash flow forecasts of the Group in meeting its
liabilities.
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31.5

RZFEZZF+=-A=+—8 ' EEKX
BERERE —FEEVERENERANE
1t [ UK 5K T8 9,000,000 7T * RIBEFERIEF
ﬁgiﬁ?ﬁiﬂﬂﬁ%iﬂéﬁﬁM\/mééﬂawooooo,%
ERZEBEBANCEERKRBEELN R
@éf%f:iJr B=+—RLFERE
GESBEHEEEE (BE R BREN
BB 518 2,600,000 78 7T °

KERALBEDHEELE T REURETE
AEBEEERATSREGESNEHEE
EEE%E(ED%%_I%Ex)ﬁéfwﬁéuézziA“i‘«Aﬁm
HRE RN EEBRER (2T ==
16,372,000 7T) * B2 MM 17 (v)
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E+—H=+—0 :211,00087T) °

ReRRITEBRNEERRERR/LTERX
REARZHHHREBRBRESTREETE
RASERESFEMRT -

B B

i B 1 L T B K £2 B R AR R 1T EL A S A
Bedm—eREESENSRABEHBE
FHREBRARM AEERBEER S EN TR
RETEREEAFTEARRESREERET
EAZ R LR - AEENE R RERE
ERFHRBEERRBRAEAREE
NEREEARRIRDESTE -

EREERNBTEEAREEAEBNR SR
S8 -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HILEE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

MEASUREMENT (continued)

31. HKEBREERERQFETE (H)

31.5 Liquidity risk (continued) 31.5 REMH R ()

Analysed below is the Group's remaining contractual maturities for its non-
derivative financial liabilities at 31 December 2023 and 2022. When the
creditor has a choice of when the liability is settled, the liability is included
on the basis of the earliest date on when the Group can be required to pay.
Where the settlement of the liability is in instalments, each instalment is
allocated to the earliest period in which the Group is committed to pay.

The contractual maturity analysis below is based on the undiscounted cash
flows of the financial liabilities.

TXBRRASEER_ZE_=FR_FT -

TZA=T—HEBHFTEESRBENR
TERNFHRINT - MERAGEEREERS
BENRE LEEBERRASEEZRER
Wi F AR - Wit FAERS BHEE
EEABRAEBAFEEENREHARALR -

TXEWEBOMDHER SR B BN RER
BEemEIED -

Over 1 year Total
Within but within  undiscounted Carrying
one year 5 years cash flow amount
BB —F REERFE
R—FR BEREFA REARE FREE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHER THET FHET FTHER
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZB_=%F
t=A=t+—8©
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENRIE (27,841) - (27,841) (27,841)
Lease liabilities HE&E (756) (690) (1,446) (1,384)
(28,597) (690) (29,287) (29,225)
Over 1 year Total
Within but within undiscounted Carrying
one year 5 years cash flow amount
Bip—F AERBA S
R—FR BRAFA mE R BRTE(E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FAET FET
As at 31 December 2022 S
+ZA=+—H
Trade and other payables N E N ANE S (30,374) - (30,374) (30,374)
Lease liabilities HEEE (525) = (525) (516)
(30,899) - (30,899) (30,890)

The Group considers expected cash flows from financial assets in assessing
and managing liquidity risk, in particular, its cash resources and other liquid
assets that readily generate cash. The Group's existing cash resources and
other liquid assets significantly exceed the cash outflow requirements.

AEERFEREERDERREEE S
MEEMBHRSRE LERERSER
RZETHRENEMRDEE AEHEREF
HReBRREMTEEEARBBR SN D

Ef o
7 oK
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31.

168

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 31. BiIEAREERAFETE (E)

MEASUREMENT (continued)

31.6 Fair value measurement

31.6 AVEE

(@) Financial assets measured at fair value (@) BATEFIENESMEE
Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the REEMBRARPERATFEFENS
consolidated statement of financial position are grouped into three MEERBEANDA=EIATFEER -
Levels of a fair value hierarchy. The three levels are defined based on = BB RER 2 FT A AR A AT #
the observability and significance of inputs to the measurements, as RMREEMREMOT :
follows:

Level 1:  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical F—E: HREERBENERTS
assets and liabilities. 2B CRIEHE) -
Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 EE: REEXEEMEZENMEE
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly ABRRET R ERNEEE
or indirectly are not using significant unobservable inputs. R ABIR 2 ABUE (F
—ERABERERRSIN) o
Level 3: significant unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. FoE: BEJABNEAEIBR
AR o
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial asset CREENBEREAESANATE
or liability is categorised in its entirety is based on the lowest level of EEANERERSATEFEAEFE
input that is significant to the fair value measurement. AEBRAREE R AR
Far value
Fair value at measurement
2023 —E-=F 31 December using Level 2
R+=B=+—H ERAE=EH
AFE AFETE
HK$'000 HK$’000
F#&xT FERT
Recurring fair value measurement REMEAFETE
Financial assets THEE
Financial assets at FVOCI: RATFEFAHEME2E KD
EREE :
Unlisted securities JE FhES 1,072 1,072
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (F)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENT (continued)

31.6 Fair value measurement (continued)

(a)

(b)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_Z- =+ A=t+—HIFE

BHEBREERAFEE (&)

31.6 X ¥{EFTE (&)

Financial assets measured at fair value (@ RBRAFEFENEHEE (&)
(continued)
Far value
Fair value at measurement
2022 —E - 31 December using Level 2
R+=—A=+—8 FEAE=EH
AFE AFEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FATT FHAT
Recurring fair value measurement REEQAFETE
Financial assets PHEE
Financial assets at FVOCI: BRAFEFAEMEEKER
TREE :

Unlisted securities FEEMES 1,000 1,000
There were no transfers between categories during the reporting REEAR - BBz R &z o
period.

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose of Rt EN0BEARAE_ENATENTE
measuring fair values categorised in Level 2 are unchanged TE@&TUE@U\Eﬁ%%ﬁfﬁﬂﬁklﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
compared to the previous reporting periods and are described B0 T SR

below:

The financial assets at FVOC! are unlisted securities dominated in BERATFEAAEMEZEREN S /EE
USS. Fair values have been determined by reference to their quoted RUAETFHENIELETES - AFET)
prices as stated in the bank statements at each of the reporting date MREHNEHRE BERITRERYIH
and have been translated using the spot foreign currency rates at WERETE - WA RS BRGNS E
the end of the reporting periods where appropriate. The effects of EXNE (WEA) - MIFELWEFM
non-observable inputs are not significant for the unlisted securities. T TRAIBRABBNTEBETER -
During the year ended 31 December 2023, fair value gain of RBEZT-_=F+=-A=+—HIEF
HK$72,000 (2022: fair value loss of HK$286,000) on securities is Z - é%ﬁ’m?@ﬂﬁz 572,000 7T (=
recognised in other comprehensive income and included under T ZF : A F(EEE 28600058 7T)
“Financial assets fair value reserve”. H2mRaEAER IR emE

ERATEREEIT -
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (b) WHEUQAFEINENEHME

carried at other than fair value

The carry amounts of the Group's financial assets and liabilities are
not materially different from their fair values at 31 December 2023
and 2022 due to their short maturities.

ERBEBHNATE

RZEZ=FR-_F-_Z=ZF+=A
=t+—H AEENSREENRAEN
FEEEEAFETEEANEZE  JIH
R H N EI B FTEK -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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32. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

170

The Group's capital management objectives are to ensure the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern and to provide an adequate return to shareholders by

pricing goods and services commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital structure and makes
adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions. The Group monitors its
capital structure on the basis of the gearing ratio. For this purpose, gearing ratio is
calculated based on total borrowings divided by the total equity as at the year-end
date and multiplied by 100%. Total borrowings of the Group were the lease
liabilities. The management reviews the capital structure by considering the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. In view of this, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return
capital to shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell assets to reduce debt.

The gearing ratio at each reporting date was:

32. EAXEE

AEBEANEEBEARRASEABERELE
WEBRERBRKTEHNEAEREEE  BRER
HEHE IR

AEETEGE R HEARREL R EEMR N E

mEHAE - AREEREAREE t%%%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂi
R -t s BEXABELEREFREBNMER
BEBR AR BRBERIA100%TE - REEBRE
BAHEAB BEEEEAERESNAREHEE
AERNEBRBEMEARE - BERI - AEET
BEAESN TRERNRESE  BITHRMG MK
RREER - BEMEBHRVE S EEENRKET

BEHmEARNEARBFLE

2023 2022
—EgE=-= —ZET—-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAIT
(restated)
(F &%)
Total borrowings BEREE
Lease liabilities HEBE 1,384 516
Total equity i 176,930 193,224
Gearing ratio BRE B X 0.8% 0.3%
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Financial Summary

CrR R S

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
“B-z-E —ZT-—f —T--—F —T-TF —T-NF
HK$’000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
TERT AT FHET FET FBT
Notes (restated)
MisE (& E5)
Revenue & 134,567 281,512 384,399 331,648 355,307
Direct cost HEKAK (130,989) (277,743) (381,759) (326/433) (344,436)
Gross profit EF 3,578 3,769 2,640 5215 10871
Other income Hit A 4,872 5,860 5,164 11,637 5,242
Administrative expenses TBAX 1 (25,047) (23518) (27,104) (29,702) (28332)
Reversal of impairment/(Impairment) under B 5 R EtEKFIE 2 BREEEE
expected credit loss (‘ECL") allowance on ((FAMEERR]) B ERE
trade and other receivables, net e/ CRfE)FE 8 (18322) 5,750 (14,930) (755)
Reversal of impairment/(mpairment) under ~ AXIBEZBHEEEEEE
ECL allowance on contract assets RERE,/GRE) 275 (39) (17) 67 (305)
Operating loss REFE 1 (16,314) (32,250) (13567) @27,713) (13.279)
Finance costs BT RAR (35) (42) (50) (145) (205)
Loss before income tax BRATEBAIEE 1 (16,349) (32292) (13617) (27,858) (13:484)
Income tax (expense)/credit FEH (Ax) He (17) 114 (663) (207) 986
Loss for the year FRER 1 (16,366) (32,178) (14280) (28,065) (12,498)
Other comprehensive income/ Hi2EKE/(BX)  BRE#
(expense), net of tax
Items that will not be reclassified EEETBEN AR
subsequently to profit or loss Bm2HE
Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets BRAFEFAEMEZE
at fair value through other s/ () MemEEZ
comprehensive income/(expense) NTEERE/ (BB) 72 (286) (1) 44 102
Total comprehensive expense for theyear £RZ X AH (16,264) (32464) (14,291) (28021) (12,39)
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Financial Summary (Continued)

MEHE(F)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERARE
As at 31 December
R+=A=+—H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—Eg=-= —E-— —EF - —EBE-TFE —TE—hEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5E FET FHET FHET FHET FHET
(restated)
(€ =27))
Non-current assets EmENEE 1 6,955 1,398 2,144 4432 8,281
Current assets MENE E 204,519 225,159 297,879 295,153 313,238
Non-current liabilities FERBEE 1 (1,482) (581) (605) (257) (3,191)
Current liabilities mEEE (33,062) (32752) (73,730) (59,349) (50,328)
Equity attributable to equity RRARERTTE AELER
holders of the Company 176,930 193,224 225,688 239,979 268,000
Note 1:  According to the Hong Kong SAR Government gazetted the Hong Kong Employment MizE1 : RIBEBEEEFTTIENEB2022 F1&E KEKRTE
and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) A (= HE) (BF]) 15661 - ZIEBIR =T =R
Ordinance 2022, will take effect on 1 May 2025. This change in accounting policy has FRAA-—BAR ZEFHREHEEWER BHZE
been applied retrospectively. Figures for the year ended 31 December 2022 are T CF+ A=+ —RIEFENEFEEY -
restated.
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